

Strategic Sustainable Development in Sport Organisations

Iva Glibo

Complete reprint of the dissertation approved by the TUM School of Management of the

Technical University of Munich for the award of the Doktorin der Wirtschafts- und

Sozialwissenschaften (Dr. rer. pol.).

Chair: Prof. Dr. Jürgen Ernstberger

Examiners:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Jörg Königstorfer
- 2. Prof. Dr. Christoph Ungemach
- 3. Assist. Prof. Dr. Christos Anagnostopoulos

The dissertation was submitted to the Technical University of Munich on the 3rd of August 2023 and accepted by the TUM School of Management on the 15th of November 2023.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	II
List of Tables	
List of Abbreviations	
Summary in English	IV
Summary in German	V
1. General Introduction	1
1.1. Motivation and Aims	1
1.2. Structure of the Dissertation	6
2. Sustainable Development and Sport	8
2.1. Defining Sustainable Development	8
2.2. Sport and Planet	10
2.3. Sport and People	14
2.4. Sport and Prosperity	17
2.5. Strategic Management in Sport Organisations against the Background of Susta Development	inable 20
3. Methods	22
4. Study 1: Understanding the Nexus of Sustainable Development and Sport: The Sys Thinking Perspective	tems 25
5. Study 2: Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Study	Delphi 27
6. Study 3: Back to the Roofs! Spectators' Interpretations of Sustainability Signalling a 2022 European Championships in Munich	t the 29
6.1. Introduction	30
6.2. Literature Review and Theoretical Background	31
6.3. Methodology	37
6.4. Findings	40
6.5. Discussion	53
6.6. Conclusion and Directions for Future Research	56
7. Conclusions	59
7.1. Theoretical Contribution	59
7.2. Managerial Contribution	61
7.3. Limitations and Outlook	63
References	65
Appendices	90

Acknowledgements

No woman is an island; therefore, I owe my gratitude to several people for their support in making this thesis:

- First and foremost, my supervisor, Professor Jörg Königstorfer, for taking me on his team and for having my back in the past years.
- My family and friends, especially my mom Sonja for always encouraging my education and my sister Bina for not taking me too seriously.
- My mentors, Professor Richard Bailey and late Professor Dušan Metikoš, for the universe of things they taught me.
- My co-authors, Professor Laura Misener who generously hosted me at the Western University and Professor Sylvia Trendafilova.
- My colleagues for their advice, insightful perspectives and fun times.
- The Chair of the examination committee, Professor Jürgen Ernstberger and committee members Professor Christoph Ungemach and Professor Christos Anagnostopoulos, for their time and commitment.

List of Tables

- Table 1: Overview of the studies
- Table 2: Overview of study participants
- Table 3: Generated themes and subthemes

List of Abbreviations

- e.g. exempli gratia
- EC2022 European Championships 2022
- et al. et alii
- FSSD Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development
- i.e. id est
- INGSO International non-governmental sport organisation
- IOC International Olympic Committee
- NGO Non-governmental organisation
- SDG Sustainable Development Goals
- SDP Sport for development and peace
- UN United Nations

Summary in English

Through three studies in this thesis, I respond to the lack of literature in sport management that deals with sustainability strategic responses in sport organisations. In Study 1, I investigate the interaction of sport in its broad sense with sustainable development as perceived by international sport experts. By using systems thinking, I vield a systems map that highlights interactions between generated themes and foregrounds the mechanisms of sport and sustainability interaction, including 'visibility', 'safety', 'communication means', 'educational tool', and 'governance and integrity'. In Study 2, I use a Delphi methodology to add a forecasting element and build a consensus among 29 international sport experts on what actions are most needed in responding to sustainability by international sport organisations and align these with the elements of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. Findings show that the most urgent are prioritising long-term sustainability and adopting a planned approach. Finally, in Study 3, I focus on the sport event spectators and their perceptions of sustainability at an international sport event (European Championships 2022). Grounded in signalling theory, the study shows how spectators interpret sustainability and identifies factors that make sustainability signals visible.

Summary in German

Die vorliegende Doktorarbeit untersucht strategische Managementoptionen in Sportorganisationen zur Förderung der Nachhaltigkeit. Die im Sportmanagement angesiedelte Arbeit umfasst drei empirische Studien. In Studie 1 untersuche ich die Interaktion von Sport im weitesten Sinne mit nachhaltiger Entwicklung, wie sie von internationalen Sportexperten wahrgenommen wird. Mit Hilfe des Systems Thinking erarbeite ich eine Systems Map, die die Interaktionen zwischen den generierten Themen hervorhebt und die Mechanismen der Interaktion zwischen Sport und Nachhaltigkeit in den Vordergrund stellt. Dies sind die Themen Sichtbarkeit, Sicherheit, Kommunikationsmittel, Bildungsinstrument und Governance und Integrität. In Studie 2 verwende ich eine Delphi-Methode, um ein Prognoseelement hinzuzufügen und einen Konsens zwischen 29 internationalen Sportexperten darüber zu erzielen, welche Maßnahmen von internationalen Sportorganisationen im Hinblick auf die Nachhaltigkeit am dringendsten benötigt werden, entsprechend den Elementen des Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass es am dringendsten ist, der Nachhaltigkeit langfristig Priorität einzuräumen und einen geplanten Ansatz zu wählen. In Studie 3 konzentriere ich mich auf die Zuschauerinnen und Zuschauer einer internationalen Sportveranstaltung (European Championships 2022) und deren Wahrnehmung von Nachhaltigkeit. Auf der Grundlage der Signaltheorie zeigt die Studie, wie Zuschauerinnen und Zuschauer Nachhaltigkeit interpretieren und die Studie identifiziert Faktoren, die Nachhaltigkeitssignale sichtbar machen.

V

1. General Introduction

Policy makers offered sustainable development to solve many large-scale pressing social, economic and environmental challenges (Mebratu, 1998). These include, to name just a few, the loss of biodiversity, climate change (Steffen et al., 2015), poverty and inequality, human rights violations, and illiterate and ill populations (Sachs, 2015). Sustainable development emphasises intergenerational justice through which the present generations should ensure they meet their own needs without endangering the ability of the generations to come to do the same (World Commission on Environment and Development [WCED], 1987). The idea of sustainable development was further strengthened and operationalised as a guiding developmental framework in 2015 through the adoption of Agenda 2030 and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs; UN, 2015). To reflect the urgency and extent of challenges it aims to address, in its scope, SDG Agenda included individuals, organisations, institutions, local communities and countries regardless of their location and thematic focus. While the SDGs broadly defined the direction for all stakeholders to follow, organisations, including sport organisations, faced the task of adapting their strategies to align with SDGs (Kemp et al., 2005). With this thesis, I tackle some of these challenges by conducting three studies that offer empirical evidence to assist sport organisations and event managers shape their strategies towards sustainable development.

1.1. Motivation and Aims

As per Sustainable Development Agenda, sport organisations are a potential enabler of sustainable development (UN, 2015). By contributing to development and peace, tolerance and respect, and empowering women and young people, sport is claimed to benefit health, education, and social inclusion. However, the

implementation of sport as an enabler of sustainable development faces several general challenges inherent in the concept of sustainable development and, consequently, in the structure of SDGs. A particular practical challenge presents the interconnectedness of the 17 SDGs through which the SDG Agenda can only reach its full potential with "mutually reinforcing actions" and "minimizing the trade-offs" (Nilsson et al., 2016, p. 320). Due to the complexity of sustainable development and already complicated and segregated policy settings, sport organisations need appropriate resources to facilitate the implementation. In that vein, holistic thinking across all domains is needed to translate SDGs effectively into tangible and impactful actions, ensuring a genuinely sustainable outcome (Skene, 2021).

Governing international sport organisations, including sport governing bodies, sport event governing bodies, special task bodies and representative bodies (Geeraert et al., 2014), take an essential role in promoting sustainable development because they (1) can operate on both global and local levels through their headquarters, events and other activities, partners and network, mirroring the global and local significance of sustainable development as highlighted by the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED, 1987); (2) guide actions via agendas and policies for their members (e.g. national sport federations), highlighting the opportunity to implement sustainable development strategies top-down. The first two studies in this thesis focus primarily on the non-governmental and intergovernmental international sport stakeholders that partake in the sport governance in their respective ways. Many of these organisations gather membership organisations, so they have the international perspective, but at the same time, since they represent organisations on national and local levels, they may also have insights into those areas. In general, however, all sport organisations are

urged to contribute to the SDG Agenda, regardless of their scope and particular vision, and they can profit from this research to a certain extent.

The leadership of governing international organisations is expected to respond to their socially relevant role (Waardenburg & Nagel, 2019) to consider pressing challenges, such as fighting climate change, reducing inequality, and fighting corruption. The introduction of the SDG Agenda provides an opportunity for an integrated address of the latter and other relevant topics. Concurrently, it challenges those organisations due to broadening the scope of developmental efforts within sport organisations (Lindsey & Darby, 2019). Sustainable development now serves as a comprehensive framework that includes not only sport for development and peace initiatives and corporate social responsibility activities but also integrates sustainability across all operations. This holistic approach allows all sport organisations to address multiple dimensions relevant to the SDGs.

There are numerous accounts of strategy within the strategic management literature. For instance, Chandler (1969) suggested that strategy involves articulating an organisation's long-term goals and objectives, implementing actions, and allocating the requisite resources to attain those objectives. Andrews (1971) outlined that strategy, albeit in a corporate setting, is "a pattern of decisions" (p. 52) that defines goals, policies and plans for their attainment, the business it aims to be a part of, the kind of organisation it is or wants to be, and a contribution it seeks to give to its stakeholders. There are several areas of agreement among the theorists about common strategy characteristics (Mintzberg, Ahlstrand & Lampel, 1998). When considered together with strategic and governance principles for sustainability (Broman & Robert, 2017; Kemp et al., 2005), these outline the meaning of the strategic approach to sustainable development addressed in this thesis. These include:

- Strategy is linked to both the organisation and its environment; this fundamental premise underscores the organisation's use of strategy to navigate and respond to dynamic and changing environments. To follow sustainable development, organisations need to put themselves into the context of their immediate environments and global perspectives.
- 2) Organisations are part of larger systems; actions in one part of the system can have repercussions elsewhere. Interdependence is mirrored in viewing the organisations as a part of larger systems and that actions in one part of the system can have consequences elsewhere.
- 3) The complexity of strategy arises from the ever-evolving nature of circumstances brought about by change. Sustainable development rests on innovation and adaptation. Therefore, organisations are urged to stay flexible and adaptable to new circumstances.
- 4) The study of strategy extends to its content and process, encompassing the actions taken and the decision-making processes employed for implementation. Notably, strategies are not strictly deliberate, as theorists acknowledge potential disparities between intended and realised strategies. For sustainable development, strategy content is relevant, but because success rests on the acceptance of all stakeholders, the decision-making process is essential.
- 5) A holistic address includes economic, social, and environmental aspects.
- 6) A long-term perspective is considered, recognising the interconnectedness of social, economic, and environmental systems. It aims to avoid short-term gains that may have negative consequences.

- 7) An environmentally sustainable society avoids the systematic elevation of concentrations of substances extracted from the Earth's crust, substances produced by the society, and deterioration through physical means.
- A socially sustainable society does not subject people to structural obstacles to health, influence, competence, impartiality and meaning-making.

The need for a holistic approach, where the social, environmental and economic sustainability dimensions are addressed simultaneously, problematises available literature on the strategic sustainability approaches of international sport organisations. In this nascent area of inquiry, available literature (e.g. Santini & Henderson, 2021; Vrondou et al., 2019) focused on the environmental pillar of sustainability when examining the sustainability efforts of international sport organisations. Few studies, including Morgan et al. (2021) and Moon et al. (2021), addressed sustainability as a holistic notion.

Sport events hold significance for international sport organisations as they play a pivotal role in implementing their missions and visions. Consequently, the sustainability of these events is a crucial aspect to consider as a part of their sustainability strategy. Sport events are a public display of the organiser's commitment to sustainability, and they also have the potential to play a role in raising awareness about sustainability and potentially inspiring behaviour change beyond the event itself (Schmidt, 2006; UN, 2022; UNFCCC, 2015). In that sense, it seems necessary to study how event sustainability is perceived and interpreted by various stakeholders, including spectators at the event. Extant scholarly literature on this topic is scarce and includes focusing on sport fans or spectators and their engagement with environmental sustainability campaigns (e.g. Casper et al., 2020;

Trail & McCullough, 2021), providing evidence on the environmental sustainability campaign acceptance.

The available literature does not yet provide enough support for sport organisations in creating their sustainability strategies and sustainability strategies of events according to the holistic notion of sustainability. In that vein, with this thesis, I address this research gap by aiming to:

1) investigate the perspectives of sport experts regarding the interaction between sport and sustainable development;

2) explore the consensus-level strategic priorities for sustainable development from the perspective of experts in organisations responsible for governing international sport and how they align with the five components of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development model;

3) understand sport event spectators' perspectives related to the sustainability at the event, explore how these align with their definitions of sustainability and determine the characteristics of highly observable sustainability signals.

1.2. Structure of the Dissertation

This thesis consists of seven chapters. In Chapter 1, I introduce the topic, explain the motivation for the thesis and outline the research aims. In Chapter 2, I first define the concept of sustainable development. Then, by referring to the relevant literature, I develop a narrative of how sport interacts with three pillars of sustainability: people, prosperity and the planet. This overview depicts the complexity of sports' interaction with sustainable development and sets the scene for three research studies (Chapters 4, 5 and 6). Chapter 3 outlines the general research approach of the thesis and introduces the specific methodology for each of the studies. Chapter 4 focuses on developing a systems thinking map of experts'

interpretations of how sport interacts with sustainable development. Chapter 5 draws on the Delphi study of the same sample of experts to establish consensus among them on strategic-level priorities for sustainable development in international sport organisations and aligns it with the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. Finally, Chapter 6 is an instrumental single case study focused on the spectators' interpretations of sustainability at a sporting event. In Chapter 7, I outline the theoretical and managerial implications of the three studies and draw attention to general methodological limitations. The overview of studies is presented in Table 1:

Table 1

Overview of the studies

Title	Research Question/s	Theoretical Foundations	Methodology & Methods
Understanding the Nexus of Sustainable Development and Sport: The Systems Thinking Perspective	1. How do sport experts interpret the interaction between sport and sustainable development?	Sustainable development, systems thinking	Semi-structured expert interviews
Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study	 What strategic responses of international sport organisations are most relevant in increasing international sport organisations' contribution to sustainable development in the near future? How do the strategic 	Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development	Delphi study; semi- structured expert interviews
	responses align with the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development?		
Spectators' Perspectives on Sustainability at the 2022 European Championships in Munich	1. What event-related signals do spectators at EC2022 interpret as sustainable?	Signalling theory	Instrumental single case study; participant observations, informal interviews, semi-structured
	2. How do the spectators' lay beliefs about sustainability align with how spectators of the EC 2022 interpret sustainability signals?		interviews, document and media analysis
	3. What are the characteristics of highly observable signals?		

2. Sustainable Development and Sport

2.1. Defining Sustainable Development

The concept of sustainable development has gained prominence in the international community throughout the 20th century as the concerns for the state of Earth's natural resources grew (Kopnina & Shoreman-Ouimet, 2015). As an extension of the environmental debates, in the 1980s, the concept expanded to accommodate the rising socio-political consequences of human development (Robinson, 2004). The environmental issues and human development have been explicitly married on an international level in the account that offered the most influential definition of the concept yet, the United Nations commissioned report "Our Common Future", widely known as Brundtland Report (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987). The report defined sustainable development as development that "meets the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future generation to meet their own needs" (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987, p. 23). The authors of the report argued that environmental, developmental, and poverty issues must be addressed simultaneously in a mutually supportive and complementary fashion (Robinson, 2004).

As presented in the Brundtland Report, sustainable development propelled the global view of the planet's future. Although it remained the most visible definition to date, it has been widely criticised for its anthropocentrism and "acclaimed vagueness and ambiguity" (Mebratu, 1998, p. 494). A multitude of definitions and conceptualisations have emerged, resulting in a wide range of interpretations for sustainable development. With over a hundred variations in its definition, sustainable development appears to hold different meanings for different individuals and organisations (Robinson, 2004). This presents a potential risk, as the diverse

interpretations could hinder its ability to bring about meaningful change (Matthew & Hammil, 2009; Waas et al., 2011) and create an opportunity for the term to be exploited for hidden political, corporate, and institutional agendas that deviate from its original intent (Gray, 2010; Johnston et al., 2007; Washington, 2005).

Proportionate to the number of positions on sustainable development, the literature offered a plethora of models to understand the concept. The most prevalent seems to represent sustainable development through three same-sized and intertwined circles (or Venn's diagrams) representative of the environment, society and economy. At their intersection in the middle lies sustainable development. This model has also been known as the 3 Ps (people, planet, prosperity/profit) or the "triple bottom line" developed in the corporate literature as an accounting framework for companies (Elkington, 2004; Slaper & Hall, 2012). The model, although praised for including the plurality of views in the discourse of sustainable development, faced criticism for compartmentalising the three issues, disallowing their integrative address (Giddings et al., 2002), overlooking the interconnections within and among three pillars as well as disregarding the time dimension (Lozano, 2008). Other models included other dimensions, such as an institutional pillar, dimensions of time and space or used the so-called nested approach placing the economy as a subset of society within the environment (e.g. Giddings et al., 2002; Mebratu, 1998) to respond to the over-emphasis of economic dimension.

Besides sustainable development models, scholarly literature offered sustainable development principles that aim to guide needed actions. Waas and colleagues (2011) identified four fundamental principles: 1) the normativity principle posits that sustainable development is a construct of societal and normative nature; 2) the equity principle implies justice or fairness between the present and future generations (inter-generational equity), people of the current generation regardless of

their social standings (intra-generational equity), various levels of cooperation from local to global (geographical equity), in governance that involves all concerned stakeholders in a participatory way (procedural equity), and in valuing survival of other non-human forms of life as much as the human (inter-species equity); 3) the integration principle postulates that sustainable development is an integrative concept where environmental and developmental matters need a holistic address; and 4) the dynamism principle highlights that sustainable development is a dynamic process rather than an end state. For this work, I adopted the Brundtland Report's definition of sustainable development as it is the most acclaimed account. Fully aware that some authors regard sustainability as the destination and sustainable development as the journey to get to the point of being sustainable (Washington, 2015), I use the terms sustainability and sustainable development interchangeably in this text.

2.2. Sport and Planet

Sport and environment have a bidirectional relationship: sport is performed in the environment and, consequently, leaves its environmental footprint (Thibaut, 2009). In turn, a stable climate and appropriate environmental conditions such as temperature, wind, or humidity make sport activities possible (Dingle & Stewart, 2019; Orr & Inoue, 2018). The direct impact of sport on the environment is evident, for instance, through the adverse effects the recreational trampling leaves on some plant communities, vegetation (Pescott & Stewart, 2014) and wildlife (Larson et al., 2016), especially in the winter ski areas (Sato et al., 2013). Furthermore, sport can indirectly impact the climate by providing a reason for sport tourists, spectators, recreational or professional athletes, officials and other accompanying personnel to travel and, consequently, generate travel-related carbon emissions (Thibaut, 2009;

Wicker, 2018; Wicker, 2019). Moreover, sport events require vast amounts of nonrenewable resources for the infrastructure and facilities construction and functioning (Loland, 2006). On a more positive note, active transport is shown to benefit the environment by decreasing air pollution and, at the same time, benefiting the health of individuals (Rabl & Nazelle, 2012). Choosing to live car-free is one of the most promising strategies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in developed countries (Wyes & Nicolas, 2017).

Conversely, the environment impacts the sport as well as its spectators. Suppose the climate conditions are not favourable for the sporting event. In that case, it can interfere with a result of the competition or cancellation, resulting in decreased revenue (Kay & Vamplew, 2006). These worries are particularly prominent in the winter sports that rely on the snow that, due to climate change, is no longer given in many winter sport areas (Elsasser & Bürki, 2002). In the realm of physical activity, air pollution is a significant concern, as air pollution may prevent people from being physically active in highly polluted areas (Tainio et al., 2021). Therefore, the rising concern for environmental issues and climate change impacts sporting activities and should present a significant and urgent problem for the sport stakeholders (Orr & Inoue, 2018).

Sport does impact the environment but compared to other industries, the sport sector is far from having the most significant detrimental effect (McCollough & Hellison, 2018; UNFCCC, n.d.). Because of its societal position, however, it is uniquely placed to contribute to various efforts to preserve the environment. Consequently, environmental sustainability has moved up on the priority list of many sport organisations (McCullough et al., 2016; Thibault, 2009). This recognition has been strengthened with partnerships with other environmental efforts. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) acknowledged that sport

could contribute by increasing the environmental sustainability of all sport stakeholders and can serve as a unique and cross-sector awareness-raising tool (UNFCCC, n.d.).

Sport stakeholders increasingly take a proactive role in mitigating environmental change corresponding to their unique contexts (McCullough et al., 2016), with the International Olympic Committee (IOC) at the forefront. The IOC recognised its potential in contributing to the Paris Agreement and, in partnership with the United Nations, led the Sport for Climate Change Initiative that aims to "set the course for the sports world to address climate change" (IOC Takes Leadership Role in the UN Sports for Climate Action Initiative, 2018, unpaged). The organisation aims to be carbon-positive by 2024, achieving climate neutrality in 2020. All upcoming Olympic Games will have to be carbon-neutral, and from 2030, the Olympic Games Organising Committees will contractually be obliged to be carbonpositive. The Games will use its visibility to showcase climate-friendly solutions, operate sustainably and increase the usage of existing infrastructure (IOC to be Climate Positive in 2024, 2021).

Despite many prominent examples of positive action towards environmental sustainability in international sport context, the sport stakeholders are under scrutiny for their activities that are often perceived as greenwashing. The most prolific examples include mega sporting events, the Olympic Games and the FIFA World Cup. For some, the latest World Cup in Qatar in 2022 may be the most prominent case of greenwashing (Boykoff, 2022). FIFA claimed the World Cup to be the first carbon-neutral World Cup, which aimed to set new benchmarks for long-term community use of infrastructure influencing future sporting events. The tournament introduced a dedicated program for managing stadium energy, water, and waste impacts throughout design, construction, and operations. All eight stadiums used for

the football matches received Global Sustainability Assessment System certification and were designed for reuse and repurposing, with most having demountable components. All venues were easily accessible by public transport (FIFA, n.a.). Yet, independent carbon accounting organisations and sport event experts found extensive flaws in FIFA's environmental claims (Boykoff, 2022; Defrasne, 2022). An issue detected by the non-governmental environmental organisation Carbon Market Watch is that the organisers projected the World Cup will produce 3.6 megatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. However, the Carbon Market Watch analysis revealed that this figure does not precisely reflect the tournament's true environmental impact, considering the selected accounting method (Defrasne, 2022). Moreover, investigative journalist Salliaas recently reported that the promised community impact of sport stadia in Qatar is, at least during his visit to the country, not present (Selliaas, 2024). Another example of the discrepancy between environmental aims and claims and their implementation and resulting outcomes is the Olympic Games. Boykoff & Mascarenhas (2016) analysed the Rio Olympic Games in 2016, where the event was supposed to act as a driver of the green development of the host city. Authors, however, concluded that prevalent IOC's capitalistic aspirations were in collision with meaningful and effective environmental actions. Geeraert and Gauthier (2018) illustrated the inefficacy of the mechanisms employed by the IOC in overseeing Games organisers. The authors argued that these mechanisms fall short in influencing the incentives of Olympic Games organisers to align with environmental sustainability objectives. Additionally, the proposed changes introduced through the IOC's Agenda 2020 reforms were deemed inadequate in addressing this issue.

Authors from the scholarly literature on sports management pertaining to environmental sustainability have likewise addressed various topics concerning sports' contribution to environmental sustainability. In the rapid review, Trendafilova

and McCullough (2018) have identified that the most common research areas were management, spectators, facilities, marketing/communications, performance evaluation and social sustainability. This indicates that from a research perspective environmental sustainability in sport is most commonly addressed through change of organisational policies, exploring fan and spectators' engagement and employing marketing and communication to be more sustainable in sport.

2.3. Sport and People

Participation in sport is often underlined by the pursuit of excellence, either when compared to the elite performance in a competition or to satisfy ambition, where the primary point of reference is a personal achievement (Bailey at al., 2010). In addition, participants in sport can also be motivated to satisfy needs other than performance; for instance, these can improve one's social life, gain a sense of identity, and initiate personal renewal (Bailey et al., 2010). By engaging in sport activities, participants have the potential to satisfy their various needs that can translate to personal benefits and, as an extension, also to society. Sport's potential role in society can, therefore, be viewed as the "agent of personal and social change" (Spaaij, 2009, p.1109).

Governments, intergovernmental organisations, and a plethora of sport and development NGOs worldwide utilise sport to attain various societal goals (Beutler, 2008; Burgheim et al., 2017; Coalter, 2007; Kidd, 2008). For instance, states support elite sports, hoping to lead to a virtuous circle of sport (Grix & Carmichael, 2012). The model hypothesises that elite sporting success will increase international prestige, facilitating a feel-good factor and strengthening the collective sense of identity. In turn, this will trickle down to the grassroots level to increase participation in the sport,

making a nation healthier and simultaneously expanding the talent pool with potential for new sporting success.

On the grassroots level, particularly in disadvantaged areas that, due to the limited funding, have little means to support developmental efforts, sport is seen as a valuable, cost-effective tool. When placed as a means for international development, the movement is labelled "sport for development and peace" (Kidd, 2008). It is claimed that it can facilitate social, economic and moral ameliorations through its position as apolitical, non-threatening activity with shared universal, transnational and transhistorical meanings (Darnell et al., 2019; Levermore & Beacom, 2009). It owes its popularity to its "ability to capture or 'hook' a large number of people—particularly those interested in sport and physical activity—and use the momentum in and around the sport as a strategic vehicle to communicate, implement, and achieve nonsport development goals" (Schulenkorf et al., 2016, p. 22).

Various benefits of sport for society are already well established in the literature; however, conceptualisations vary. For example, Bailey (2005) outlined that by doing sport, children can reap the benefits to their physical and mental health, cognitive and academic development, as well as decrease crime, truancy and disaffection. Lee et al. (2012) were concerned with the measurement of the social impacts of sport and, for that purpose, developed an instrument that included five constructs: Social capital that measures social relationships, networks, social proactivity and participation in the community; collective identities measures the sense of belonging to the community; health literacy measures individual's abilities to make a healthy decision that benefit one's health; well-being refers to the life quality; and human capital measures one's knowledge, skills, competencies, and attitudes conducive to personal development and societal well-being. Bailey et al. (2013) developed a comprehensive framework of benefits sport may have on human

development. They emphasised that the benefits "are not autonomous, independent, or disconnected. They reinforce each other, and their true value can only be properly appreciated from a broad, holistic perspective" (Bailey et al., 2013, p. 289). Capitals, as the authors label the outcomes of sport, include physical capital – the benefits to physical health and healthy behaviours; emotional capital – psychological and mental health benefits; individual capital – positive influence on the elements of character, life skills, social skills and values; social capital – benefits arisen from establishing the networks due to the participation in sport (e.g. social inclusion); intellectual capital – cognitive and educational benefits; and financial capital – benefits in terms of power, job performance and attainment, productivity and costs of for the health care. Authors warned, however, that caution is needed as only physical and emotional capital rest on a well-established and firm evidence base (e.g. Penedo & Dahn, 2005; Saxena et al., 2005; Warburton et al., 2006).

On the other hand, it is worth noting that sport practice and management are not immune to negative incidents. Sport practice, either professional or grassroots, is linked with a plethora of potential risks for athletes' health and well-being. Acts of violence can come from coaches, peers or parents, can occur in various settings, including online outlets, and can include several threats, including injury, mental health issues, physical, sexual and other abuse, inappropriate training regimes, neglect, bullying, and doping (Mountjoy et al., 2015). The organisational-level threats include abuse from spectators, abuse-normalising culture, systematic doping, discrimination and inappropriate medical treatment. To mitigate and handle these threats sport organisations are recommended to implement holistic safeguarding measures to enable violence-free sport environment (Mountjoy et al., 2015).

Sport integrity is a prominent and critical issue in sport management. The discussions have been spurred by the high-profile cases of sport organisations

lacking integrity that demonstrated the legitimacy crisis caused by the misalignment of the organisational goals, how they are achieved and the outcomes they provide, with their stakeholders' expectations (Anagnostopoulos & Winand, 2019; Gardiner, Parry & Robinson, 2017). The lack of integrity in sport management includes a range of issues including corruption, sport betting manipulation, match-fixing, disrespect for human rights, and doping (Gardiner et al., 2017; Ordway & Opie, 2017). To tackle these challenges, Ordway and Opie (2017) suggested organisations and their leaders practice ethical decision-making, partner with governmental and other independent agencies with proper resources, and implement good governance principles. The latter is a popular topic among sport researchers and practitioners; a systematic review identified more than 250 good governance principles in the sport management literature (Thompson et al., 2023). However, the three principles featuring most commonly in good governance models were accountability, democracy, and transparency (Thompson et al., 2023).

2.4. Sport and Prosperity

Research on the economic dimension of sport gained impetus in the last couple of decades. It reflected the ever-growing demand for participation and the consumption of sport, and consequently, the interest of various stakeholders in the monetary value sport could produce (Andreff & Syzmanski, 2006). The economic impact of sport is seen on micro-and macroeconomic levels, the former impacting the individuals and the latter societies. Therefore, sport's economic impact is often closely linked to its social impact as a function of its multidimensionality.

On a microeconomic level, participation in sport seems to benefit the individuals' position in the labour market and, consequently, financial gains. This can intuitively be explained through several channels (Lechner, 2009). The first refers to

the effect of sport on productivity as a function of better health and well-being; the second addresses the social networking effect for activities performed in groups; and the third concerns the employers who see an added value in having an active and thus healthy and motivated employee. Positive association of participation in sport with labour market outcomes is observed from the background of various ages, from early-years participation (Cabane & Clark, 2015) throughout high school (Ewing, 1998; Kosteas, 2012) to college (Lang & Caudill, 1991). Multiple authors caution that the causal effects should not be attributed too early before examining all factors. Still, the available evidence indicates that sport participation is a career and financial asset. Furthermore, some sport programmes are increasingly designed to increase employment opportunities by acquiring life skills that can be used in the non-sport setting (Coalter, 2013; Cognac, 2014; Gould & Carson, 2008), including, but not limited to, professional environments.

On a macroeconomic level, sport is one of the drivers of the economy. To illustrate this point, I will use the European Union as an example. The European Commission has, in its White Paper on Sport, emphasised the economic dimension of sport as a contributor to economic growth and job creation and as a tool for local, regional, urban and rural development (European Commission, 2007). Following the document, the European Commission published two European-wide studies that aimed to measure the economic importance of sport in the member states and the European Union by establishing the Sport Satellite Account (SSA). The extensive definition of sport-related services and products distinguished between a statistical, a narrow, and a broad definition of sport constituted the measurement (EU Working Group on Sport and Economics, 2007). The study showed that in 2012, the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) related to the sport was 2.12% of total EU GDP. Regarding employment, the sport-related share was 2.72%, underlining the sector's importance

in countering unemployment (European Commission, 2018). On a national level, the differences among countries were formidable. The highest GDB sport-related share had Austria and Germany, with 4.12% and 3.90%, respectively, whereas Bulgaria, with 0.80%, occupied the bottom of the list. Regarding employment, the differences were also extensive; Austria had 5.63% and Romania, in contrast, 1.22% employed in the sport sector (European Commission, 2018). To summarise, sport has become an essential economic actor in the globalised economies (Andreff & Syzmanski, 2006).

Sport can have a relevant role in lowering the public health cost of inactivity. The healthcare costs developed economies pay due to physical inactivity ranges from 1% to 2.6% (Pratt et al., 2014). Estimated on a global level, physical inactivity costs went in 2013 up to \$53.8 billion. Besides, the physical inactivity cost related to productivity loss amounted to \$13.7 billion, and physical inactivity was calculated to be responsible for 13.4 million disability-adjusted life-years (Ding et al., 2016). The study published in The Lancet (Ding et al., 2016) provides the case for promoting physical activity to counter health and economic burdens.

A further example of the socio-economic impact of the sports sector is seen through volunteering. Sport sets in motion more volunteers than any other; in many countries, the sport sector relies on volunteers (European Commission, 2011). In the EU, 6% of people in total engage in voluntary activities in sport (European Commission, 2022). Social benefits linked to sport volunteering include better health and increased productivity for people in the community, reduced medical costs, reduced juvenile crime, and developing character and values associated with sport such as fair play. In addition, it can be a tool for building social capital, social cohesion and increasing civic engagement, a sense of identification and belonging, civic and national pride, international recognition and economic and tourism

development (Hoye et al., 2010; Stewart et al., 2004). When translated to monetary value, a German example shows that volunteers in sport clubs, i.e. coaches and board members' work amounts to \in 4.3 Billion per year (Breuer et al., 2020).¹

2.5. Strategic Management in Sport Organisations against the Background of Sustainable Development

In recent years, international stakeholders in sport outlined how sport in general can contribute to various SDGs and align their activities with the SDG framework. Prominent examples include the United Nations Office on Sport for Development and Peace (2015), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO; 2017), the Commonwealth (2015, 2017), the Sustainable Development Goals Fund (2018), and the International Olympic Committee (IOC; 2015); these organisations were among the first to use the SDG Agenda as a basis for defining sport's role in sustainable development at the international stage. Other organisations followed these initiatives by creating sustainability strategies for their organisational contexts. For example, World Sailing, an international governing body for sailing, envisioned in their strategy Sustainability Agenda 2030 "a world in which millions more people fall in love with sailing; inspired by the unique relationship between sport, technology and the forces of nature (...) to protect the waters of the world" (World Sailing, 2016, p. 4). World Sailing (2016) aims to leverage its unique position to advocate for water protection upon which their sport depends.

¹ To the best of my knowledge, these data are the most recent estimates available. Even though information on volunteering is regularly issued as part of the Sport Development Report series, I am unaware that the translation to monetary value is available in the newest edition of the Report.

The academic community has shown some, albeit limited, interest in the growing emphasis on integrating sustainability into the strategies of international sport organisations, especially when taking a holistic perspective to sustainability. For instance, strategy scope and content were addressed in the study by Morgan et al. (2021). The authors revealed a fragmented and unplanned approach towards sustainability within the Commonwealth Games Association. Content-wise, these organisations primarily focused on contributing to the SDG Agenda through programmes targeted at gender equality, health, and education. Moon et al. (2021) investigated international sport federations' processes to implement sustainability. The authors discovered five approaches: the implementation of pilot events focused on sustainability, collaboration with non-governmental organisations, partnerships with sustainability consultancies, the establishment of dedicated sustainability committees, and the adoption of a comprehensive sustainability strategy supported by a full-time sustainability manager. Studies in this thesis respond to the scarcity of academic literature that addresses strategies of international sport organisations focused on the holistic notion of sustainability.

3. Methods

The studies in this thesis are grounded in constructivist and interpretive perspectives. Aligned with this, they ontologically adhere to relativism (Guba & Lincoln, 1989). Relativism acknowledges that reality is socially constructed and multiple interpretations exist. It recognises that different individuals or groups may have different realities or understandings of a phenomenon (Guba & Lincoln, 1989). Consequently, the epistemological position holds that the context, experiences and values of the researcher and the participants influence knowledge. It emphasises the importance of understanding individuals' subjective meanings and perspectives and interpreting their experiences. Both ontological and epistemological grounding has consequences for the choice of methodology. In this case, the methodology is directed towards understanding and sense-making of the interaction (Guba & Lincoln, 1989). For the research papers in this thesis, I used qualitative research methodologies that helped me answer the respective research questions.

In strategic management research, according to Mir and Watson (2000), constructivism highlights the active role of strategy researchers as participants rather than passive observers. They are not solely information processors or reactors but actively contribute to determining which organisational structures are more or less likely to be adopted. They engage in a community of practice where knowledge about strategy is generated through rule-based conversations. This perspective emphasises that strategy researchers are not detached observers but integral members of the process, shaping and influencing the outcomes.

In Study 1, I employed qualitative research design based on systems thinking. The systems-thinking perspective suggests a departure from narrow, analytical methods towards a comprehensive approach (Gharajedaghi, 2011). It deals with complexity by considering interconnected factors and employs both reductionism

(breaking down) and constructivism (rebuilding the issue as a whole). Instead of viewing problems in isolation, it aims to comprehend issues of various scales, complexities, and fields (Hester & Adams 2017). Additionally, the systems-thinking perspective assumes that apparent events and patterns originate from concealed systemic structures and mental models.

In Study 2, I used a three-round Delphi study, a structured group communication process that enables a collective of individuals to tackle a complex problem together. (Linstone & Turoff, 2002). Delphi method was chosen as the aim was to explore, identify, and prioritise information that could lead to a consensus (Okoli & Pawlowski, 2004). It involved iterative questionnaires that build upon earlier responses designed through systematic communication with panellists presumed to possess expertise in the field of study (Rowe & Wright, 2001). The method yields a statistical group response and ensures respondents' anonymity, as experts do not communicate directly with one another (Day & Bobeva, 2005).

The data collection for Studies 1 and 2 included 29 semi-structured expert interviews that took place between May and December 2020 using an online video communication platform. Prior explicit consent was obtained from the experts, and all interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. The interview schedule covered various aspects, including the expert's background information, their familiarity with sustainable development and the SDG Agenda, an outline of their organisations' efforts towards sustainability, their understanding of how sport interacts with sustainable development, and the experts' recommendations on actions needed to enhance sport's contribution to the SDG Agenda.

Study 3 is designed as an instrumental single case study where the primary focus was not on the specific case itself, but rather on how the case offered valuable insights into spectator responses (Stake, 2005). Data collection included participant

observation, event-related document and social media analysis, informal and 12 semi-structured interviews with spectators of European Championships in Munich in 2022. Interview schedule included questions pertaining to spectators' understanding of the concept of sustainability, their impressions of the event in general and impressions related to sustainability at the event. The data was then analysed using the thematic analysis.

4. Study 1: Understanding the Nexus of Sustainable Development and Sport:

The Systems Thinking Perspective

Publication (peer-reviewed): Glibo, I. & Koenigstorfer, J. (2023). Understanding the nexus of sustainable development and sport: The systems thinking perspective. *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy. 19*(1), 2240664. https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2023.2240664

Main author: Iva Glibo

Author contributions: I.G. Conceptualisation; Methodology, Data collection; Data analysis; Writing - Original draft preparation; J.K.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Project administration; Resources; Supervision; Writing - Review & editing.

Abstract

This study aims to explore how international sport experts make sense of sport's interaction with sustainable development. We² adopted the interpretivist lens, combining the viewpoints of identified experts with the systems thinking approach. We conducted 29 semi-structured interviews with decision-makers in international sport organizations who were responsible for sustainable development in their daily work for their organization. We used an inductive approach for theory building to analyze the data and the systems map to show the various interrelations of the categories that were identified. The systems map offers a visualization of perceived causal connections that stem directly from the interviews with the experts. The map contains 58 variables, including nine themes and 49 categories, which are connected

 $^{^{2}}$ In this thesis, studies involved a team of authors, and as a result, the inclusive term 'we' is used to refer to the collective authorship throughout Chapters 4 to 6.

via 112 causal links, indicating the interconnected structure. The themes "environment," "social inclusion," "economic growth," and "health and wellbeing" represent outcomes of sport, while "visibility," "safety," "communication means," "educational tools," and "governance and integrity" are mechanisms of how sport interacts with sustainable development. The systems map presents a tool for understanding the complexity of relationships between key variables at play that can help policymakers, practitioners, and researchers when formulating, testing, and implementing various policy options directed toward increasing sustainability for sport stakeholders.

5. Study 2: Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study

Publication (peer reviewed): Glibo, I., Misener, L., & Koenigstorfer, J. (2022). Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study. *Sustainability, 14*(16), 9874. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14169874

Main author: Iva Glibo

Author contributions: I.G.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Formal Analysis; Investigation; Writing – Original draft preparation; Project administration; L.M.: Methodology; Writing – Review and Editing; Supervision; J.K.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Writing – Review and Editing; Supervision; Project Administration

Abstract

The study aims to explore the consensus-level strategic priorities for sustainable development from the perspective of decision-makers in organisations responsible for governing international sport and how they cluster within the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. We employed the three-round Delphi study with decision-makers from international sport organisations. Based on the 29 semi-structured interviews in the first round, we inductively generated items for questionnaires for the subsequent two rounds. The process yielded 20 items representing strategic priorities determined by 20 experts in the last round. The highest-ranked item was normative change, in which sustainability is prioritised throughout all organisational strategies and actions. Moreover, planned efforts that are part of a long-term strategy and embedding sustainability requirements at the bidding phase of sport events were considered with high priority. The 20 items clustered into four out of five levels of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable

Development, namely system, success, strategic guidelines and actions. No items could be assigned to the framework's tool level, potentially indicating gaps of strategic consideration. The findings from the Delphi study add a forecasting element to the research and practice of strategic sustainability in the management of sport by revealing consensus-level strategic priorities for the future.

6. Study 3: Back to the Roofs! Spectators' Interpretations of Sustainability Signalling at the 2022 European Championships in Munich

Submitted for publication: Glibo, I., Misener, L., Koenigstorfer, J. & Trendafilova, S. (in peer review process). Back to the Roofs! Spectators' Interpretations of Sustainability Signalling at the 2022 European Championships in Munich.

Main author: Iva Glibo

Author contributions: I.G.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Formal Analysis; Investigation; Writing – Original draft preparation; Project administration; L.M.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Writing – Review and Editing; Supervision; J.K.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Writing – Review and Editing; Supervision; Project Administration; Resources; S.T.: Conceptualisation; Methodology; Supervision; Writing – Review and Editing

Abstract

Research question: The aim of the study is to explore what event-related signals spectators at sport event interpret as sustainable according to their top-down or bottom-up perspectives, how the spectators' sustainability definitions align with their interpretations of sustainability signals, and what the characteristics of highly observable signals are.

Research methods: We employed an instrumental single case study of the 2022 European Championships in Munich (EC2022) using several data sources: event strategy documents and social media, participant observation, 12 semi-structured interviews as well as informal interviews with event spectators. To anchor our work, we used signalling theory differentiating between top-down and bottom-up signal receivers. To analyse the data, we used thematic analysis. **Results and findings:** Findings revealed that spectators defined sustainability based on environmental concerns related to resource use. The contrasting interpretations between bottom-up and top-down spectators were most apparent regarding social and economic event signals. Those adopting a bottom-up perspective and regarding sustainability as primarily environment-related placed greater emphasis on environment-related signals. Highly visible signals were integrated into the event brand, and therefore spread via multiple media channels; they were well aligned with local practices and expectations; and they took advantage of ceremonial moments. **Implications:** Sustainability-driven event managers are recommended to embed the sustainability concept into the event brand's activities. Spectators' understanding of the concept and their lived event experiences should inform how sustainability signals directed at event participants are incorporated into event management.

6.1. Introduction

Sustainability has become increasingly important for the organisers of sport events (Boykoff, 2021). Concurrently, communicating their commitment to sustainability or signalling (Connelly, Certo, et al., 2011; Connelly, Ketchen, et al., 2011) is critical for several reasons. Signalling is an opportunity to create shared sustainability engagement and communicate values with event visitors (Newig et al., 2013), as their behaviour is essential for sustainability enactment. Sport events are regarded as a platform to educate and raise awareness about sustainability, possibly leading to behaviour change beyond the event (Schmidt, 2006; UN, 2022; UNFCCC, 2015). Signalling sustainability can help sport event organisers gain legitimacy (Newig et al., 2013), which is particularly relevant because of the challenges of implementing sustainability-related commitments (e.g. Boykoff, 2021; Gaffney, 2013;
Li, 2021; Müller, 2015; Schmidt, 2006). In that vein, signalling sustainability may influence the public's readiness to support hosting events (Laing & Frost, 2010).

Prior research at the nexus of sport event and sustainability communication focused on online communication, suggesting that event messages were mainly focused on energy and water initiatives (Trendafilova et al., 2021). The main objective of event organisers was to generate environmental awareness and compliance among spectators. Trail and McCullough (2021) explored event promotional activities through awareness, emphasising the importance of understanding the attitudes toward a campaign. They found that attitudes can predict behaviour intentions and affect one's decision-making concerning sustainability initiatives. This has important implications for designing and marketing sustainability campaigns considering how the message is framed, structured and delivered to the targeted audience. Likewise, it is important to involve different stakeholders in the design of such campaigns as sustainability is a broad, elusive, vague and malleable concept (Kemp & Martens, 2007; Marshall & Toffel, 2005; Mensah, 2019) and various lay groups may understand and define the concept differently (McDonagh et al., 2020; McDonald & Oates, 2006; Perey, 2015; Reid et al., 2009). Yet, there are limited resources for event organisers that would enable them to engage stakeholders proficiently and enhance their attitudes towards sustainability (Trail & McCullough, 2021). Therefore, we aim to understand sport event spectators' perspectives on sustainability initiatives. Specifically, we explore their interpretations of sustainable signalling as well as how their definitions of sustainability fit with the interpretation of those signals. In doing so, we also sought to consider the characteristics of highly observable signals of sustainability.

6.2. Literature Review and Theoretical Background

Defining Sustainability

In its basic form, sustainability refers to sustaining or perpetuating a system for a long time (Costanza & Patten, 1995). Sustainable development "meets the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future generation to meet their own needs" (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987, p. 23). The United Nations (UN) argued that environmental, developmental and poverty issues must be addressed simultaneously in a mutually supportive and complementary fashion (Robinson, 2004), often called the triple bottom line. Sustainability can also be viewed through fundamental principles (Waas et al., 2011): (1) it is a construct of societal and normative nature; (2) it implies justice or fairness; (3) environmental and developmental matters need a holistic address; and (4) it is a dynamic process and not an end state.

Although the UN's account is prominent, it has been criticised for its anthropocentrism and vagueness that allowed a proliferation of definitions and conceptualisations (Kemp & Martens, 2007; Marshall & Toffel, 2005). It is claimed to mean "different things to so many different people and organisations" (Robinson, 2004, p. 373). The danger is that the plurality of interpretations may impede its potential to drive change (Perey, 2015; Waas et al., 2011), including its potential to communicate sustainability to broader audiences (Brand, 2011).

Perspectives on Sustainability

Implicit theories, schemas or lay beliefs are common sense beliefs, and notions lay people use in their sense-making of the environment. The lay beliefs often differ from explicit theories or formal ideas the experts hold (Furnham, 1988). Sustainability is an ambiguous and context-dependent notion, enabling many conceptualisations by experts (Whyte & Lamberton, 2020) and laypeople (Perey, 2015). Local and social practices and a sense of community influence sustainability

interpretations and enactment. Accordingly, the discrepancy between the interpretations of laypeople and experts (McDonagh et al., 2020) warrants consideration of both perspectives.

Research has shown that laypeople in various educational contexts understand sustainability primarily as longevity, keeping something running, or human, material or other resource use (Parkin Hughes, 2017; Reid & Petocz, 2006; Reid et al., 2009). Students' understanding of sustainability was limited to concepts mainly related to environmental impacts, with minimal knowledge of the triple bottom line, integrated, and interrelational aspects of sustainability (Hales & Jennings, 2017; Parkin Hughes, 2017; Walshe, 2008). The primary emphasis of consumer research has been on the environmental aspect of sustainability. This, combined with the media's keen interest in environmental issues, has likely led to the belief that sustainability solely revolves around the environment (Simpson & Radford, 2012). Studies showed that consumers often do not understand the sustainability characteristics of products or services (McDonald & Oates, 2006; Tölkes, 2018, 2020) and their understanding heavily involves environmental components, including resources and waste (Hill & Lee, 2012; Roy et al., 2015; Simpson & Radford, 2012). Furthermore, consumers could not articulate precisely what behaviours would be considered sustainable (Roy et al., 2015).

Promoting Sustainability through (Sport) Events

Some authors emphasised the need to address the sustainability of events beyond environmental issues broadening out the perspective to reflect triple bottom line considerations (Getz, 2017; Mair & Smith, 2021; Pernecky, 2013). Mair and Smith (2022) invited to consider the role of events in social, economic and environmental development of the host places. In that vein, the focus on establishing the sustainability of sport events should be supplemented with communication

aspects for education and promotion of sustainability to and through various stakeholder groups (e.g. Collins et al., 2009; Müller et al., 2021; Trendafilova et al., 2022).

Some authors recognised the potential of events to promote sustainability to event visitors and spectators (Laing & Frost, 2010; Mair & Laing, 2013; Tölkes & Butzmann, 2018; Wong et al., 2021). Examining sport events specifically, Han et al. (2015) contrasted spectators' pro-environmental behaviour at the event and at home. Findings showed that attendees have more pro-environmental behaviours in their homes than at the event. Furthermore, this relationship was moderated by their perception of event's environmental responsibility. Du Preez and Heath (2016) highlighted the role of the social and physical environments in intention to behave pro-environmentally. They concluded that the identification with the social context at the sport event may be beneficial to the intention to behave pro-environmentally and that the spectators attached to the location are more likely to value and support the environmental management efforts of event organisers. Researchers have examined environmental sustainability marketing campaigns focused towards sport fans/spectators by leveraging their identification with the team (e.g. Casper et al., 2014; Casper et al., 2017; McCullough & Kellison, 2016). Aiming to guide sport event managers in implementing and evaluating sport sustainability campaigns, Trail and McCullough have developed and tested behavioural models for fans/participants (Trail, 2015, 2016; Trail & McCullough, 2017). Their models emphasised the awareness stage which is highly dependent upon culture and context, and the external activation of the campaign. Trail and McCullough's (2021) longitudinal study illustrated that campaign awareness, amount of information, and satisfaction with communications in sustainability campaigns were directly related to spectators' attitudes and behaviour. As demonstrated, previous research has foregrounded the

importance of sustainability event communication for spectators'(environmentally) sustainable intentions and behaviours. Thus, we use signalling theory to frame our research suggested appropriate for studying ways organisations communicate their sustainability engagement to stakeholder groups (Connelly et al., 2011).

Signalling Theory

Signalling theory explores how individuals, organisations, and other entities communicate characteristics, qualities, or intentions to others when two parties have different information about a common interest, i.e. information asymmetry (Connelly et al., 2011; Spence, 1973). Primarily, the focus on resolving asymmetries of "latent and unobservable quality" (Connelly et al., 2011, p. 42) is at the core of signalling. Fundamental tenets of the signalling theory relevant to this study include a signaller, a signal, and a receiver (Connelly et al., 2011). As an insider, the signaller has privileged information about underlying quality of an object of interest delivered to the receiver through signals. Signal delivery depends largely on signal observability, that is, the extent to which the receivers can observe the signal as intended, hence demonstrating an effective signal (Spence, 1973). Conversely, receivers are outsiders with varying interests in the information. The signaller wants to benefit from the receiver, usually by influencing their preference, often over competitors (Connelly et al., 2011); thus, the ability to create an effective signal that influences the receiver's preference is critical.

Receivers and their responses received little attention from signalling theory scholars, and even if so, the receiver has been viewed as a rational decision-maker with unanimous responses to signals (Drover et al., 2018). With that in mind, Drover et al. (2018) employed a cognitive lens to consider the receivers' attention allocation and interpretation. They posited that attention is a function of two ways of processing, top-down or systematic, or bottom-up or heuristic. Receivers with top-down

processing have the endogenous stimulus, whereas stimulus for bottom-up processing is exogenous, meaning that it comes from the environment. A receiver with an endogenous stimulus has a goal in mind and scans their environment for a specific stimulus. When the stimulus is exogenous, it originates in the environment. Signals with low signal observability are more likely to be attended to by top-down receivers than bottom-up receivers. However, high observability signals are expected to be noticed by both processing types (Drover et al., 2018). Both signal observability and personal experiences, knowledge and beliefs play a role in processing and interpreting signals. Receivers' beliefs, for instance, structure the experiences and determine what information the receivers will recall from their memory (Taylor & Crocker, 2022).

The literature has started to address the communication of sustainability to spectators using quantitative research designs and focusing on environmental sustainability initiatives. These findings warrant a more in-depth inquiry into how spectators experience and interpret sustainability at a sport event. Accounting for contextual factors through qualitative research design will offer in-depth information to inform event organisers on how to signal their sustainability commitment. We differentiate between top-down perspective of a first author, and the bottom-up perspectives of study participants assuming the average spectator at the sport event is attending the event for reasons other than to intentionally observe sustainability signals. Also, we account for the fact that the attention to and interpretation of signals depends on the beliefs people hold that give meaning and interpretation frame to their environments (Taylor & Crocker, 2022). Therefore, this study addresses the following research questions:

(1) What event-related signals do spectators at a sport event interpret as sustainable according to their bottom-up and top-down perspectives?

(2) How do the spectators' lay beliefs about sustainability align with how they interpret sustainability signals at a sport event?

(3) What are the characteristics of highly observable sustainability signals at a sport event?

6.3. Methodology

Context and Research Design

European Championships Management Sàrl (ECM) merged the European Championships of several sports into the same event (ECM, 2022). The European Championships 2022 took place in Munich, Germany, embracing the values of unity, diversity, inspiration, longevity and sustainability (ECM, 2022). The Local Organising Committee (LOC) issued a sustainability strategy outlining focus areas: the reuse of sport facilities and equipment, carbon-neutral transport and mobility, waste and littering, impact on grassroots and professional sport, inclusion and accessibility and local value creation. The event was expected to gather around 4,700 athletes in 176 medal events and, parallel to sporting competition, offer a festival experience for visitors (LOC European Championships Munich 2022, 2021). With this in mind, the event presented itself as an appropriate setting for studying sustainability in the sport context.

We employed a qualitative single case study design where the emphasis was not on the case itself, but rather the case was instrumental to providing insights into responses from the spectators (Stake, 2005). Our approach was based on the works of Stake (1995) and Merriam (1998) aligned with the constructivist paradigm (Yazan, 2015). It allowed us to highlight multiple perspectives on the case, which is valuable, taking that sustainability means different things to different people (White, 2013), its meaning is contextual must first be discovered (Porter, 2008). Hence, we used case

study to illuminate complex phenomena directly in its context to enable holistic analysis (Tight, 2022). The depth of information about a case rests on the triangulation of the data collection, where multiple data points yield a rich account of the studied phenomenon (Merriam, 1998).

Data Collection

For this study, we used several methods to collect the data:

Document and social media analysis. Prior to the event, we consulted the official sustainability strategy of the event. Based on the strategy, we defined a broad observation guide to focus the participant observation. Although the observation guide served as guidance, the researcher observed the environment also through her view of sustainability. Likewise, we analysed the event's relevant social media accounts, including Instagram, YouTube, Facebook and the official newsletter.

Participant observation. The first author acted as the participant observer, engaging in social situations appropriate for the setting with a dual observer role (Spradley, 1980). Participant observation enables gaining "insights concerning the behaviour, motivations, attitudes and perceptions of people within the culture in question" (Jaimangal-Jones, 2014, p. 42) and has been suggested as a go-to method for event-related research (Jaimangal-Jones, 2014; Mackellar, 2013). The first author attended multiple sporting and cultural events during the EC2022, assuming the role of spectator, festival visitor or participant in a 10k race for the public. She drafted field notes daily that facilitated the reflective practice of features often taken for granted to create a comprehensible account of otherwise hectic social situations (Emerson et al., 2011).

Semi-structured and informal interviews. During the event, we engaged in informal discussions with the event's visitors and representatives of the sponsoring brands, volunteers, entertainers or members of national delegations. After the event, we interviewed 12 spectators in German who resided in Germany (Table 1) throughout September and October 2022. We used a purposive and convenience sampling, asking some interviewees to participate directly at the event, and contacting others using snowballing. Additionally, we interviewed two representatives of the LOC, a communication and a sustainability manager, to better understand the event's sustainability strategy. Semi-structured interviews allowed a link to the signalling theory but left the possibility to probe. Before the interview, the interviewees read the Letter of Information about the study outlining ethical considerations. They verbally consented to the recording of the interview and pseudonymised use of the data.

Table 2

Pseudonym	Age	Residence	Attended event/s	Location
Filipa	31	Munich	Road cycling; Triathlon; BMX; Climbing; Roofs festival	City; Olympic Park; Königsplatz
Fabian	34	Munich	Rowing; 10k race; Roofs festival	Regattastrecke Oberschleißheim; Odeonsplatz
Marina	28	Munich	Mountainbike; Roofs festival	Olympic Park
Ivana	26	Munich	Beachvolleyball	Königsplatz
Katharina	25	Munich	Gymnastics; Roofs festival	Olympic Park; Königsplatz
Joseph	26	Munich	Triatlon; Beachvolleyball; Roofs festival	Olympic Park; Königsplatz
Julia	27	Munich	Table tennis; Athletics; Roofs festival	Audi Dome; Olympic Stadium; Olympic Park
Lukas	23	Munich	Gymnastics	Olympic Stadium
Sebastian	28	Munich	Athletics; Mountainbike; Beachvolleyball, Canoe	Olympic Stadium; Odeonsplatz; Königsplatz; Regattastrecke Oberschleißheim
Saskia	25	Mainz	Athletics	Olympic Stadium
Chia-hao	26	Marburg	Beachvolleyball; Roofs festival; Table tennis	Königsplatz; Olympic Park; Audi Dome
Lina	30	Munich	Road cycling; Climbing	City; Königsplatz

Overview of study participants

Data Analysis

The data analysis and collection ran in parallel until we deemed the interview data held enough information power (Malterud et al., 2016). The first author analysed the data guided by Braun and Clarke's (2006, 2021a) reflective thematic analysis. This approach fully embraced the researcher's background, skills and values in coding and generating themes. That was useful for this study, considering the theoretical distinction between bottom-up and top-down processing of signals and variations in defining sustainability. Interview data were transcribed verbatim and, with fieldnotes, documents and social media posts, managed with MAXQDA.

The analysis started with rereading the data, memoing, and open coding. The coding followed a fluid and organic approach (Braun & Clarke, 2021) and codes were concrete (explicit meaning, reflecting interpreted sustainability signals) and conceptual (abstract concepts, reflecting characteristics of visible signals) aligned with the research questions (Hennink et al., 2017). While coding, we considered a bottom-up and top-down processing dichotomy as outlined in Drover et al. (2018). The first author generated themes that she revisited until the themes gave a coherent and complete representation of the data. In addition to the first author, a researcher focusing on sustainability and strategic management in sport organisations and a Munich resident, the research team consisted of three scholars with expertise in sport events, legacy, and sustainability, among others. The team met several times to discuss the study design and findings. By structuring the data analysis this way, we increased the level of trustworthiness (Guba & Lincoln, 1989; Nowell et al., 2017).

6.4. Findings

We generated four themes (Table 2), which we describe in what follows.

Generated themes and subthemes

Accessibility by public transport

Accessible by bicycle

Themes	Sustainability as environment and efficient resource use	Environmental signals		Social and economic signals		Characteristics of highly visible sustainability signals
		Top-down	Bottom-up	Top-down	Bottom-up	
-		Faci	lities	Inclusio	n	The linkage between event brand and sustainable facilities
_		Use of existing facilities	Use of existing facilities	Free entrance to events and festival	Free entrance to events and festival*	
		Use of provisionally built facilities	Use of provisionally built facilities	Volunteers with disabilities	Place of social encounter*	
als		Use of facilities for	Use of facilities for	Inclusion-focused		
' sigr		multiple purposes	multiple purposes	promotional stands	Inclusion-focused promotional stands	
bility				Accessibility of facilities		
aina				Sign language interpretation		
es/sust				Free entrance to events and festival		
them				Parasport competitions		
iubt				Paraathlete as ambassador		
- (0		Sustainable transportation		Local value production		Alignment of sustainability signals with locally usual efforts
		Multiple events in one place	Multiple events in one place	Local foods and drinks		

Accessibility by public transport

Accessible by bicycle

Stands for promoting local businesses

Sponsor promotion and the usage of sponsor electro cars in logistics	Sponsor promotion and the usage of sponsor electro cars in logistics			
Clean envir	Clean environment		Health and sport promotion	
Waste separation system Digital access to information No excessive marketing	No waste separation system Digital access to information	Free physical activities Use of competition facilities for visitors Unhealthy and/or meat-	Use of competition facilities for visitors* Shared spaces with athletes*	
props	No excessive marketing props	heavy foods	Sport and parasport offerings for	
Deposit system Mainly paper food cutlery and plates	Deposit system	Local sport promotion	children*	
Supply	chain			
Few merchandise products with a sustainability label	Vegetarian food options			
Volunteers' equipment with a sustainable label				
Sustainably-sourced giveaways				
Vegetarian food options				

Theme 1: Sustainability as Environment and Efficient Resource Use

The theme encompasses spectators' definitions of sustainability. Spectators defined sustainability in various ways, ranging from general accounts such as *responsible use of opportunities we are granted* (Ivana) or ... *we only take what we need, and good* (Saskia). Definitions predominantly focused on the environment and several aspects of resource use. As an example, Sebastian illustrates:

So, sustainability for me is that you, um, that you use products or materials, um, that you have, um, somehow consciously, um. And, um, and also being aware of which materials you use and what effects they, um, perhaps had on the environment and other things in the production or in the process until they reach you.

For one of the spectators, Chia-hao, due to his background in environmental engineering, sustainability included triple bottom line and intergenerational equity:

When I hear the word sustainability, um, I immediately think of the definition I learned in my environmental engineering course: the three pillars of sustainability - environment, economy and society - and not depriving future generations of their quality of life. And the saying from a head of tribe in the US: think about those seven generations after you.

With exception of Chia-hao who quoted the triple-bottom line, and Katharina, who referred to the social component the data shows that spectators interpreted sustainability signals regarding the environmental pillar and efficient resource use.

Theme 2: Environmental signals

Theme 2 encompasses environment-related signals the spectators interpreted as sustainable at the event through subthemes focused on facilities, sustainable transportation, clean environment and supply chain considerations.

Facilities. The subtheme describes interpreted event-related sustainability signals regarding existing and provisional facilities. The spectators at the EC2022 regarded the event as sustainable through reference to the facilities created for the Olympic Games in Munich in 1972. The facilities for EC2022 were central to the event's sustainability strategy, and they were either existent, repurposed or temporarily built, which the spectators contrasted to other international sport events:

The (triathlon) course didn't have to be built out of the ground. It was just there and it was used accordingly. (...) it's sustainable from many years of Olympics '72 and the things are still all there. And I think that's really sustainable, because if you look at other sporting events where they create something from scratch and isn't used later... then that's really a huge plus point. (Leni)

Provisional venues were also recognised as potentially consuming energy to build, but this was justified by the possibility of their reuse. Focus on reuse was also put in the context of the public use of event's facilities, highlighting resources rather than possibly other interpretations stemming from the first author, including public health promotion through physical activity or social inclusion:

...theoretically you could have done the public ten-kilometre run two weeks later, and so you just did it in one go on the same day in the afternoon and used the whole infrastructure that was already set up anyway. And that's why I thought it was good. (Fabian)

Sustainable transportation. The subtheme describes interpreted event-related sustainability signals concerning the possibility of reaching the events easily and by using travel means that do not require large amounts of CO₂ output. It also includes the reference to free transportation provided with the event ticket purchase and organisers' use of electro cars for the logistics transport. A focus on public transport in the sustainability strategy was received as a signal by the spectators, albeit an

expected one in Munich. On the free use of public transport for ticket holders, Sebastian commented: ...it's also somehow a classic, because it's also a sustainable aspect, um, that you can also use public transport with your ticket. So that they try to get people to travel by train or bus.

Events in the city were spread out but always in a location that enabled spectators to arrive by public transport or bicycle. The placement of events centrally was interpreted as a sustainability signal: *…I think the locations of the events were very good in terms of being public transportation accessible. But that's Munich thing usually* (Filipa). From the field notes it is visible there were many cyclists in the Olympic Park during the major events so that the existing bike racks could not support all the bicycles at the premises. This is not surprising in Munich, where the infrastructure makes cycling a comfortable and quick transport option. Leni for instance, used a bicycle to travel at different events:

I rode my bike around the city a lot during the week, because when I went to Königsplatz, I often went to the stadium afterwards, because that's where the evening sessions were, and it was really practical to cycle around.

BMW was a prominent sponsor of the event, with its stand prominently located in the Olympic Park and focused on displaying its commitment to sustainability. Nevertheless, BMW's involvement as a sponsor was somewhat controversial because advertising cars was not interpreted positively for sustainability. Filipa commented that ...I can remember it was not the best brands there because I just remember there being a lot of car brands, uh, advertising... On the other hand, the usage of BMW electro vehicles for official transportation at the event was interpreted as a signal towards sustainability:

One thing I noticed, though, were the shuttles, which were electric-powered. I was kind of pleased about that. Well, um, the fact that these shuttles are at

least electric, I thought that was somehow sustainable. Ah, and I just noticed that the, um, shuttle bus was from BMW, and I saw quite a lot of BMW. (Joseph)

Clean environment. The subtheme refers to the event-related sustainability signals that refer to the clean environment achieved through the deliberate actions of the organisers. Positively, spectators noticed that the environment was not cluttered with excessive promotional materials and pompous prompts:

... it wasn't that many posters and unnecessary arrows and so on were put up. Well, I don't think a lot of unnecessary rubbish was produced in that sense, but rather that the people led you and then really stood there and said: "Okay, that's the way". (Lukas).

The organisers relied on providing information via the event app, social media or QR codes. Spectators also highlighted the efficiency and purpose of the event concept that required no excessive waste or resource use beyond what they interpreted were needed for the event. Instead, a thought-through usage of existing resources was interpreted as sustainable:

...it was just different and less rubbish was produced or (...) it was simpler. So it wasn't so excessive, it was just simple and yet somehow beautiful and elegant, and the places were chosen in such a way that the place alone already had such an impact that you didn't have to install so much or add so much, but that the place alone had an effect. (Fabian)

The topic of waste was prominent in the data, in particular, the absence of separated waste bins, a standard in Munich. Katarina expressed her surprise when she wanted to use the bin: ... there was only one bin, well, only the residual waste bin. I think I wanted to throw away a banana peel and, uh, there was no organic waste bin. I was surprised about that.

What contributed to the cleaner environment was a deposit system, which the first author and spectators interpreted as a sustainability signal, yet again, a standard for the events in Munich.

Supply chain. The subtheme describes the interpreted event-related sustainability signals generated from the supply chain characteristics of products used at the event or available for purchase. The field notes revealed that the event organisers put effort into sustainable procurement. For instance, the giveaways at the public 10k race, included water distributed in paper or starch cups, or wooden participation medals from "I Feel Woods" sustainable trophies. These details went under the radar with bottom-up processors. Moreover, the event offered their official merchandise products available in the specialised shops. When visiting the shops, for bottom-up processing spectators it was rather difficult to attend to the signal, as evident from the interviews. The author, however, scanned the products very closely and found it sometimes challenging to find information on the origin of the products and their specificities. The exception to this were products made by Macron, a sponsor of the event that marketed their more sustainable clothing. The brand also sponsored volunteer equipment made from eco-certified materials.

Theme 3: Social and Economic Signals

The theme focuses on interpreted event-related signals regarding inclusion, local value production and health and sport promotion.

Inclusion. Data from the interviews reflected the interpretation of several social aspects, but not necessarily explicitly referring to sustainability. For instance, Leni, when referring to events' accessibility due to their location, also thought about how free events enabled everyone to take part, which should positively affect the sport

promotion. She, however, did not connect sport promotion with sustainability as was the case with the principal author.

... and it's just in the center and accessible for everyone. I think the spectators at the triathlon didn't need a ticket, at the mountain biking either, you could walk by because it's in the open. Um, that's already cool and I think that's how you get people excited about the sport. (Leni)

The social aspects, including services and opportunities for people with disabilities such as the availability of sign language interpreters or an opportunity to volunteer, were not readily interpreted as sustainable. Exceptions are Katharina and Chia-hao, who referred to inclusion when asked to define sustainability. Katharina interpreted sponsors' stands as a signal of event's sustainability efforts, and Chia-hao reported that he explicitly looked for inclusive elements in the event environment, indicating top-down approach: *I noticed barrier-free parking spaces and also, um, barrier-free entrances. And also, a certain wheelchair accessible zone, where you can watch the events. And there were also sign language interpreters for the matches.* (Chia-hao)

EC2022 included some para events, for instance, para canoe. Social media campaign Athletes of 22, where 11 German athletes were followed in preparing for the event, also featured a para-athlete. Integration of the paraevents into the event programme was for the first author a signal towards event's sustainability, yet, the interviewees did not take this aspect into account.

In general, the space in the Olympic Park during the sport events and festival was a place where people of various nationalities, ethnic backgrounds, abilities, ages and roles mingled. The location, free activities, and various types of events facilitated the integrative element of the event. The first author interpreted this as a sustainability signal. The interviewees who expressed their excitement about the

atmosphere and regarded event as a place of encounter did not interpret this as a sustainability signal but rather as a general positive aspect of the event. The event featured the partners' stands promoting various organisations, some of which had a clear social focus, for instance, the initiative Pink Kids, which organised sport events for children whose mothers have breast cancer, or Munich's LGBTQ+ Sport Club, which promotes tolerance and diversity. Spectators with extended definitions of sustainability interpreted their involvement as a sustainability signal, for instance, noting that ...at Königsplatz, I think there were three stands on sustainability and on inclusion. I think there was a stand on, um, equality for the (...) LGBTQ community (Katharina).

Local value production. The subtheme describes the perceived event-related signals that increase economic local value. An emphasis on local value production was most noticeable through sponsors and partners that promoted small local businesses or offered typical Bavarian foods and drinks. Although at most food stands the information about the origin of products was not readily available, the author interpreted traditional foods and drinks as a sustainability signal towards the local supply chain. Also, Chia-hao interpreted this as an element of economic sustainability:

...and at the food stand. I saw a lot of Paulaner beer, so a local brewery and they, of course, they also offered Coke or international drinks. But yes, already, um, a bit of a contribution to the local economy.

Health and sport promotion. The subtheme encompasses sustainability signals related to sport and physical activity promotion as well as other health-related signals such as nutrition. Spectators and volunteers shared the space with athletes in the Olympic Park. This was contrasted to other sport events where the athletes are usually separated from the spectators, creating a physical and symbolic social

barrier. At the EC2022, the integrated space was put in the context of sport promotion by Marina, who was uncertain if this aspect can be described as sustainable:

What I also liked was that, um, a lot of the athletes passed us after the race. So it was quasi so open. (...) Well, I don't know to what extent I would describe it as sustainable, but you had the feeling that you were more on the same level and not as isolated as it was for example, in football. So, that makes the athletes more human and that would motivate me to identify with them or something like that. (...) When I think about it now, if I were a 10-yearold there.

Furthermore, spectators could compete in the various sports in the sport competition for the spectators or a community run. Yet, this was interpreted as a signal towards sustainability only by the author. These physical activity and sport offerings were meant to stimulate people to be more physically active during the event and hopefully beyond. Besides that, most of the food and drinks offerings were typical fast food in line with the Bavarian meat-heavy diet, with healthier options as an exception. The author regarded food options as mostly unhealthy and since it was meat-heavy, unsustainable. Spectators noted the meat-heavy offerings as a negative environmental sustainability aspect but did not connect the health aspect of food offerings with sustainability.

Many partners focused on the local sport or physical activity promotion, some with inclusive mandate. Chia-hao reflected on the German Paralympic Committee Youth stand:

Um, yes, we I have seen in the Olympic Park, there was a small event for children. Um, they sat in, um, wheelchairs and there are many barriers on the terrain.

And then they experience what it's like to, um, sit in a wheelchair and overcome all these barriers. Yes, it was quite a good event.

Theme 4: Characteristics of Highly Visible Sustainability Signals

The theme describes an underlying characteristics of visible signals related to event facilities alignment of local sustainability practices with the actions at the event and the leverage of event ceremonial moments.

Linkage between Event Brand and Sustainable Facilities. Using the existing facilities built for the Olympic Games in 1972 was prominent as the first area in the sustainability strategy and integrated into the event's brand. During the event, through promotional materials in Munich as well as media, the organisers built the event brand with constant reference to the Olympic stadium roofs. All promotional materials featured contours of the roofs that reminded the audience of the Olympic legacy strengthened by the official motto of the event: Back to the Roofs. The accompanying festival was named the Roofs Festival. The event also coincided with the 50th-anniversary celebration of the Olympics in Munich in 1972, around which the organisers built the narrative of the synergy of the past and future. The #BackToTheRoofs was an official hashtag of the event and was used prominently in social media posts that alluded to the longevity of facilities. For instance, the event's social media prominently contrasted images from the Olympic Games in 1972 and their usage today, or presenting before, during and after photos of the provisionally built sport venues. Moreover, the Olympic memorial centre erected in the Olympic Park presented the history of the Munich 1972 Olympic Games, highlighting sustainability concerning the facilities.

Alignment of Sustainability Signals with Locally Usual Efforts. The subtheme describes a characteristic that underlines visible signals related to the local context and its usual sustainability-related practices. When interpreting some sustainability

signals, for instance, accessibility to public transport, facilities in the Olympic Park, or deposit system, some spectators added that this was already a norm in Munich: *When I think about it now, I got my cup in the stadium, which you can return with a deposit. But that's been the standard for years now, that you don't get a disposable cup* (Sebastian), or *But that's, uh, Munich thing usually that you don't see a massive parking with hundreds of cars and everyone going there by car* (Filipa). Likewise, where the sustainability effort was not aligned with what they were used to in the local context, this was interpreted as a negative signal. This was the case with waste separation; in Munich, trash bins usually have separate sections for different types of waste. Although the organisers had a comprehensive waste separation plan that was available by scanning the QR code on the trash bins, it took a watchful eye of a top-down processor to notice this detail.

Ceremonial Moments. The theme describes a characteristic of the visible signal related to the ceremonial moments of the event, more specifically, the award ceremony. The medallists received a plant designed to be planted in the Olympic Park called Champions Garden rather than the usual bouquet or stuffed toy. The campaign was prominently featured in the Olympic Park and on social media and perceived as a signal towards sustainability. For instance, Fabian emphasised:

...what I think everyone noticed was that the athletes who were on the podium didn't get bouquets of flowers, but potted plants that could be planted in the athletes' garden or taken home. Um, so not everyone got a bouquet of flowers, which then somehow dried up after a few days and ended up in the bin.

The symbolic plant and the opportunity to plant it in the garden was unusual for the medal ceremony and received a prominent place within the ceremonial aspect of the sporting competition, where the spectators' attention was directed at the award

ceremony. Some spectators recalled the Tokyo 2020 Olympic Games campaign, where the medals were from recycled electronic waste.

6.5. Discussion

With this study, we aimed to understand how spectators at the EC2022 interpret event-related sustainability signals, how their interpretations align with what they consider to be sustainable and to describe the characteristics of observable signals. Our findings showed that with two exceptions, the spectators defined sustainability related to the environmental component, but not other aspects of sustainability. This aligns with the previous literature that studied different groups (Hill & Lee, 2012; Roy et al., 2015; Simpson & Radford, 2012) and the framing of sustainability in the German context (Fischer et al., 2017). Spectators identified sustainability with environmental sustainability, and therefore, interpretations of sustainability signals at the EC2022 emphasised environmental aspects. This is visible when comparing our interpretations encompassing not only many more signals from our perspective of top-down processors but a wider variety of environmental, social and economic signals. This does not necessarily mean that the spectators did not attend to social or economic signals but did not place them under the concept of sustainability, as we show was the case with some social and economic-related signals. Even when they discussed issues such as the using existing facilities which would be economically sustainable, they interpreted this in the form of environmental sustainability signalling of the event.

Against the background that efficient and conscious resource use and reuse were deemed sustainable, spectators regarded facility management as a positive sustainability signal. First, the organisers featured this prominently as a part of the event's brand reminding spectators through multiple communication mediums of the

Olympic Games 1972 and famous Olympic Park Roofs. The Roofs in the Olympic Park are already a well-known feature of Munich, therefore, the association did not have to be newly introduced. Reminding of the signal is in advertising regarded as less complex and demanding than introducing a new one: familiarity with the signal makes it easier to reach the receiver regardless of their attention level (Moriarty, 1983). Second, broader contextual factors may be at play: the event was held in the run-up to the FIFA World Cup in Qatar, which spurred global interest, not least because of the concerns for the sustainability aspects of the event. The World Cup received worldwide criticism, among other issues, that questioned its sustainability related to its facilities with the potential of becoming another example of a white elephant (Meza Talavera et al., 2019). Our interview data corroborated this, as the spectators contrasted EC2022 with the World Cup and other mega sport events when elaborating on their responses.

The possibility of public transport and bike usage to get to the event sites and the cleanliness of the environment featured prominently as environmental sustainability signals both in bottom-up and top-down approaches. Again, this can be attributed to the strengthened organisational efforts to highlight this, but an underlying reason might be that reported practices were imminent in the spectating experience. Travelling to the event or using the deposit system for drinks made spectators engage first-hand with some of the elements of organisational sustainability strategy, permitting their interpretation as a sustainability signal. If the signal is linked to a situation in which receivers have to engage with it by directing their concentration or actively participating, this may be an effective way to place sustainability signals (Moriarty, 1983). This explains why spectators interpreted a symbolic plant giveaway as a sustainability signal. The award ceremony is a formal and festive occasion where the attention is usually directed at the medallists. In

contrast, supply chain considerations, albeit not always translated successfully from the sustainability strategy, did not materialise as sustainability signals. This could be because the organisers put less effort into ensuring or communicating a more sustainable merchandise supply chain, so the information was not flashed out, but also because purchasing merchandise is not necessarily a focal part of most spectating experiences.

When it comes to social and economic signals, it is visible from the data analysis that spectators did not interpret these signals as sustainable. However, when discussing the event in general, spectators described their experiences and perceptions at the event related to social sustainability impacts such as facilitating social networks and civic pride or raising awareness about disability or other disadvantaged groups (Misener & Mason, 2006; Schulenkorf et al., 2022; Smith, 2009). In particular, the spectators did not interpret or were unsure about various sport-related sustainability signals such as sport development, inclusion through sport or physical activity and healthy lifestyles promotion that sport organisations traditionally attribute to sport events (Misener et al., 2015). The perception of values of sport and physical activity is mentioned as an enabling factor of sport's contribution to sustainable development (Glibo et al., 2022; Commonwealth Secretariat, 2020). In that sense, it seems that sustainability is a framework that, with its current layman's understanding, does not carry the power necessary for laypeople to grasp all the potential positive impacts of a sport event. This questions the guiding utility of the concept, as it may not be able to synchronise the thinking of various social actors about what is desirable and feasible (Brand, 2000). Importantly, this may present an issue when non-experts evaluate the initiatives if their perspectives are limited only to the environmental component of sustainability, the one in which sport events have the most room for improvement (Müller et al., 2021). Therefore, as the laypeople and

experts' sustainability lenses differ, it may be essential to understand the laypeople's context-specific understanding of the concept (Perey, 2015). This knowledge can serve to adapt the communication strategy of the event and use it when deliberating how to use the term "sustainability" and choosing which sustainability aspects to highlight for positive interpretations. Another admittedly more ambitious approach would be to use the sport event as a co-creation platform to align experts' and laypeople's understanding of sustainability. In this way, various groups could communicate about sustainability to create shared frames and concepts (Newig et al., 2013).

The spectators perceived sponsors' and partners' involvement as an integral part of the event, and accordingly, their involvement signalled an organisational commitment to sustainability. Good signals are intentional (Connelly, Certo, et al., 2011), so partnerships and sponsorships at the event should be understood as a potential sustainability signal indicating the need to align the event's sponsors and partners with its sustainability strategy. Otherwise, there is a danger that the event, due to its choice of sponsors, may be accused of greenwashing (Miller, 2017). In that vein, our findings confirmed previous research on sports event sponsorships, highlighting the need to account for sponsor and partner characteristics when considering stakeholders' responses (Ko et al., 2017).

6.6. Conclusion and Directions for Future Research

With this study, we advanced the understanding of spectators' interpretations of event-related sustainability signals and how they align with what they consider sustainable using signalling theory. We noted differences between our top-down, and spectators' bottom-up processing and defining of sustainability. Our interpretations encompassed a wider variety of environmental, social, and economic signals. The

findings showed that spectators defined sustainability through environmental concerns related to resource use. Aligned with that, they linked sustainability at EC2022 to facility management, accessibility via public transport and bike use, and actions that enabled a clean environment. These signals bore some characteristics, namely, they were shared via multiple media channels because of the integration of facility sustainability in the event brand; they were well-aligned with local practices and expectations; and they leveraged moments where the spectator's concentration was focused on the signals. Social and economic-related signals, however, were less prominent and only explicitly regarded as relevant for sustainability by our top-down view and spectators who included social and economic pillars in their definition of sustainability. In particular, spectators, as opposed to authors, could not place sport-related sustainability signals within the sustainability framework.

The limitations of our work present an opportunity for future research. We focused on interpreting signals, which admittedly first require spectators' attention. Yet, the time has passed from event attendance and the interviews, so spectators may have forgotten certain signals they attended to. Future works could focus on the attention phase of processing sustainably signals using real-time methods such as eye-tracking. Likewise, by using the signalling theory from Drover et al. (2018), researchers could tap into the sustainability evaluation of events by quantifying positive and negative signals and their importance for the assessment. A further aspect that requires research attention is the education and awareness-raising aspect, that is, the question of if and how sustainably signals translate to learnings about various aspects of sustainability and subsequently change behaviour.

Practical Implications

Our work can offer several practice recommendations. First, establish how sustainability is understood in the local context and which practices relevant to the

event are considered a norm. For positive interpretations, organisers may want to try to exceed those already established practices. Likewise, a thoughtful approach to using the term sustainability in communication language is needed. Second, integrate sustainability within the event's mission, vision and values and use the event's branding and multiple media channels to highlight this commitment. Third, analyse what aspects of the spectator experience require the spectator's concentration or engagement and integrate sustainability signals there. Lastly, consider the characteristics and presentations of partners and sponsors at the event, as they can also emit sustainability signals.

7. Conclusions

7.1. Theoretical Contribution

Study 1 aimed to understand experts' perspectives on sport's interaction with sustainable development by mapping the interrelations of the identified categories. The findings emphasise the role of partnerships in fostering peaceful and equitable societies through sport. With its universally shared rules, sport was highlighted as a language-free communication means, aiding diplomatic efforts in resolving disputes between nations and individuals. Furthermore, partnerships were deemed relevant to drive technological innovation by leveraging joint resources and assuming shared responsibility between partners. In the context of technology, the study's findings positioned innovation at the intersection of economic benefits and environmental significance, considering entrepreneurship to deploy this innovation. Moreover, Study 1 highlighted the significance of stakeholder involvement and leadership diversity. The lack of robust and low-guality evidence was recognised as a detrimental factor affecting governance for sustainable development. The findings also reflect the belief experts held that sport can play a role in transforming norms and behaviours through social activism. In that sense, experts highlighted the potential of athletes and influential organisations to raise awareness by leveraging their societal position as role models. The findings suggest that this might only be possible if the sport system is perceived as sustainable by those whose norms it aims to change. The study has also shown that establishing transparency in decision-making is crucial for earning the trust of fans, supporters, and the broader public and that integrity scandals and practices that deviate from the lofty

goals of sport undermine their credibility. The focus on profit, which can result in corruption and match-fixing, presented a challenge, as per findings.

Study 2 aimed to explore the consensus-level strategic priorities for sustainable development from the perspective of decision-makers in organisations responsible for governing international sport and how they cluster within the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. Twenty high-priority items were identified and categorised them into four levels of the FSSD: system, success, strategic guidelines, and actions. No item was assigned to the tools level of FSSD, indicating areas where strategic considerations might be lacking. According to the respondents, achieving sustainability requires addressing normative, strategic, and operational aspects. The most pressing is a normative shift where sustainability is embedded within all organisational strategies and actions. Secondly, experts highlighted the strategic, long-term planning of sustainability efforts as opposed to one-off or incidental commitment. Sport events, that is, incorporating sustainability requirements during the bidding phase of sport events were deemed relevant by the experts as an essential sustainability consideration.

Through Study 3, we explain how spectators interpret event-related sustainability signals and how their interpretations align with their understanding of sustainability. The findings demonstrated that spectators predominantly defined sustainability in terms of environmental concerns, particularly concerning the usage of the resources. At EC2022, spectators interpreted sustainability through various environmental-related signals, such as facility management, accessibility through public transportation and bicycles, and initiatives promoting a clean environment. We identified that these signals were disseminated through multiple media channels due to the integration of facility

sustainability within the event's brand, well-aligned with local practices and expectations, and effectively captured spectators' attention. On the other hand, social and economicrelated signals played a less prominent role. Unlike the researchers, Spectators struggled to place sustainability signals related to sports within the broader sustainability framework.

7.2. Managerial Contribution

This thesis offers sport practitioners several recommendations. Although both Study 1 and 2 gathered data from international experts, the research guestion in Study 1 is framed more broadly, making its findings applicable to sport organisations in general. In Study 2, the findings specifically pertain to the sampled organisations, but the recommendations align with general strategic directions for sustainable development. For instance, incorporating sustainability into the mission and vision of an organisation is a recommendation that can be applied to all sport organisations. When making decisions, managers may benefit from a systems thinking approach for analysis and consideration of the environmental, social and economic interactions. In that vein, the systems map we generated in Study 1 can serve as a basis towards more focused and context-specific explorations. To leverage the integrative approach, the systems map can function as a tool for formulating, testing, and implementing various policy options directed towards increasing sustainability for various sport organisations. Also, it can aid the policy integration needed for sustainable development and improve the interaction between sport and other sectors. Concretely, the experts emphasised that by focusing on several mechanisms, sport can strengthen its contribution to sustainable

development through its influence on the economic growth, health and wellbeing, and social inclusion. It can act as a means of communication beyond language and provide visibility to sustainability issues. Governance and integrity issues and safety emerged as important considerations, as well as the environmental issues that need attention in order to make a positive contribution.

Study 2 has shown that sport experts deemed it crucial for organisations to prioritise sustainability. Moreover, any introduced changes should be strategically planned for the long term rather than treated as incidental activities. Sustainability requirements should be integrated into sport events from the initial stages, and event organisers should receive support and expertise in sustainability from their respective sport organisations. The sustainability and legacy of sporting facilities emerged as important considerations when organising sport events, as confirmed by Study 3. The experts who participated in this study emphasised the importance of strategy implementation. It is crucial for managers to act upon policies and measure and evaluate mechanisms to substantiate their claims and foster trust among all stakeholders. While it is challenging to determine the highest priority strategic considerations within the system, success, strategic guidelines, actions, and tools, our research suggests that addressing all categories demonstrates an organisation's holistic commitment to sustainability and recognizes the promotion of sustainable development as a vital managerial responsibility across all levels.

Study 3 provided several practical recommendations for organisers and owners of sport events. Firstly, it is crucial to understand how sustainability is perceived within the local context and identify the practices that are considered the norm for the event.

Moreover, it is essential to carefully consider the use of the term "sustainability" in communication language to ensure it is employed thoughtfully and effectively. Secondly, leveraging the event's branding and utilizing multiple media channels can effectively highlight the commitment to sustainability and raise awareness among participants and attendees. Thirdly, it is important to analyse which aspects of the spectator experience require their attention, and incorporate sustainability signals accordingly. This can enhance spectators' understanding of and engagement with sustainability initiatives during the event. Lastly, it is advisable to assess the characteristics and presentations of event partners and sponsors, as they also have the potential to communicate sustainability signals. By selecting partners and sponsors who align with sustainable practices, the event can further promote sustainability and reinforce its commitment to this cause.

7.3. Limitations and Outlook

Qualitative research approaches allow researcher to go into depth and increase the understanding of the topic of interest. Yet, when compared to more positivist quantitative approaches and their usual markers of quality, the limitations of qualitative approaches are its inability to generate generalisable findings, subjectivity, difficulty in demonstrating the validity and replicating the findings, and its contex-specific focus (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Findings in this thesis are specific to the particular context, time, and participants involved in the study, as well as the researchers involved in interpreting the data. This means that for Studies 1 and 2, even though we tried to recruit a sample as heterogeneous as possible within the purposive sample of decision-makers in sport in

international sport organisations, the findings cannot be generalised. The same is true for the Study 3. However, since they are explorative, our findings can serve as a grounding for research using quantitative methodologies. For instance, to study the effectiveness of the sustainability strategies, future research could use correlational or causational research designs to explore which strategic approaches are the most beneficial to various sustainability aspects in sport organisations.

Social desirability bias is another concern for this type of research. In Study 1 and Study 2 in particular, there is a risk that the study participants expressed what they thought the researcher wanted to hear or that they wanted to present their organisations in a favourable light, thus withholding some of their opinions especially on some more socially unacceptable aspects of the work of their organisations. We tried to counter this by using semi-structured interviewing techniques and probing in places where we deemed there was more than the interviewee was telling. In future studies, it would be beneficial to engage with stakeholders who may not be as directly invested in the organisation's work but can provide a comprehensive perspective, presenting both the positives and negatives, such as athletes or fans. Likewise, other data sources may be used, such as official documents to study the potential policy-implementation gap.

References

- Anagnostopoulos, C., & Winand, M. (2019). Introduction to the Research handbook on sport governance. In M. Winand & C. Anagnostopoulos (Eds.), *Research handbook on sport governance* (pp. 1-9). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Andreff, W., & Szymanski, S. (2006). Introduction: Sport and economics. In W. Andreff &
 S. Szymanski (Eds.). *Handbook on the Economics of Sport*. Edward Elgar
 Publishing.
- Andrews, K. (1997). The concept of corporate strategy. In N. Foss (Ed.), *Resources, Firms, and Strategies: A Reader in the Resource-based Perspective* (pp. 52-68).
 Oxford University Press.
- Bailey, R. (2005). Evaluating the relationship between physical education, sport and social inclusion. *Educational Review*, *57*(1), 71-90. doi:

10.1080/0013191042000274196

Bailey, R., Collins, D., Ford, P., MacNamara, A., Toms, M., Pearce, G. (2010). Participant development in sport: An academic review. Sports Coach UK. <u>http://www.sportni.net/sportni/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2014/06/ParticipantDevelopmentinSport.pdf

- Bailey, R., Hillman, C., Arent, S., & Petitpas, A. (2013). Physical activity: An underestimated investment in human capital?. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 10*(3), 289-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.10.3.289</u>
- Beutler, I. (2008). Sport serving development and peace: Achieving the goals of the United Nations through sport. *Sport in Society*, *11*(4), 359-369. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430430802019227

- Boykoff, J. (2021). Olympic sustainability or Olympian smokescreen. *Nature Sustainability*, *4*(4), 294-295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00710-w</u>
- Boykoff, J. (November 22, 2022). The World Cup in Qatar is a climate catastrophe. <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/the-world-cup-in-qatar-is-a-climate-</u> <u>catastrophe/</u>
- Boykoff, J., & Mascarenhas, G. (2016). The Olympics, sustainability, and greenwashing: The Rio 2016 summer games. *Capitalism Nature Socialism*, *27*(2), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2016.1179473
- Brand, K.-W. (2000). Kommunikation über nachhaltige Entwicklung, oder: Warum sich das Leitbild der Nachhaltigkeit so schlecht popularisieren lässt. *Sowi-onlinejournal*, *1*(2000), 1-17. https://www.sowi-online.de/sites/default/files/brand.pdf
- Brand, K.-W. (2011). Sociological perspectives on sustainability communication. In J.
 Godemann & G. Michelsen (Eds.), Sustainability communication: Interdisciplinary perspectives and theoretical foundation (pp. 55-68). Springer.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *18*(3), 328-352. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(2), 201-216.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846

Breuer, C., Feiler, S., & Rossi, L. (2020). Sportvereine in Deutschland: Mehr als nur Bewegung. Kernergebnisse der 7. Welle des Sportentwicklungsberichts (2017/2018)
sowie ausgewählte Entwicklungen der letzten 15 Jahre. Bundesinstitut für Sportwissenschaft.

https://cdn.dosb.de/user_upload/Sportentwicklung/Dokumente/SEB/SEB_Bericht_A

5_Summary_bf.pdf

Broman, G. I., & Robert, K.-H. (2017). A framework for strategic sustainable development. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *140*, 17-31. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.10.121

- Burgheim, J., Petry, K., & Weinberg, B. (2017). Walk the talk? How the EU and the UN contribute to the development of holistic sport policies. In G. Doll-Tepper, K. Koenen & R. Bailey (Eds.). *Sport, education and social policy*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315404868
- Cabane, C., & Clark, A. E. (2015). Childhood sporting activities and adult labour-market outcomes. *Annals of Economics and Statistics*, *119/120*, 123-148. https://doi.org/10.15609/annaeconstat2009.119-120.123
- Casper, J. M., Pfahl, M. E., & McCullough, B. (2014). Intercollegiate sport and the environment: Examining fan engagement based on athletics department sustainability efforts. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, *7*, 65-91. https://doi.org/http://csri-jiia.org
- Casper, J. M., Pfahl, M. E., & McCullough, B. P. (2017). Is going green worth it? Assessing fan engagement and perceptions of athletic department environmental efforts. *Journal of Applied Sport Management*, 9(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.18666/JASM-2017-V9-I1-7690

- Chandler Jr, A. D. (1969). Strategy and structure: Chapters in the history of the American industrial enterprise (Vol. 120). MIT press.
- Coalter, F. (2007). A wider social role for sport: Who's keeping the score? Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203014615
- Coalter, F. (2013). Sport for development: What game are we playing?. Routledge. ISBN 9780415567039

Cognac, M. (2014). How can sports help to promote youth employment? <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/comment-</u> analysis/WCMS 232712/lang--en/index.htm

- Collins, A., Jones, C., & Munday, M. (2009). Assessing the environmental impacts of mega sporting events: Two options? *Tourism Management*, *30*(6), 828-837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2008.12.006
- Commonwealth Secretariat. (2015). Commonwealth analysis: Sport for development and peace and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. https://thecommonwealth.org/sites/default/files/inline/CW_SDP_2030%2BAgenda.pd f

Commonwealth Secretariat. (2017). Enhancing the contribution of sport to the Sustainable Development Goals.

https://www.sportanddev.org/sites/default/files/downloads/enhancing_the_contributio

n_of_sport_to_the_sustainable_development_goals_.pdf

Commonwealth Secretariat. (2020). *Measuring the contribution of sport, physical education and physical activity to the Sustainable Development Goals.* Commonwealth Secretariat.

- Connelly, B. L., Certo, S. T., Ireland, R. D., & Reutzel, C. R. (2011). Signaling theory: A review and assessment. *Journal of Management*, *37*(1), 39-67. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310388419
- Connelly, B. L., Ketchen, D. J., & Slater, S. F. (2011). Toward a "theoretical toolbox" for sustainability research in marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *39*(1), 86-100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-010-0199-0
- Costanza, R., & Patten, B. C. (1995). Defining and predicting sustainability. *Ecological Economics*, *15*(3), 193-196. https://doi.org/10.1016/0921-8009(95)00048-8
- Dai, J., & Menhas, R. (2020). Sustainable Development Goals, sports and physical activity: the localisation of health-related Sustainable Development Goals through sports in China: A narrative review. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, *13*, 1419-1430. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S257844</u>
- Darnell, S. C., Field, R., & Kidd, B. (2019). *The history and politics of sport-fordevelopment*. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-43944-4
- Day, J., & Bobeva, M. (2005). A generic toolkit for the successful management of Delphi studies. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methodology*, *3*(2), 103-116. Available online at www.ejbrm.com
- Dingle, G. W., & Stewart, B. (2018). Playing the climate game: Climate change impacts, resilience and adaptation in the climate-dependent sport sector. *Managing Sport and Leisure*, *23*(4-6), 293-314. https://doi.org/<u>10.1080/23750472.2018.1527715</u>
- Drover, W., Wood, M. S., & Corbett, A. C. (2018). Toward a cognitive view of signalling theory: Individual attention and signal set interpretation. *Journal of Management Studies*, *55*(2), 209-231. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12282

- Du Preez, E. A., & Heath, E. T. (2016). Determining the influence of the social versus physical context on environmentally responsible behaviour among cycling spectators. *Journal of Sport & Tourism*, 20(2), 123-143. https://doi.org/10.1080/14775085.2016.1227274
- Dufrasne, G. (October 31, 2022). Poor tackling: Yellow card for 2022 FIFA World Cup's carbon neutrality claim Updated. https://carbonmarketwatch.org/publications/poor-tackling-yellow-card-for-2022-fifa-world-cups-carbon-neutrality-claim/

ECM. (2022). European Championships Management Sarl.

- Elkington, J. (2004). Enter the triple bottom line. *The triple bottom line: Does it all add up*, *11*(12), 1-16.
- Elsasser, H., & Bürki, R. (2002). Climate change as a threat to tourism in the Alps. Climate research, 20(3), 253-257. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr020253
- Emerson, R. M., Fretz, R. I., & Shaw, L. L. (2011). *Writing ethnographic fieldnotes*. University of Chicago Press.

EU Working Group on Sport and Economics. (2008). Vilnius Definition of Sport. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/6921402/0/Vilnius_Sport_Definition.xlsx</u> European Commission. (2007). White Paper on Sport. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52007DC0391&from=EN

European Commission. (2011). Communication on EU Policies and Volunteering: Recognising and Promoting Crossborder Voluntary Activities in the EU. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/pdf/doc1311_en.pdf</u>

- European Commission. (2018). Study on the economic impact of sport through sport satellite accounts. <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/865ef44c-5ca1-11e8-ab41-01aa75ed71a1</u>
- European Commission. (2022). Special Eurobarometer 525-Sport and physical activity. European Union.

file:///C:/Users/ge37sev/Downloads/Sport_physical_activity_2022_eb525_summary_ en.pdf

- Ewing, B. T. (1998). Athletes and work. *Economics Letters*, *59*(1), 113-117. https://doi.org/<u>10.1016/S0165-1765(98)00006-8</u>
- FIFA. (n.d.). FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022: Sustainability. https://www.fifa.com/fifa-worldcup-qatar-2022-sustainability
- Fischer, D., Haucke, F., & Sundermann, A. (2017). What does the media mean by 'sustainability' or 'sustainable development'? An empirical analysis of sustainability terminology in German newspapers over two decades. *Sustainable Development*, *25*(6), 610-624. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1681
- Furnham, A. (1988). *Lay theories: Everyday understanding of problems in the social sciences*. Pergamon Press.
- Gaffney, C. (2013). Between discourse and reality: The un-sustainability of mega-event planning. *Sustainability*, *5*(9), 3926-3940. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5093926
- Gardiner, S., Parry, J., & Robinson, S. (2017). Integrity and the corruption debate in sport: Where is the integrity? *European Sport Management Quarterly*, *17*(1), 6-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2016.1259246

- Geeraert, A., & Gauthier, R. (2018). Out-of-control Olympics: Why the IOC is unable to ensure an environmentally sustainable Olympic Games. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, *20*(1), 16-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2017.1302322
- Geeraert, A., Alm, J., & Groll, M. (2014). Good governance in international sport organisations: An analysis of the 35 Olympic sport governing bodies. *International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics*, *6*(3), 281-306.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19406940.2013.825874

- Getz, D. (2017). Developing a framework for sustainable event cities. *Event Management*, 21(5), 575-591. https://doi.org/10.3727/152599517X15053272359031
- Gharajedaghi, J. (2011). Systems Thinking: Managing Chaos and Complexity: A Platform for Designing Business Architecture. Elsevier.
- Giddings, B., Hopwood, B., & O'brien, G. (2002). Environment, economy and society:
 fitting them together into sustainable development. *Sustainable Development*, *10*(4), 187-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.199</u>
- Glibo, I., Misener, L., & Koenigstorfer, J. (2022). Strategic sustainable development in international sport organisations: A Delphi study. *Sustainability*, *14*(16), 9874. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14169874
- Gould, D., & Carson, S. (2008). Life skills development through sport: Current status and future directions. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *1*(1), 58-78. https://doi.org/10.1080/17509840701834573
- Gray, R. (2010). Is accounting for sustainability actually accounting for sustainability and how would we know? An exploration of narratives of organisations and the

planet. Accounting, Organisations and Society, 35(1), 47-62.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2009.04.006

Grix, J., & Carmichael, F. (2012). Why do governments invest in elite sport? A polemic. *International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics*, *4*(1), 73-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/19406940.2011.627358

Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1989). Fourth generation evaluation. Sage Publications.

- Hales, R., & Jennings, G. (2017). Transformation for sustainability: The role of complexity in tourism students' understanding of sustainable tourism. *Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport & Tourism Education*, *21*, 185-194.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2017.08.001
- Hall, C. M. (2012). Sustainable mega-events: Beyond the myth of balanced approaches to mega-event sustainability. *Event Management*, *16*(2), 119-131.
 https://doi.org/10.3727/152599512X13343565268294
- Han, J. H., Nelson, C. M., & Kim, C. (2015). Pro-environmental behavior in sport event tourism: Roles of event attendees and destinations. *Tourism Geographies*, *17*(5), 719-737. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616688.2015.1084037
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591-608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hester, P. T., & Adams, M. K. (2017). Systemic Decision Making. Springer.
- Hill, J., & Lee, H. H. (2012). Young Generation Y consumers' perceptions of sustainability in the apparel industry. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and*

Management: An International Journal, 16(4), 477-491. https://doi.org/10.1108/13612021211265863

- Holden, M., MacKenzie, J., & VanWynsberghe, R. (2008). Vancouver's promise of the world's first sustainable Olympic Games. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, *26*(5), 882-905.
- Hoye, R., Nicholson, M. & Houlihan, B. (2010). *Sport and policy*. Oxford: Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann.

International Olympic Committee. (2020). Olympic Charter.

https://stillmedab.olympic.org/media/Document%20Library/OlympicOrg/General/EN-Olympic-Charter.pdf#_ga=2.267390919.890227836.1613391377-

<u>619177786.1612898387</u>

- Jaimangal-Jones, D. (2014). Utilising ethnography and participant observation in festival and event research. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, *5*(1), 39-55. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEFM-09-2012-0030
- Johnston, P., Everard, M., Santillo, D., & Robèrt, K. H. (2007). Reclaiming the definition of sustainability. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, *14*(1), 60-66. <u>https://doi-org.eaccess.ub.tum.de/10.1065/espr2007.01.375</u>
- Kay, J., & Vamplew, W. (2006). Under the weather: Combating the climate in British sport, *Sport in Society, 9*(1), 94-107. https://doi.org/<u>10.1080/17430430500355832</u>
- Kemp, R., & Martens, P. (2007). Sustainable development: how to manage something that is subjective and never can be achieved?. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 3(2), 5-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2007.11907997</u>

- Kemp, R., Parto, S., & Gibson, R. B. (2005). Governance for sustainable development: moving from theory to practice. *International Journal of Sustainable Development*, 8(1-2), 12-30. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSD.2005.007372
- Kemp, R., Parto, S., & Gibson, R. B. (2005). Governance for sustainable development: Moving from theory to practice. *International Journal of Sustainable Development*, 8(1-2), 12-30. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSD.2005.007372
- Kidd, B. (2008). A new social movement: Sport for development and peace. *Sport in society*, *11*(4), 370-380. https://doi.org/<u>10.1080/17430430802019268</u>
- Ko, Y. J., Chang, Y., Park, C., & Herbst, F. (2017). Determinants of consumer attitude toward corporate sponsors: A comparison between a profit and nonprofit sport event sponsorship. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, *16*(2), 176-186. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1622
- Kopnina, H., & Shoreman–Ouimet, E. (2015). The emergence and development of sustainability. In: H. Kopnina, and E. Shoreman-Ouimet (Eds.), *Sustainability: Key issues (pp. 3-24)*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203109496</u>
- Kosteas, V. D. (2012). The effect of exercise on earnings: Evidence from the NLSY. *Journal of Labor Research*, 33(2), 225-250. https://doi.org/<u>10.1007/s12122-</u> 011-9129-2
- Laing, J., & Frost, W. (2010). How green was my festival: Exploring challenges and opportunities associated with staging green events. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *29*(2), 261-267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.10.009

- Larson, C. L., Reed, S. E., Merenlender, A. M., & Crooks, K. R. (2016). Effects of recreation on animals revealed as widespread through a global systematic review. *PloS one*, *11*(12), e0167259. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167259
- Lechner, M. (2009). Long-run labour market and health effects of individual sports activities. *Journal of Health Economics*, *28*(4), 839-854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.05.003
- Levermore, R., & Beacom, A. (2009). Sport and development: Mapping the field. In R.
 Levermore & A. Beacom (Eds.). Sport and international development (pp. 1-25).
 Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230584402
- Li, L. (2021). Contesting sustainability of mega-events in Chinese metropolises: A narrative and practise review. *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, *3*, 687315. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsc.2021.687315
- Lindsey, I., & Darby, P. (2019). Sport and the Sustainable Development Goals: Where is the policy coherence? *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, *54*(7), 793-812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1012690217752651</u>
- Linstone, H. A., & Turoff, M. (2002). Introduction. In: M. Turoff & H.A. Linstone (Eds.). *The Delphi method-techniques and applications.* Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237035943_The_Delphi_Method_Techniq ues_and_Applications

Local Organising Committee European Championships Munich 2022. (2021). *The path to sustainability for the European Championships Munich 2022 Pre-Event Report.*

- Long, J., & Caudill, S. (1991). The impact of participation in intercollegiate athletics on income and graduation. *The Review of Economics and Statistics, 73*(3), 525-531. https://doi.org/10.2307/2109580
- Lozano, R. (2008). Envisioning sustainability three-dimensionally. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *16*(17), 1838-1846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2008.02.008</u>

Mackellar, J. (2013). Participant observation at events: theory, practice and potential. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, *4*(1), 56-65. https://doi.org/10.1108/17582951311307511

- Mair, J., & Laing, J. H. (2013). Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: The role of sustainability-focused events. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, *21*(8), 1113-1128.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2012.756494
- Mair, J., & Smith, A. (2021). Events and sustainability: Why making events more sustainable is not enough. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 29(11-12), 1739-1755.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2021.1942480
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, *26*(13), 1753-1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Marshall, J. D., & Toffel, M. W. (2005). Framing the elusive concept of sustainability: A sustainability hierarchy. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39(3), 673-682. https://doi.org/10.1021/es040394k
- Matthew, R. A., & Hammill, A. (2009). Sustainable development and climate change. International affairs, 85(6), 1117-1128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-</u> 2346.2009.00852.x

- McCullough, B. P., Pfahl, M. E., & Nguyen, S. N. (2016). The green waves of environmental sustainability in sport. *Sport in Society*, *19*(7), 1040-1065. https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2015.1096251
- McCullough, B., & Kellison, T. (2016). Go green for the home team: Sense of place and environmental sustainability in sport. *Journal of Sustainability Education*, *11*(2). https://doi.org/http://www.susted.com/wordpress/content/go-green-for-the-hometeam-sense-of-place-and-environmental-sustainability-in-sport_2016_02/
- McCullough, B.P., & Kellison, T.B. (2017). An introduction to environmental sustainability and sport. In B.P. McCullough & T.B. Kellison (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of sport and the environment* (pp. 1-8). Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315619514

- McDonagh, J., Ólafsdóttir, R., Weir, L., Mahon, M., Farrell, M., Conway, T., McDonagh, J., & Tuulentie, S. (2020). Nothing is sustainable the way it is reflections on local sustainability perceptions and interpretations. In S. T. John McDonagh (Ed.), *Sharing knowledge for land use management: Decision-making and expertise in Europe's northern periphery*. Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781789901894.00015
- McDonald, S., & Oates, C. J. (2006). Sustainability: Consumer perceptions and marketing strategies. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 15(3), 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.524
- Mebratu, D. (1998). Sustainability and sustainable development: Historical and conceptual review. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, *18*(6), 493-520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-9255(98)00019-5</u>

- Mensah, J. (2019). Sustainable development: Meaning, history, principles, pillars, and implications for human action: Literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *5*(1), 1653531. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2019.1653531
- Merriam, S. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education. Jossey-Bass.
- Meza Talavera, A., Al-Ghamdi, S. G., & Koç, M. (2019). Sustainability in mega-events: Beyond Qatar 2022. Sustainability, 11(22), 6407. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11226407

Miller, T. (2017). Greenwashing sport. Routledge.

Mintzberg, H., Ahlstrand, B., & Lampel, J. B. (1998). Strategy safari. Pearson UK.

- Mir, R., & Watson, A. (2000). Strategic management and the philosophy of science: The case for a constructivist methodology. *Strategic Management Journal*, 21(9), 941-953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0266(200009)21:9<941::AID-SMJ141>3.0.CO;2-D</u>
- Misener, L., & Mason, D. S. (2006). Creating community networks: Can sporting events offer meaningful sources of social capital? *Managing Leisure*, *11*(1), 39-56. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606710500445676
- Misener, L., Taks, M., Chalip, L., & Green, B. C. (2015). The elusive "trickle-down effect" of sport events: Assumptions and missed opportunities. *Managing Sport and Leisure*, 20(2), 135-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/23750472.2015.1010278
- Moon, P., Bayle, E, & François, A. (2021). Assessing international sport federations' sustainability practices: Toward integrating sustainability in their main sports events. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living* 3: 752085.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2021.752085

- Morgan, H., Bush, A., & McGee, D. (2021). The contribution of sport to the Sustainable Development Goals: Insights from Commonwealth Games Associations. *Journal of Sport for Development*, *9*(2), 14.
- Moriarty, S. E. (1983). Beyond the hierarchy of effects: A conceptual framework. *Current Issues and Research in Advertising*, *6*(1), 45-55. https://doi.org/10.1080/01633392.1983.10505331
- Mountjoy, M., Rhind, D. J., Tiivas, A., & Leglise, M. (2015). Safeguarding the child athlete in sport: A review, a framework and recommendations for the IOC youth athlete development model. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *49*(13), 883-886. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-094619
- Müller, M. (2015). (Im-) Mobile policies: Why sustainability went wrong in the 2014 Olympics in Sochi. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, *22*(2), 191-209.
- Müller, M., Wolfe, S. D., Gaffney, C., Gogishvili, D., Hug, M., & Leick, A. (2021). An evaluation of the sustainability of the Olympic Games. *Nature Sustainability*, *4*(4), 340-348. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00696-5
- Newig, J., Schulz, D., Fischer, D., Hetze, K., Laws, N., Lüdecke, G., & Rieckmann, M. (2013). Communication regarding sustainability: Conceptual perspectives and exploration of societal subsystems. *Sustainability*, *5*(7), 2976-2990. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5072976
- Nilsson, M., Griggs, D., & Visbeck, M. (2016). Policy: Map the interactions between Sustainable Development Goals. *Nature News*, *534*(7607), 320. <u>https://doi/10.1038/534320a</u>

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Okoli, C., & Pawlowski, S. D. (2004). The Delphi method as a research tool: An example, design considerations and applications. *Information & Management*, *4*2(1), 15-29. <u>10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002</u>
- Ordway, C., & Opie, H. (2017). Integrity and corruption in sport. In N. Schulenkorf & S. Frawley (Eds.), *Critical issues in global sport management* (pp. 38-63). Routledge.
- Parkin Hughes, C. (2017). *The conceptualisation of sustainability by tomorrow's managers* University of Plymouth.
- Penedo, F. J., & Dahn, J. R. (2005). Exercise and well-being: A review of mental and physical health benefits associated with physical activity. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *18*(2), 189-193. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001504-200503000-00013.
- Perey, R. (2015). Making sense of sustainability through an individual interview narrative. *Culture and Organisation*, 21(2), 147-173. https://doi.org/10.1080/14759551.2013.819354
- Pernecky, T. (2013). Events, society, and sustainability: Five propositions. In M. L. Tomas Pernecky (Ed.), *Events, society and sustainability: Critical and contemporary approaches* (pp. 33-47). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203134535
- Pescott, O. L., & Stewart, G. B. (2014). Assessing the impact of human trampling on vegetation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental evidence. *PeerJ*, 2, e360. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.360</u>

Piggin, J., Souza, D. L. D., Furtado, S., Milanez, M., Cunha, G., Louzada, B. H., ... & Tlili, H. (2019). Do the Olympic Games promote dietary health for spectators? An interdisciplinary study of health promotion through sport. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, *19*(4), 481-501.

https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2018.1562484

- Porter, T. B. (2008). Managerial applications of corporate social responsibility and systems thinking for achieving sustainability outcomes. Systems Research and Behavioral Science: The Official Journal of the International Federation for Systems Research, 25(3), 397-411. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.902
- Pratt, M., Norris, J., Lobelo, F., Roux, L., & Wang, G. (2014). The cost of physical inactivity: Moving into the 21st century. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(3), 171-173. https://doi.org/<u>10.1136/bjsports-2012-091810</u>
- Rabl, A., & De Nazelle, A. (2012). Benefits of shift from car to active transport. *Transport Policy*, *19*(1), 121-131. https://doi.org/<u>10.1016/j.tranpol.2011.09.008</u>
- Reid, A., & Petocz, P. (2006). University lecturers' understanding of sustainability. *Higher Education*, *51*(1), 105-123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-004-6379-4
- Reid, A., Petocz, P., & Taylor, P. (2009). Business students' conceptions of sustainability. Sustainability, 1(3), 662-673. https://doi.org/10.3390/su1030662
- Robinson, J. (2004). Squaring the circle? Some thoughts on the idea of sustainable development. *Ecological Economics*, *48*(4), 369-384.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2003.10.017

Rowe, G., & Wright, G. (2001). *Expert Opinions in Forecasting: The Role of the Delphi Technique*. In: Armstrong J.S. (Ed) Principles of Forecasting. International Series in Operations Research & Management Science (pp. 125-144), vol 30. Springer. https/10.1007/978-0-306-47630-3_7

Roy, D., Verplanken, B., & Griffin, C. (2015). Making sense of sustainability: Exploring the subjective meaning of sustainable consumption. *Applied Environmental Education & Communication*, *14*(3), 187-195.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1533015X.2015.1067581

- Sachs, J. D., Schmidt-Traub, G., Mazzucato, M., Messner, D., Nakicenovic, N., & Rockström, J. (2019). Six transformations to achieve the sustainable development goals. *Nature Sustainability*, 2(9), 805-814. <u>https://doi/10.1038/s41893-019-0352-9</u>
- Santini, D., & Henderson, H. (2021). The winners and losers in the race to environmental sustainability: A ranking of Summer Olympic International Federation progress [version 1; peer review: 1 approved with reservations], *Emerald Open Research, 3*(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.35241/emeraldopenres.14195.1</u>
- Sato, C. F., Wood, J. T., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2013). The effects of winter recreation on alpine and subalpine fauna: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one*, *8*(5), e64282. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0064282</u>
- Saxena, S., Van Ommeren, M., Tang, K. C., & Armstrong, T. P. (2005). Mental health benefits of physical activity. *Journal of Mental Health*, *14*(5), 445-451. doi:

10.1080/09638230500270776

Schmidt, C. W. (2006). Putting the earth in play: Environmental awareness and sports. Environmental Health Perspectives, 114(5), A286–A295. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.114-a286

- Schulenkorf, N., Schlenker, K., Rammal, H., Peachey, J. W., & Morgan, A. (2022). *Managing and leveraging events: Business and social dimensions*. Routledge.
- Schulenkorf, N., Sherry, E., & Rowe, K. (2016). Sport for development: An integrated literature review. *Journal of Sport Management*, *30*(1), 22-39.

https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2014-0263

- Selliaas, A. (January 22, 2024). No one cares about Qatar anymore. https://www.playthegame.org/news/no-one-cares-about-qatar-anymore/
- Simpson, B. J. K., & Radford, S. K. (2012). Consumer perceptions of sustainability: A free elicitation study. *Journal of Nonprofit & Public Sector Marketing*, 24(4), 272-291. https://doi.org/10.1080/10495142.2012.733654
- Skene, K. R. (2021). No goal is an island: The implications of systems theory for the Sustainable Development Goals. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 23(7), 9993-10012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-01043-y</u>
- Slaper, T. F., & Hall, T. J. (2011). The triple bottom line: What is it and how does it work. *Indiana Business Review*, *86*(1), 4-8.
- Smith, A. (2009). Theorising the relationship between major sport events and social sustainability. *Journal of Sport & Tourism*, *14*(2-3), 109-120. https://doi.org/10.1080/14775080902965033
- Spaaij, R. (2009). The social impact of sport: Diversities, complexities and contexts. *Sport in Society*, *12*(9), 1109-1117. <u>https://doi/10.1080/17430430903137746</u>
- Spence, M. (1973). Job market signaling. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *87*(3), 355-374. https://doi.org/https://www.jstor.org/stable/1882010
- Spradley, J. (1980). Participant observation. Wadsworth Inc Fulfillment.

Stake, R. (1995). The art of case study research. SAGE Publications.

- Stake, R. (2005). Qualitative case studies. In N. D. Y. Lincoln (Ed.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Sage.
- Stewart, B., Nicholson, M., Smith, A., & Westerbeek, H. (2004). Australian sport: Better by design? The evolution of Australian sport policy. Routledge.
- Tainio, M., Andersen, Z. J., Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J., Hu, L., de Nazelle, A., An, R., ... & de Sá, T. H. (2021). Air pollution, physical activity and health: A mapping review of the evidence. *Environment International*, *147*, 105954.

doi:10.1016/j.envint.2020.105954

Taylor, S. E., & Crocker, J. (2022). Schematic bases of social information processing.
In T. E. Higgins, P. C. Herman & M. P. Zanna (Eds.). Social cognition: The Ontario Symposium Volume 1 (pp. 89-134). Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003311386

- Thibault, L. (2009). Globalisation of sport: An inconvenient truth. *Journal of Sport Management*, 23(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.23.1.1
- Thompson, A., Lachance, E. L., Parent, M. M., & Hoye, R. (2023). A systematic review of governance principles in sport. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 23(6), 1863-1888. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2022.2077795
- Tight, M. (2022). Designing case studies. In U. Flick (Ed.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research design* (pp. 399-413). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781529770278
- Tölkes, C. (2018). Sustainability communication in tourism–A literature review. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 27, 10-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2018.04.002

- Tölkes, C. (2020). The role of sustainability communication in the attitude–behaviour gap of sustainable tourism. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, *20*(1), 117-128. https://doi.org/10.1177/1467358418820085
- Tölkes, C., & Butzmann, E. (2018). Motivating pro-sustainable behavior: The potential of green events—a case-study from the Munich Streetlife Festival. *Sustainability*, *10*(10), 3731. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10103731
- Trail, G. (2015). Introduction to environmental sport management In B. McCullough (Ed.), *Introduction to environmental sport management* (pp. 81-101). Forwarding Sport Sustainability, LLC.
- Trail, G. (2016). *Marketing sustainability through sport*. Sport Consumer Research Consultants LLC. .
- Trail, G. T., & McCullough, B. P. (2017). Marketing sustainability through sport: The importance of target market insights. In *Routledge handbook of sport and the environment* (pp. 134-148). Routledge.
- Trail, G. T., & McCullough, B. P. (2021). A longitudinal study of sustainability attitudes, intentions, and behaviors. *Sustainability Science*, 16, 1503-1518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-021-00954-7
- Trendafilova, S., & McCullough, B. P. (2018). Environmental sustainability scholarship and the efforts of the sport sector: A rapid review of literature. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *4*(1), 1467256. https://doi.org/<u>10.1080/23311886.2018.1467256</u>
- Trendafilova, S., J. Ross, W., Triantafyllidis, S., & Pelcher, J. (2022). Tokyo 2020 Olympics sustainability: An elusive concept or reality? *International Review for the*

Sociology of Sport, *0*(0), 10126902221110157.

https://doi.org/10.1177/10126902221110157

- Trendafilova, S., Pelcher, J., Graham, J., & Ziakas, V. (2021). The ebbs and flows of green waves: Environmental sustainability in Grand Slam tennis. *Sport, Business* and Management: An International Journal. https://doi.org/10.1108/SBM-09-2020-0090
- UN. (2022). Sport as an enabler of sustainable development: resolution / adopted by the General Assembly. <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3997029</u>
- UNESCO. (2017). Kazan Action Plan. Sixth International Conference of Ministers and Senior Officials Responsible for Physical Education and Sport (MINEPS VI). SHS/2017/5REV. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259362
- UNFCCC. (2015). Sports for Climate Action Framework.
 - https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Sports_for_Climate_Action_Declaration_ and_Framework_0.pdf
- United Nations Office on Sport for Development and Peace. (2015). Sport and the Sustainable Development Goals. An Overview Outlining the Contribution of Sport to the SDGs.

https://www.un.org/sport/sites/www.un.org.sport/files/ckfiles/files/Sport_for_SDGs_finalversion9.pdf

United Nations. (2015). *Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable* Development. A/RES/70/1

https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20S ustainable%20Development%20web.pdf

- Vrondou, O., Dimitropoulos, P. Gaitanakis, L. (2019). International sports bodies application of ecological sustainability mechanisms affecting sport tourism related natural environment. In V. Katsoni & M. Segarra-Oña (Eds.), *Smart tourism as a driver for culture and sustainability, Springer proceedings in business and economics* (pp. 481-502). Springer.
- Waardenburg, M., & Nagel, S. (2019). Social roles of sport organisations: developments, contexts and challenges. *European Journal for Sport and Society*, *16*(2), 83-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16138171.2019.1622203</u>
- Waas, T., Hugé, J., Verbruggen, A., & Wright, T. (2011). Sustainable development: A bird's eye view. *Sustainability*, *3*(10), 1637-1661. https://doi.org/10.3390/su3101637
- Walshe, N. (2008). Understanding students' conceptions of sustainability. *Environmental Education Research*, *14*(5), 537-558. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620802345958
- Warburton, D. E., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *Cmaj*, *174*(6), 801-809. https://doi.org/<u>10.1503/cmaj.051351</u>
- Washington, H. (2015). Is 'sustainability' the same as 'sustainable development'? In: H.
 Kopnina, and E. Shoreman-Ouimet (Eds.), *Sustainability: Key issues (pp. 359-376)*.
 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203109496
- White, M. A. (2013). Sustainability: I know it when I see it. *Ecological Economics*, *86*, 213-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.12.020
- Whyte, P., & Lamberton, G. (2020). Conceptualising sustainability using a cognitive mapping method. *Sustainability*, *12*(5), 1977. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12051977

Wicker, P. (2018). The carbon footprint of active sport tourists: An empirical analysis of skiers and boarders. *Journal of Sport & Tourism*, 22(2), 151-171. https://doi.org/10.1080/14775085.2017.1313706

Wicker, P. (2019). The carbon footprint of active sport participants. *Sport Management Review*, 22(4), 513-526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2018.07.001

Wong, I. A., Wan, Y. K. P., Huang, G. I., & Qi, S. (2021). Green event directed proenvironmental behavior: An application of goal systems theory. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, *29*(11-12), 1948-1969.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1770770

World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future. <u>http://www.ask-force.org/web/Sustainability/Brundtland-Our-Common-Future-1987-2008.pdf</u>

World Sailing. (2016). Sustainability Agenda 2030.

https://www.sailing.org/tools/documents/SustainabilityAgenda2030-[23247].pdf

Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-</u> <u>3715/2015.2102</u>

Appendices

Study 1

Study 2





Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy

ISSN: (Print) (Online) Journal homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/tsus20

Understanding the nexus of sustainable development and sport: the systems thinking perspective

Iva Glibo & Joerg Koenigstorfer

To cite this article: Iva Glibo & Joerg Koenigstorfer (2023) Understanding the nexus of sustainable development and sport: the systems thinking perspective, Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 19:1, 2240664, DOI: 10.1080/15487733.2023.2240664

To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2023.2240664

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group



6

View supplementary material

đ	
Е	

Published online: 08 Aug 2023.



🕼 Submit your article to this journal 🗗



 \mathbf{O} View related articles 🗹



View Crossmark data 🗹

RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS (Check for updates

Taylor & Francis

Taylor & Francis Group

Understanding the nexus of sustainable development and sport: the systems thinking perspective

Iva Glibo (b) and Joerg Koenigstorfer (b)

Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany

ABSTRACT

This study aims to explore how international sport experts make sense of sport's interaction with sustainable development. We adopted the interpretivist lens, combining the viewpoints of identified experts with the systems thinking approach. We conducted 29 semi-structured interviews with higher management decision-makers in international sport organizations and used an inductive approach for theory building to analyze the data and the systems map to show the various interrelations of the categories that were identified. The systems map offers a visualization of perceived causal connections that stem directly from the interviews with the experts. The map contains 58 variables, including nine themes and 49 categories, which are connected via 112 causal links, indicating the interconnected structure. The themes "environment," "social inclusion," "economic growth," and "health and wellbeing" represent outcomes of sport, while "visibility," "safety," "communication means," "educational tools," and "governance and integrity" are mechanisms of how sport can interact with sustainable development. The systems map presents a tool for understanding the complexity of relationships between key variables at play that can help policymakers, practitioners, and researchers when formulating, testing, and implementing various policy options directed toward increasing sustainability of sport stakeholders.

ARTICLE HISTORY

Received 21 November 2022

Accepted 20 July 2023

KEYWORDS

Physical activity: expert interviews; systems map; physical education; sport organizations

Introduction

The role of sport as a potential enabler for sustainable development is acknowledged in the United Nations Agenda 2030 (UN 2015). The UN (2015) regards sport as a contributor to development and peace, tolerance and respect, empowering women and young people alongside sport's benefits to health, education, and social inclusion.¹ Sustainable development "meets the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (WCED 1987, 23). The Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) reach their full potential with "mutually reinforcing actions" and "minimizing the trade-offs" (Nilsson, Griggs, and Visbeck 2016, 320). Furthermore, due to the complexity of sustainable development policy setting and implementation planning and the segregation of policy space between actors responsible for different sustainability aspects, "only integrated thinking across all fields can deliver the appropriate practical elements for a meaningful sustainable outcome" (Skene 2021, 10005).

In previous work, authors have explored sport organizations' policy coherence with the SDGs (e.g., Dai and Menhas 2020; Lindsey and Darby 2019; Moustakas and Işık 2020), reflected on the utility of sport for achieving the SDGs (Morgan, Bush, and McGee 2021), evaluated the sustainability of mega sport events (Müller et al. 2021), and conceptually positioned sport within sustainable development (Bjørnarå et al. 2017; Salvo et al. 2021). Also, the regulative elements of the SDGs have been studied in international sport organizations. For example, Moon, Bayle, and François (2021) outlined five approaches to sustainability that international sport federations have implemented. Santini and Henderson (2021) and Vrondou, Dimitropoulos, and Gaitanakis (2019) focused on environmental sustainability policies and actions and concluded that international sport federations have had relatively low engagement with environmental practices. Morgan, Bush, and

CONTACT Joerg Koenigstorfer 🖾 joerg.koenigstorfer@tum.de 🖃 Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Technical University of Munich, Georg-Brauchle-Ring 60/62, 80992 Munich, Germany

Supplemental data for this article can be accessed online at https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2023.2240664.

^{© 2023} The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. The terms on which this article has been published allow the posting of the Accepted Manuscript in a repository by the author(s) or with their consent.

McGee (2021) provided the state of affairs in 62 Commonwealth Games Associations. The findings indicate that the associations perceived themselves as relevant players when contributing to the SDGs through gender equality, health, and education. Still, their efforts seemed disintegrated and incidental, indicating the need for a more planned and systemic approach.

In the area of Sport for Development and Peace (SDP), Svensson and Woods (2017) found that most organizations were committed to promoting education and life skills. In review articles, several authors identified important limitations of previous SDP studies (e.g., Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe 2016; Whitley, Massey, Camiré, Blom et al. 2019; Whitley, Massey, Camiré, Boutet et al. 2019). Two important limitations were the myopic understanding of SDP programs and the lack of consideration of microand macro-level actors. To address SDP programs more broadly and to account for the issue of transfer of individual-level change to societal impact, Massey et al. (2015) used systems thinking embedded into the structural, attitudinal, and transactional model of peacebuilding (Ricigliano 2012). They highlighted that building relationships among more relevant people facilitates change and using the systems-thinking approach avoids isolationist, top-down, and neo-colonial approaches. The authors invited SDP scholars and practitioners to use systems thinking to combat individualistic and linear approaches to SDP toward meaningful broad-level change. Blom et al. (2021) used the same grounding to explore the process of how coaches of SDP programs go through structural, attitudinal, and transactional change through SDP training and curriculum implementation. The findings indicated that the coaches initially changed their attitude toward the concepts relevant for SDP curriculum. As the coaches started to develop relationships with participants and participants engaged with the SDP concepts, transactional change occurred, followed by an indication of structural change in schools and community. Whitley, Massey, and Wilkison (2018, 116) developed the "systems theory of youth development through sport for traumatized and disadvantaged youth." They demonstrated that the most important system-wide aspects of development include youth embodiment of competitive and physical aspects of activities and a new relationship with their social environment. Moreover, a development-focused environment, which supports the growth of a person rather than an athlete, and a process of positive community development were key considerations in youth development through sport.

In contrast to the previous studies that have often focused on environmental sustainability or

peacebuilding processes, we aim to reveal the collective viewpoints of relevant actors through systems thinking to study the broad role of sport for sustainable development. Using an interpretive stance, we seek to explore how experts in the field understand sport's interaction with sustainable development by mapping the stated interrelations of the identified categories across SDP as well as traditional grassroots and elite sport. This understanding is relevant for research when generating hypotheses for in-depth inquiries and for practice when identifying potential cause-effect relationships for formulating and implementing strategies for sustainable development.

Literature review

Sustainability and the systems-thinking perspective

Sustainability is both an intermediate and long-term integrative and adaptive process of meeting social, economic, and environmental imperatives from local to global (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005). The challenge is to simultaneously address them to benefit from their positive interactions (Morton, Pencheon, and Squires 2017). Core requirements must include context-specific considerations (Nilsson, Griggs, and Visbeck 2016) and embrace diversity in different ways of governing to respect sustainability principles. Sustainability implementation should be met with precaution due to the complexity of the world and the interdependence of sustainability-pursuing actions. Likewise, the implementation must consider inevitable tradeoffs and strive to minimize them (Nilsson, Griggs, and Visbeck 2016). To deal with this level of complexity, policymakers require tools that ease managing the governance processes (Reynolds et al. 2018; Weinstein, Turner, and Ibáñez 2013).

Systems thinking emerged from systems theory and although it initially reflected the functionalist paradigm, interpretive approaches found their place (Barton et al. 2004). Some authors have distinguished between hard and soft systems thinking, with the former focusing on goal achievement, and the latter focusing on learning (e.g., Bosch et al. 2007). Interpretivism-oriented systems thinking emphasizes holism, inclusiveness, and meaning resulting from the social construction of actors rather than objects with objective existence (Ehrenfeld 2008). With this perspective, sustainable development is socially constructed and based upon subjective organizational realities. In other words, its meaning is "context-dependent and must first be discovered through local and collaborative stakeholder discussions" (Porter 2008, 402).

Functions of systems thinking

The systems-thinking perspective proposes a shift from myopic, analytical approaches to a holistic approach (Gharajedaghi 2011). It addresses complexity through interdependent variables and uses reductionism (deconstructing) as well as constructivism (rebuilding the problem into a whole), sees the problem as not reduced to its elements, and aims to understand problems of all sizes, complexity, and disciplines (Hester and Adams 2017). The systems-thinking perspective assumes that observable events and patterns stem from hidden systemic structures and mental models. Furthermore, systems thinking offers a language of terms that helps to understand complexity (Monat and Gannon 2015), including interconnections, feedback, and self-organization (Williams 2017). Interconnections relate to interconnections of actors at various scales in social, economic, and ecological systems (Williams 2017). Feedback presents "a return on the information about the status of the process" (Monat and Gannon 2015, 20), whereas self-organization refers to the "tendency of a system to develop structures or patterns without the intervention of a designer or central plan" (21). Lastly, systems thinking provides a set of tools for graphical presentation that balances between presenting elements essential for understanding the system and the simplicity needed to understand it (Sterman 2000).

Systems-based approaches are particularly helpful when there is high interconnectedness between actors and sustainability concerns, and when there is a need for adaptive capacity within organizations (Williams et al. 2017), as seen in sports. Here, systems thinking allows for the display of positive and negative outcomes, which helps avoid a myopic view of sustainable development. In the present study, we use systems thinking to understand sport's perceived interaction with sustainable development by mapping the interrelations of expert-identified categories.

Methodology

Design and data-collection procedure

Expert interviews have been regarded as one of the main qualitative data-gathering techniques for system modeling (Kim and Andersen 2012). To assemble the data for the present study, we used semi-structured systematizing expert interviews (Bogner and Menz 2009). The interviews allowed us to explore experts' mental models, that is, their interpretive knowledge, consisting of subjective perceptions of reality, viewpoints, or perspectives (Kim and Andersen 2012). Interpretivist knowledge is

often implicit; it can be elicited through abstraction and systematization (Bogner and Menz 2009).

We considered the views of experts in international sport. We defined experts in relation to our research context and their "social representativity" (Bogner and Menz 2009, 50), meaning that they were engaged in societally relevant work in international sport organizations. We purposefully targeted individuals who occupied higher management paid or voluntary decision-making positions, had experience in developing and implementing agendas and policies regarding sustainable development, and were still active at the time when the interviews were conducted. With these inclusion criteria, we aimed to ensure that the experts had the process knowledge obtained through their direct involvement, practical experience, and, most importantly, interpretive knowledge (Bogner and Menz 2009). The organizations' international character was reflected in their global, continental, or multinational level of operation.

The semi-structured interviews were undertaken between May and December 2020 via online video-communication platforms and were part of a larger research project (Glibo, Misener, and Koenigstorfer 2022). Before the interview, all experts received the interview schedule through email. They provided consent to record the session after they were granted confidentiality. We transcribed the recordings and upon request sent them to the respective experts for validation. Interviews were conducted in English and ranged in length between 20 and 90 minutes. The interview schedule contained three sections: background information on the expert, details on the role of the organization in the context of sustainable development and the SDGs, sustainable and positive and detrimental development-related occurrences in sport.

Experts

Twenty-nine experts engaged with 27 organizations participated in the study (Table 1). We used the typology of International Non-Governmental Sport Organizations (INGSOs) adapted from Geeraert, Alm, and Groll (2014) to categorize the organizations. Twenty-four experts were engaged with INGSOs, particularly sport-governing bodies, sport event-governing bodies, special task bodies, and representative bodies. Four experts were involved with intergovernmental organizations and one expert represented a National Non-Governmental Organization (NGO) included in the study due to its international mandate. Twenty-two organizations operated on a global level, and most participants were males with paid positions. Experts

Table 1. Information on experts.

Pseudonym	Gender	Engagement		Country of organization's		
			Origin	Type of organization	headquarter	Scope
Saga	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Representative Body	Sweden	Continental/regional
Katherine	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Representative Body	Switzerland	Global
Marko	М	Voluntary	Europe	INGSO Representative Body	Sweden	Continental/regional
Isaiah	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Monaco	Global
Andrea	F	Voluntary	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Germany	Global
Kai	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Denmark	Global
Jean Pierre	М	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Germany	Global
Vasiliki	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Greece	Global
Andrea	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Denmark	Global
Bob	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Germany	Global
Ana	F	Voluntary	Americas	INGSO Special Task Body	New Zealand	Global
Amalia	F	Voluntary	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Switzerland	Global
Elisa	F	Paid	Europe	INGSO Event Governing Body	Switzerland	Global
Ashton	Μ	Paid	Americas	INGSO Event Governing Body	US	Global
Robert	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Event Governing Body	Germany	Global
Luca	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Switzerland	Continental/regional
Vanessa	F	Paid	Oceania	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Ireland	Global
Pierre	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Hungary	Global
Garvit	Μ	Paid	Asia	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Switzerland	Global
Jack	Μ	Paid	Europe	INGSO Sport Governing Body	UK	Global
Jürgen	М	Voluntary	Europe	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Monte Carlo	Global
Leo	Μ	Paid	Americas	INGSO Sport Governing Body	Switzerland	Global
Obi	Μ	Paid	Africa	Intergovernmental organization	Nigeria	Continental/regional
Hugo	Μ	Paid	Europe	Intergovernmental organization	Belgium	Continental/regional
David	М	Paid	Africa	Intergovernmental organization	Cameroon	Continental/regional
Jess	F	Paid	Europe	Intergovernmental organization	UK	Global
Ursula	F	Voluntary	Europe	National NGO with international mandate	Germany	National level with international mandate
Mario	М	Paid	Europe	INGSO Special Task Body	Belgium	Global

F: female; M: male; INGSO: International Non-Governmental Sport Organization; NGO: Non-Governmental Organization.

were engaged with their respective organizations for approximately 9.5 years at the time of the interview with average sport-management experience of approximately 19.7 years.

Data analysis

We used Creswell's (2007) data-analysis spiral and followed an inductive approach for theory building to analyze the data. We determined the analysis unit based on the individual mental maps and proceeded with a process proposed by Eker and Zimmermann (2016) for analyzing purposive text data for systems although, model-building, comparatively, our approach was more interpretive. The MAXQDA Software facilitated the data analysis. A systems map is a standard systems-thinking representation of causal relationships expressed in mental maps. It consists of variables connected by arrows, indicating the causal - positive or negative - relationships between them (Sterman 2000). We produced the systems map using the Vensim PLE Software.

The coding was done as follows. First, we used open coding to identify the subcodes. We identified 221 subcodes, which we later axially coded and aggregated into 49 higher-level categories. Then, from these 49 categories, we further created nine themes to finalize the coding tree representing the outcomes and mechanisms of sustainable development in and through sport. Every theme emerged from its categories and contained relationships. To develop the systems map, we identified the causal links between the categories that emerged directly from the mental maps of experts (Eker and Zimmermann 2016); the process is documented in the list of relationships in the Supplementary Material associated with this article. We used a fluid and organic coding approach, that is, we revisited coding until we felt that the coding tree gave a coherent and complete representation of the data (Braun and Clarke 2021). This enabled us to produce the systems map.

Considerations for choosing this coding approach included the characteristics of the experts who participated in the study. Each expert was interviewed individually, and their input was complementary rather than conflicting, so we treated the data on a group level in the initial coding step (Turner, Kim, and Andersen 2013). The interviews were semi-structured, which gave the experts and a researcher a degree of freedom to step outside the interview guide to address issues they felt were relevant.

The data were collected by the first author and analyzed by a research team of two persons. The interpretive lens allowed us to become part of the process as we facilitated interviews and made sense of the data. Consequently, our final map is based on the data, but also on our interpretations (Hatch and Yanow 2003). The principal researcher is a



Figure 1. Systems map on the relation between sport and sustainable development.

fourth-year doctoral candidate with six years of practical experience in the international sport and sport for development sectors. The second author, an experienced sport-management scholar well versed in sustainability topics, was a critical friend throughout the phases of study design, data gathering, and data analysis. Through multiple meetings, especially with respect to data analysis, we discussed the coding and themes to arrive at a final systems map (Nowell et al. 2017).

Findings

The systems map (Figure 1) contains nine themes and 49 categories connected via 112 causal links. Sample statements for all categories and links can be found in the Supplementary Material. The themes "environment," "social inclusion," "economic growth," and "health and wellbeing" represent the outcomes of sport. The themes "governance and integrity," "educational tool," "visibility," "safety," and "communication means" can be considered as mechanisms for sport's interaction with sustainable development.

Environment

Some experts described sport's facets of waste production and travel-related carbon footprint, contributing to environmental damage and climate change.² For instance, Ursula highlighted, "I think sport feels the pressure especially regarding environment and climate change because sport has a lot of traveling, flying everywhere." By contrast, some experts emphasized positive aspects (e.g., active travel). For instance, Sebastien noted that "there are lots of initiatives, anti-littering, constructing sport infrastructure that is positive. So, for me, this is the future, and with all this active mobility like [backcountry] skiing and cycling and walking we see...all of those CO_2 [carbon-dioxide]-free modes of transport that can contribute to a climate-friendly approach."

Several of our respondents believed that building sustainable sport infrastructure could decrease the negative environmental impact of sport or reduce safety concerns. Some experts emphasized that constructing sustainable infrastructure could positively interact with the role-model perception of sport organizations, while it might at the same time increase public costs. There was also in the minds of some respondents the idea that they could facilitate the building of social networks and reduce inequality by providing a place to practice sport to almost everyone interested in finding such a place. For example, Saga said, "sustainable cities and communities are also related to how infrastructure has been built, whether it is functional and designed as part of the overall cities and of course sport can bring people together...Meeting at sport events, bring them to the clubs and streets, so that's a way of strengthening communities." Moreover, some experts believed that sustainable sourcing could be positively linked to the environment, contribute to sport organizations' role-model function, and reduce inequalities along the supply chains.

Social inclusion

Several respondents claimed that sport can support social inclusion because of its capacity to reduce inequalities by attracting children to school, its potential for empowerment, its ability to educate via the promotion of values and soft skills, and its role in advancing health and wellbeing. Vanessa highlighted, "of course, sport clubs can work on that by bringing people together, reduce segregation and through the educational value of sport, it can bring people out of marginalization and projects for the homeless...So, there are the indirect sports for development aspects."

On a broad societal level, the findings reflect the belief that sport can strengthen national identity, pride, and cohesion. Some of the experts argued that establishing social networks could serve as a reconciliation and diplomatic tool that contributes to peaceful and equitable societies, and that networking can positively relate to the awareness-raising aspect of sustainable development, which can increase social inclusion. On the negative side, discrimination and suppression were perceived as potential causes of the increase in societal inequality. For instance, David referred to the history in which sport was used to suppress and dominate the colonized areas in Africa and noted that "we should not be naïve, sport is not only about creating peace and friendship; it also creates conflicts and fights and long-term divisions."

Economic growth

Some experts believed that sport causes public spending by building sport infrastructure. At the same time, they noted that sport can be a potentially positive cost-benefit intervention because it can increase public health and wellbeing. Several respondents regarded sport as a relevant employment and volunteering sector, potentially improving work-related skills. They appreciated it as a driver of the consumption products and services and provides a setting for innovation and entrepreneurship. The latter can also take a role in preventing environmental damage, as Jack expressed it:

With things like motorsport, even some marine sports like us, and even in the certain sense cycling; I think some of the innovation that we see...The amount of money invested at a top end of our sport can be disseminated for the much wider economy and much wider industry. So, it is like a Formula One type of analogy...If they can make their engines 1% more efficient and in five years this gets applied to all new cars being built, this has got a much bigger impact.

Health and wellbeing

Some experts highlighted that practicing sport can improve health and wellbeing through physical and mental health benefits. However, several respondents mentioned the possibility of adverse outcomes caused by aggression, violence, and doping. Such outcomes can be avoided or reduced by improving governance and the integrity of stakeholders in sport. Saga reflected on the negative aspects and observed "sports injuries are a health problem, or harassment and gender-based sexual violence. Still a lot of things that exist in sport; we have to solve them in sport together with the right partners like governments, police."

Governance and integrity

Some of the experts emphasized the need for alignment with the human-rights agenda. Implementing agenda-driven good governance practices can positively affect stakeholder involvement and leadership in sport organizations, eventually promoting diversity. The focus on profit, however, several respondents highlighted, could lead to corruption and match-fixing and jeopardize the credibility of sport and its potential uses in awareness-raising about sustainability. Vanessa commented on factors that could hinder sustainable development: "I think the integrity aspect, the corruption in some sports that have put it into kind of black market." Beliefs and dispositions such as a panacea attitude, which implies that sport can be a solution to all sustainability problems, or ignorance of sustainability were seen to negatively influence the governance and integrity of sport. Further expressed negatives included the lack of an evidence base for sport policy or indications of low quality or insufficient resources for implementing sustainability-enhancing actions.

Educational tool

Respondents saw sport as a potential educational tool for the purpose of sustainable development. Some experts highlighted that practicing sport can teach values and soft skills and may thus, in the long run, contribute to peaceful and equitable societies. They regarded it as a channel and context for empowerment and education about sustainability that could serve as a form of physical literacy and lead to better health and wellbeing. For instance, some respondents drew attention to its ability to attract attention and bring children to school and increase their capacity to learn. They further saw physical education as an essential part of the educational system in general and a relevant setting for using sport for educational purposes. In this vein, Ana highlighted: "in PE [physical education], you reinforce other elements such as tolerance, fair play, justice, and how to understand, for example, the weather changes...Why the hygiene is important, why we need to hydrate, why we need to eat properly, why we need the whole team to feel okay."

Visibility

Some experts highlighted that due to the interest that sport creates, sport could provide visibility and raise awareness about sustainable development. This, in turn, they claimed, could contribute to social inclusion, lower travel-related carbon footprint, and improve protection of the environment in general, as well as facilitate alignment with the human-rights agenda. Several respondents emphasized that awareness could be raised via athletes or sport organizations that act as role models through sustainable practices. They found the latter to be particularly true when sustainable sourcing is implemented and when sustainable sport infrastructure is built. Linked to awareness raising on disability, Robert posited:

If you are active, you can change attitude towards disability...We have done some stunning research on people who were at the Paralympic Games in London 2012. One of three people changed their attitude towards disability...We realized that we could really contribute to...social inclusion. What we realized is that aligning with the SDGs we can amplify our message to more people.

Negative aspects include the lack of credibility that undermines public opinion of sport organizations and influences their role to promote sustainable development, according to some experts. Furthermore, they expressed that the promotion of unhealthy practices linked to sport spectatorship and the display of negative societal occurrences, including discriminatory behaviors, are negative influences on sport's role in creating visibility for sustainable development.

Safety

Some experts regarded safety as relevant for sport's role in sustainable development. For example, it has been argued that climate change increases the prevalence of very hot days, which can make physical activity potentially harmful to one's personal health. Also, sport infrastructure can create health hazards. Aggression and violence sometimes seen in sport, findings highlighted, can be an issue for personal safety, too. Isaiah, for example, stated the following:

At the beginning in the camp, they couldn't have football games, it was impossible. Because through football the refugees got aggressive...Because the psychological being of refugees was so sensitive that this was harming the situation rather than bringing them together or making them feel better.

Communication means

Because it can be practiced without speaking the language of the opponent or teammate, the experts considered sport as a means of communication. Andrea stated that "we are trying to bring in people of different agendas and cultural backgrounds and I think that sport can really be a door opener." Sport as a communicative tool can work at both individual (personal) and (inter)national levels.

Discussion

The goal of this study has been to increase our understanding of perceived relationships, mechanisms, and outcomes as a basis for transformation in the context of sport and sustainable development. Via expert interviews, we explored several mechanisms that emerged from the data analysis and their interconnections. In what follows, we briefly discuss these findings against the state of the art of the literature.

Theoretical and managerial implications

Partnerships were included in the SDGs as the seventeenth goal. Authors who grounded their work in SDP (e.g., Warner et al. 2020) and explored the policies of international sport organizations (Santini and Henderson 2021) identified partnerships as a driver for sustainable development. More precisely, Moon, Bayle, and François (2021) found that partnerships with NGOs and consultancies can raise the capacity of international sport federations to engage in sustainable development. Our findings place partnerships as an element of achieving peaceful and equitable societies through sport. As a foundation for sustainable development, peace needs international cooperation to set standard norms based on dialogue as well as excluding hierarchy and authority between partners (Glasbergen 2007; Sachs et al. 2019). According to our findings, sport, with its universally shared rules, could facilitate resolution of countries' disputes through diplomatic efforts and act as a non-language means of communication between individuals. The examples of international sport diplomacy have been seen through "ping-pong diplomacy," but also on the individual level in specifically designed sport programs that enable reconciliation. Moreover, partnerships in sport can support technological innovation. These are underpinned by joint resource commitment and responsibility that can be commercial and employ market mechanisms to promote more sustainable practices (Glasbergen 2007).

Stakeholder involvement and leadership diversity emerged as relevant factors in the present study. The need for more stakeholder involvement problematizes the evidence on international sport organizations' limited engagement with the public (Santini and Henderson 2021). In sustainable development efforts, stakeholder engagement is essential because sustainability cannot be designed and imposed top-down (Kuenkel et al. 2021; Sachs et al. 2019). Further, stakeholder engagement is required to create trust and cohesion and to reinforce network connections to foster the collective action that facilitates a sense of ownership (Kuenkel et al. 2021). Hence, there is a need to create governance that supports dialogue and consultation to address different interests, including planetary health (Kuenkel 2019). Stakeholder engagement must also include diversity considerations as a source of learning and a "resource base for adaptation and reorganization" (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005, 15). The lack of leadership diversity in sport organizations has been reported (Geeraert, Alm, and Groll 2014) and leadership is relevant for the success of SDP interventions where the features of leadership (e.g., supportive leadership) and youth leadership are drivers of success (Whitley, Massey, Camiré, Boutet et al. 2019). Kuenkel et al. (2021, 58) see diversity in "thought, viewpoints, background and experience" as a necessary consideration for creating collective intelligence for governance that is not only representative but able to balance private and shared interests.

The extant literature on sustainable development transformations regards innovation as a crucial sustainability driver (e.g., Kuenkel 2019). The findings of this study place innovation between economic gains and environmental relevance in the context of technology and treat entrepreneurship as a form of its deployment. Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe (2016) identified the latter as an underdeveloped area of inquiry. The debates on innovation for sustainability extend beyond technological remit (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005; Linnér and Wibeck 2021) and the importance of its cross-sectorial transferability (Sachs et al. 2019). Innovation should also be addressed at the system level to consider "new linkages, new knowledge, different rules and roles and often new organizations" (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005, 22) as well as economic alternatives that steer away from the traditional growth models (Kuenkel 2019). According to the experts interviewed for this study, innovation and entrepreneurship are related to partnerships and meaningful collaborations that can improve innovative and entrepreneurial efforts and outcomes in sport. In the same vein, Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe (2016) suggested collaborations between economists and other social scientists to explore innovative aspects toward strengthening livelihoods of disadvantaged people through sport.

The absence of a strong evidence base and/or low quality of evidence was identified as a negative influence on governance for sustainable development. Indeed, sustainable development as a continuous learning process requires research-informed decision-making facilitated by shared objectives, criteria, tradeoff rules, and indicators to measure progress toward sustainable development (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005). The quality of the research and the reporting is a concern. This is in line with SDP-focused research that demonstrates that the low rigor and the lack of reported details in published work often make a quality appraisal difficult (Whitley, Massey, Camiré, Blom et al. 2019; Whitley, Massey, Camiré, Boutet et al. 2019). Besides the concern for quality of evidence, Kemp, Parto, and Gibson (2005, 22) warn that "sustainability also needs means of spurring and guiding appropriate action." Thus, sport-system actors must allocate resources for the implementation of sustainable development practices, which, according to our findings, present an expert-perceived limitation. Santini and Henderson (2021) also found the lack of finances to be a barrier when it comes to environmental sustainability in international sport organizations.

Our findings show that some experts believed that sport can change norms and behaviors through social activism (see also Sachs et al. 2019). By using its societal position, athletes and sport organizations were identified as role models to raise awareness and "explain the ethics of sustainable development, promote grass-roots activism and community participation, shareholder activism and fair-trade consumer movements" (Sachs et al. 2019, 812). This is in line with already-existing initiatives (e.g., UNFCCC 2018, Principle 5). However, evidence on the role-modeling potential of athletes refers mostly to physical activity and sport participation (Mutter and Pawlowski 2014) with some exemptions such as exploration of the potential of athletes and media to support inclusion and sustainable development (Carty et al. 2021) and human rights (Schwab 2018). Still, research on the influence of sporting role models on the full scope of sustainability (e.g., sustainable consumption) is lacking. Also, there has been a paucity of research into the influence of sport's perceived credibility on its function as a role model. Our findings suggest that this might only be possible if the sport system is perceived as sustainable by those whose norms it aims to change, whereas creating and enabling contexts, in which negative societal occurrences are displayed to broader audiences, may negatively influence sport's power in creating positive social change.

Education through physical education and other forms of sport provision (e.g., SDP; Kidd 2008) is regarded as a setting for learning about sustainability, empowerment, and acquiring values and soft skills (e.g., Cohen 2005). Education aspects of sport provision have already been addressed extensively through both SDP research (e.g., Lyras and Peachey 2011; Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe 2016) and practical work by SDP grassroots organizations (e.g., Svensson and Woods 2017). Morgan, Bush, and McGee (2021) report that Commonwealth Games Associations perceived their efforts toward sustainable development to be closely linked to physical education and sport in school and how it can facilitate learning about SDGs, adoption of physical education in school curricula, and high-quality vocational or higher education of sport professionals. The hope expressed by our experts aligns with previous findings that physical education and SDP programs could support awareness-raising and learning of sustainable behaviors, as well as acquiring life and soft skills to facilitate social inclusion and employability (Baena-Morales et al. 2021; Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe 2016).

Governance and integrity emerged as one of the main ways that the sport system can facilitate sustainable development. A similar finding was reported by Santini and Henderson (2021) in their exploration of environmental policies of international sport federations. Good governance principles such as transparency, representation, and accountability are regarded as a challenge (Geeraert, Alm, and Groll 2014). In the sustainable development literature (e.g., Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005), transparency in particular has been emphasized as a crucial element of decision-making for sustainability due to the need for public engagement. As sustainability is an adaptive, context-specific, and multi-dimensional dynamic process, and "surprise is inevitable" (Kemp, Parto, and Gibson 2005, 16), the decisions must be openly communicated. If sport organizations want to increase their sustainability efforts and use their platform to increase public buy-in for sustainability, the increase in transparency of decision-making is crucial for gaining the trust of fans, supporters, and the wider public. In that regard, the focus on profit leading to corruption and match-fixing surfaces as problematic. It clashes with traditional, noncommercial values of sport (e.g., Olympic values) and leads to the perceived lack of credibility and hence influences public opinion about sport organizations. The credibility is affected by integrity scandals and practices that are not in line with perceived sport goals (e.g., health).Indeed, there are also sport spectatorship cultures that promote unhealthy lifestyles (Piggin et al. 2019).

Most themes that were identified in the present study already feature in published research. For example, several outcomes of sport have already been identified such as the environment, social inclusion, economic growth, and health and wellbeing (e.g., Bailey et al. 2013; Bernard et al. 2021; Coalter 2007; Spaaij 2009). However, the novelty of the current work is reflected in the integration of themes across SDP and traditional grassroots and elite sport - referring to both the practicing of sport and the management of sport. This holistic perspective is essential considering the expanded scope of the SDGs. It can facilitate policy coherence by finding synergies and incoherencies that can enhance or hinder the contribution of sport to sustainable development (Lindsey and Darby 2019). For instance, our findings highlight partnerships as a driver of innovation and entrepreneurship. This does not only concern technological innovations, but also new governance solutions that foster peaceful and equitable societies through sport. Stakeholder trust emerged as both important and problematic: important because stakeholder trust seems to be necessary for the public buy-in of sustainable innovations and problematic because of the lack of good governance in sport organizations. Namely, the lack of transparency can negatively influence public perception and trust in sport organizations and, concurrently, their potential to serve as role models for sustainability. Moreover, low-level evidence in research (i.e., high risk of biases) was perceived as a hindrance to the assessment of sport's impact on sustainable development.

Conclusions

A systems map is inevitably a simplification of a more complex world. The completeness of the systems map was determined by the participating experts and researchers who coded the data. We recruited experts from various organizations and with different gender and geographic backgrounds to account for diversity, but the sample is evidently Europe-centric. Future research should include experts with balanced geographic or ethnic backgrounds when following the interpretive systems-thinking approach. Also, future research should be more specific in terms of stakeholder differences in mechanisms and outcomes as well as the identification of stakeholder practices (e.g., whether managing sport or practicing sport is under consideration).

Despite these limitations, the findings can be helpful as a starting point toward encouraging other researchers to follow the integrative approach. Caution, however, must be vocalized in terms of the generalization of the map without examining the context-specific circumstances and temporal and spatial considerations (Nilsson, Griggs, and Visbeck 2016). The present study is limited in the sense that we only considered the perspectives of decision-makers in governing international sport organizations. Future studies should also consider other sport actors' opinions such as coaches, club managers, and sport-league representatives. Still, the systems map can help researchers and practitioners understand the sport system regarding its contribution to sustainable development as well as inspire researchers and practitioners about what variables to consider when formulating and testing relationships.

Notes

- 1. In agreement with the European Sports Charter, we define sport as "all forms of physical activity which, through casual or organized participation, aim at expressing or improving physical fitness and mental wellbeing, forming relationships or obtaining results in competitions at all levels" (Council of Europe 2021, Article 2).
- 2. The names mentioned in the text are pseudonyms used to protect the identity of the respondents.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the experts who participated in this study for their commitment to research and sustainability. Thanks also go to Kyle Bunds, the anonymous reviewers, and the participants of the European Sport Management Conference 2022 PhD Student Seminar for their feedback that helped to improve the quality of our work.

Disclosure statement

The authors have no competing interests to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

Funding

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Actions (823815).

ORCID

Iva Glibo () http://orcid.org/0000-0002-6871-8655 Joerg Koenigstorfer () http://orcid.org/0000-0001-6159-2861

References

- Baena-Morales, S., D. Jerez-Mayorga, P. Delgado-Floody, and J. Martínez-Martínez. 2021. "Sustainable Development Goals and Physical Education: A Proposal for Practice-Based Models." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 18 (4): 1. doi:10.3390/ijerph18042129.
- Bailey, R., C. Hillman, S. Arent, and A. Petitpas. 2013. "Physical Activity: An Underestimated Investment in Human Capital?" *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 10 (3): 289–13. doi:10.1123/jpah.10.3.289.
- Barton, J., M. Emery, R. Flood, J. Selsky, and E. Wolstenholme. 2004. "A Maturing of Systems Thinking? Evidence from Three Perspectives." *Systemic Practice and Action Research* 17 (1): 3–36. doi:10.1023/B:SPAA.0000013419.99623.f0.
- Bernard, P., G. Chevance, C. Kingsbury, A. Baillot, A. Romain, V. Molinier, T. Gadais, and K. Dancause. 2021. "Climate Change, Physical Activity and Sport: A Systematic Review." *Sports Medicine* 51 (5): 1041–1059. doi:10.1007/s40279-021-01439-4.
- Bjørnarå, H., M. Torstveit, T. Stea, and E. Bere. 2017. "Is There Such a Thing as Sustainable Physical Activity?" *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports* 27 (3): 366–372. doi:10.1111/sms.12669.
- Blom, L., R. Hilliard, L. Gerstein, L. Judge, O. Vasiloff, J. Ballesteros, and J. Johnson. 2021. "Tajik Coaches' Experiences in a Sport for Development Program Using Systems Theory: A Longitudinal Investigation." *Managing Sport and Leisure* 2021: 1–21. doi:10.1080/23750472.202 1.2020676.
- Bogner, A., and W. Menz. 2009. "The Theory-Generating Expert Interview: Epistemological Interest, Forms of Knowledge, Interaction." In *Interviewing Experts*, edited by A. Bogner, B. Littig, and W. Menz, 43–80. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bosch, O., C. King, J. Herbohn, I. Russell, and C. Smith. 2007. "Getting the Big Picture in Natural Resource Management—Systems Thinking as 'Method' for Scientists, Policy Makers and Other Stakeholders." Systems Research and Behavioral Science 24 (2): 217– 232. doi:10.1002/sres.818.
- Braun, V., and V. Clarke. 2021. "One Size Fits All? What Counts as Quality Practice in (Reflexive) Thematic Analysis?" *Qualitative Research in Psychology* 18 (3): 328–352. doi:10.1080/14780887.2020.1769238.
- Carty, C., D. Mont, D. Restrepo, and J. Salazar. 2021. "WeThe15, Leveraging Sport to Advance Disability Rights and Sustainable Development." *Sustainability* 13 (21): 11738. doi:10.3390/su132111738.
- Coalter, F. 2007. A Wider Social Role for Sport: Who's Keeping the Score? London: Routledge.
- Cohen, M. 2005. "Sustainable Consumption American Style: Nutrition Education, Active Living and Financial Literacy." International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology 12 (4): 407–418. doi:10.1080/13504500509469650.
- Council of Europe. 2021. Recommendation CM/Rec(2021)5 of the Committee of Ministers to Member States on the Revised European Sports Charter. Strasbourg: Council of Europe.

https://rm.coe.int/recommendation-cm-rec-2021-5-0 n-the-revision-of-the-european-sport-cha/1680a43914.

- Creswell, J. 2007. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dai, J., and R. Menhas. 2020. "Sustainable Development Goals, Sports and Physical Activity: The Localisation of Health-Related Sustainable Development Goals through Sports in China: A Narrative Review." *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy* 13: 1419–1430. doi:10.2147/ RMHP.S257844.
- Ehrenfeld, J. 2008. "Sustainability Needs to Be Attained, Not Managed." *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy* 4 (2): 1–3. doi:10.1080/15487733.2008.11908016.
- Eker, S., and N. Zimmermann. 2016. "Using Textual Data in System Dynamics Model Conceptualization." Systems 4 (3): 28. doi:10.3390/systems4030028.
- Geeraert, A., J. Alm, and M. Groll. 2014. "Good Governance in International Sport Organisations: An Analysis of the 35 Olympic Sport Governing Bodies." *International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics* 6 (3): 281–306. doi:10.1080/19406940.2013.825874.
- Gharajedaghi, J. 2011. Systems Thinking: Managing Chaos and Complexity: A Platform for Designing Business Architecture. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Glasbergen, P. 2007. "Setting the Scene: The Partnership Paradigm in the Making." In *Partnerships, Governance and Sustainable Development*, edited by P. Glasbergen, F. Biermann, and A. Mol, 1–25. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Glibo, I., L. Misener, and J. Koenigstorfer. 2022. "Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study." *Sustainability* 14 (16): 9874. doi:10.3390/su14169874.
- Hatch, M., and D. Yanow. 2003. "Organization Theory as an Interpretive Science." In *The Oxford Handbook of Organization Theory*, edited by H. Tsoukas, and C. Knudsen, 63–87. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hester, P., and M. Adams. 2017. Systemic Decision Making: Fundamentals for Addressing Problems and Messes. Cham: Springer.
- Kemp, R., S. Parto, and R. Gibson. 2005. "Governance for Sustainable Development: Moving from Theory to Practice." *International Journal of Sustainable Development* 8 (1–2): 12–30. doi:10.1504/IJSD.2005.007372.
- Kidd, B. 2008. "A New Social Movement: Sport for Development and Peace." *Sport in Society* 11 (4): 370– 380. doi:10.1080/17430430802019268.
- Kim, H., and D. Andersen. 2012. "Building Confidence in Causal Maps Generated from Purposive Text Data: Mapping Transcripts of the Federal Reserve." System Dynamics Review 28 (4): 311–328. doi:10.1002/sdr.1480.
- Kuenkel, P. 2019. *Stewarding Sustainability Transformations: An Emerging Theory and Practice of SDG Implementation.* Cham: Springer.
- Kuenkel, P., E. Kühn, D. Stucker, and D. Williamson. 2021. Leading Transformative Change Collectively: A Practitioner Guide to Realizing the SDGs. London: Routledge.
- Lindsey, I., and P. Darby. 2019. "Sport and the Sustainable Development Goals: Where is the Policy Coherence?" *International Review for the Sociology of Sport* 54 (7): 793-812. doi:10.1177/1012690217752651.
- Linnér, B., and V. Wibeck. 2021. "Drivers of Sustainability Transformations: Leverage Points, Contexts and

Conjunctures." *Sustainability Science* 16 (3): 889–900. doi:10.1007/s11625-021-00957-4.

- Lyras, A., and J. Peachey. 2011. "Integrating Sport-for-Development Theory and Praxis." *Sport Management Review* 14 (4): 311–326. doi:10.1016/j.smr.2011.05.006.
- Massey, W., M. Whitley, L. Blom, and L. Gerstein. 2015. "Sport for Development and Peace: A Systems Theory Perspective on Promoting Sustainable Change." *International Journal of Sport Management and Marketing* 16 (1–2): 18–35. doi:10.1504/IJSMM.2015.074921.
- Monat, J., and T. Gannon. 2015. "What is Systems Thinking? A Review of Selected Literature Plus Recommendations." *American Journal of Systems Science* 4: 11–26. doi:10.5923/j.ajss.20150401.02.
- Moon, P., E. Bayle, and A. François. 2021. "Assessing International Sport Federations' Sustainability Practices: Toward Integrating Sustainability in their Main Sports Events." *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living* 3: 752085. doi:10.3389/fspor.2021.752085.
- Morgan, H., A. Bush, and D. McGee. 2021. "The Contribution of Sport to the Sustainable Development Goals: Insights from Commonwealth Games Associations." *Journal of Sport for Development* 9: 14. https://jsfd.org/2021/09/01/ the-contribution-of-sport-to-the-sustainable-developmen t-goals-insights-from-commonwealth-games-associations.
- Morton, S., D. Pencheon, and N. Squires. 2017. "Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and their Implementation: A National Global Framework for Health, Development and Equity Needs a Systems Approach at Every Level." *British Medical Bulletin* 124 (1): 81–90. doi:10.1093/ bmb/ldx031.
- Moustakas, L., and A. Işık. 2020. "Sport and Sustainable Development in Botswana: Towards Policy Coherence." *Discover Sustainability* 1 (1): 12. doi:10.1007/s43621-020-00005-8.
- Müller, M., S. Wolfe, C. Gaffney, D. Gogishvili, M. Hug, and A. Leick. 2021. "An Evaluation of the Sustainability of the Olympic Games." *Nature Sustainability* 4 (4): 340–348. doi:10.1038/s41893-021-00696-5.
- Mutter, F., and T. Pawlowski. 2014. "Role Models in Sports – Can Success in Professional Sports Increase the Demand for Amateur Sport Participation?" Sport Management Review 17 (3): 324–336. doi:10.1016/j. smr.2013.07.003.
- Nilsson, M., D. Griggs, and M. Visbeck. 2016. "Policy: Map the Interactions between Sustainable Development Goals." *Nature News* 534 (7607): 320–322. doi:10.1038/534320a.
- Nowell, L., J. Norris, D. White, and N. Moules. 2017. "Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods* 16 (1): 160940691773384. doi:10.1177/1609406917733847.
- Piggin, J., D. Souza, S. Furtado, M. Milanez, G. Cunha, B. Louzada, B. Graeff, and H. Tlili. 2019. "Do the Olympic Games Promote Dietary Health for Spectators? An Interdisciplinary Study of Health Promotion through Sport." *European Sport Management Quarterly* 19 (4): 481–501. doi:10.1080/16184742.2018.1562484.
- Porter, T. 2008. "Managerial Applications of Corporate Social Responsibility and Systems Thinking for Achieving Sustainability Outcomes." Systems Research and Behavioral Science 25 (3): 397–411. doi:10.1002/sres.902.
- Reynolds, M., C. Blackmore, R. Ison, R. Shah, and E. Wedlock. 2018. "The Role of Systems Thinking in the
Practice of Implementing Sustainable Development Goals." In *Handbook of Sustainability Science and Research*, edited by W. Filho, 677–698. Cham: Springer.

- Ricigliano, R. 2012. *Making Peace Last: A Toolbox for Sustainable Peacebuilding*. Boulder, CO: Paradigm Publishers.
- Sachs, J., G. Schmidt-Traub, M. Mazzucato, D. Messner, N. Nakicenovic, and J. Rockström. 2019. "Six Transformations to Achieve the Sustainable Development Goals." *Nature Sustainability* 2 (9): 805–814. doi:10.1038/s41893-019-0352-9.
- Salvo, D., L. Garcia, R. Reis, I. Stankov, R. Goel, J. Schipperijn, P. Hallal, D. Ding, and M. Pratt. 2021.
 "Physical Activity Promotion and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals: Building Synergies to Maximize Impact." *Journal of Physical Activity & Health* 18 (10): 1163–1180. doi:10.1123/jpah.2021-0413.
- Santini, D., and H. Henderson. 2021. "The Winners and Losers in the Race to Environmental Sustainability: A Ranking of Summer Olympic International Federation Progress." *Emerald Open Research* 3: 12. doi:10.35241/ emeraldopenres.14195.1.
- Schulenkorf, N., E. Sherry, and K. Rowe. 2016. "Sport for Development: An Integrated Literature Review." *Journal* of Sport Management 30 (1): 22–39. doi:10.1123/ jsm.2014-0263.
- Schwab, B. 2018. "Celebrate Humanity: Reconciling Sport and Human Rights through Athlete Activism." *Journal of Legal Aspects of Sport* 28 (2): 170–207. doi:10.18060/22570.
- Skene, K. 2021. "No Goal is an Island: The Implications of Systems Theory for the Sustainable Development Goals." *Environment, Development and Sustainability* 23 (7): 9993–10012. doi:10.1007/s10668-020-01043-y.
- Spaaij, R. 2009. "The Social Impact of Sport: Diversities, Complexities and Contexts." *Sport in Society* 12 (9): 1109–1117. doi:10.1080/17430430903137746.
- Sterman, J. 2000. Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World. New York: Irwin McGraw-Hill.
- Svensson, P., and H. Woods. 2017. "A Systematic Overview of Sport for Development and Peace Organisations." *Journal of Sport for Development* 5: 36–48. https://jsfd.or g/2017/09/20/a-systematic-overview-of-sport-for-develop ment-and-peace-organisations.
- Turner, B., H. Kim, and D. Andersen. 2013. "Improving Coding Procedures for Purposive Text Data: Researchable Questions for Qualitative System Dynamics Modeling." System Dynamics Review 29 (4): 253–263. doi:10.1002/sdr.1506.

- United Nations. 2015. *Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. New York: United Nations. https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/ publications/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20 Sustainable%20Development%20web.pdf.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). 2018. Sports for Climate Action Framework. New York: United Nations Climate Action. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Sports_for_ Climate_Action_Declaration_and_Framework_0.pdf.
- Vrondou, O., P. Dimitropoulos, and L. Gaitanakis. 2019. "International Sports Bodies Application of Ecological Sustainability Mechanisms Affecting Sport Tourism Related Natural Environment." In Smart Tourism as a Driver for Culture and Sustainability, edited by V. Katsoni and M. Segarra-Oña, 481–502. Cham: Springer.
- Warner, M., J. Robinson, B. Heal, J. Lloyd, P. O'Connell, and L. Rose. 2020. "A Comprehensive Sport for Development Strategy Using Collaborative Partnerships to Facilitate Employment among Youth Facing Barriers." *Journal of Sport for Development* 8: 10–24. https://jsfd. files.wordpress.com/2020/12/warner.comprehensive.sfd_. strategy.version.pdf.
- Weinstein, M., R. Turner, and C. Ibáñez. 2013. "The Global Sustainability Transition: It Is More than Changing Light Bulbs." Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy 9 (1): 4–15. doi:10.1080/15487733.2013.11908103.
- Whitley, M., W. Massey, M. Camiré, L. C. Blom, M. Chawansky, S. Forde, M. Boutet, A. Borbee, and S. Darnell. 2019. "A Systematic Review of Sport for Development Interventions across Six Global Cities." Sport Management Review 22 (2): 181–193. doi:10.1016/j.smr.2018.06.013.
- Whitley, M., W. Massey, M. Camiré, M. Boutet, and A. Borbee. 2019. "Sport-Based Youth Development Interventions in the United States: A Systematic Review." *BMC Public Health* 19 (1): 89. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-6387-z.
- Whitley, M., W. Massey, and M. Wilkison. 2018. "A Systems Theory of Development through Sport for Traumatized and Disadvantaged Youth." *Psychology of Sport and Exercise* 38: 116–125. doi:10.1016/j. psychsport.2018.06.004.
- Williams, A., S. Kennedy, F. Philipp, and G. Whiteman. 2017. "Systems Thinking: A Review of Sustainability Management Research." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 148: 866–881. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.002.
- World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED). 1987. Our Common Future. Oxford: Oxford University Press.





Article Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study

Iva Glibo ¹, Laura Misener ² and Joerg Koenigstorfer ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Chair of Sport and Health Management, Technical University of Munich, 80992 Munich, Germany
- ² School of Kinesiology, Western University, London, ON N6A 3K7, Canada

Correspondence: joerg.koenigstorfer@tum.de

Abstract: The study aims to explore the consensus-level strategic priorities for sustainable development from the perspective of decision makers in organisations responsible for governing international sport and how they cluster within the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. We employed the three-round Delphi study with decision makers from international sport organisations. Based on the 29 semi-structured interviews in the first round, we inductively generated items for questionnaires for the subsequent two rounds. The process yielded 20 items representing strategic priorities determined by 20 experts in the last round. The highest ranked item was normative change, in which sustainability is prioritised throughout all organisational strategies and actions. Moreover, planned efforts that are part of a long-term strategy and embedding sustainability requirements at the bidding phase of sport events were considered with high priority. The 20 items clustered into four out of five levels of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development, namely system, success, strategic guidelines and actions. No items could be assigned to the framework's tool level, potentially indicating gaps of strategic consideration. The findings from the Delphi study add a forecasting element to the research and practice of strategic sustainability in the management of sport by revealing consensus-level strategic priorities for the future.

Keywords: sustainability; sport management; Delphi technique; Sustainable Development Goals

1. Introduction

To date, sport management scholarship that is focused on international sport organisations has not fully explored the managerial perspectives on the future of sustainable development from a holistic standpoint. Although previous empirical studies are valuable in depicting the current state of affairs in international sport governing bodies, they are either limited to past or current strategic considerations (neglecting perspectives on the necessary strategic actions to take in the future) or limited in scope to environmental sustainability (neglecting social and economic aspects). In particular, Morgan et al. [1] examined the perception of Commonwealth Games Association's members regarding their organisation's contribution to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and a study by Moon et al. [2] assessed international sport federations' sustainability practices. Environmental sustainability policies and actions in international sport federations were a focus in Santini and Henderson's [3] and Vrondou et al.'s [4] studies.

There is a paucity of empirical studies addressing the strategic organisational management of international sport organisations holistically to understand what strategic actions are needed for sustainable development in the future. To fill this gap, this study employed the Delphi technique. We used expert knowledge to build consensus around a complex topic to outline possible future strategic directions [5] in international sport organisations. The findings were aligned with the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development (FSSD), a theoretical grounding used to explore organisational strategic management from



Citation: Glibo, I.; Misener, L.; Koenigstorfer, J. Strategic Sustainable Development in International Sport Organisations: A Delphi Study. *Sustainability* 2022, *14*, 9874. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14169874

Academic Editors: Michel Desbordes and Christopher Hautbois

Received: 21 June 2022 Accepted: 4 August 2022 Published: 10 August 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). a holistic perspective [6]. The theoretical lens allows us to put high- and low-priority perceptions of managers into context and identify the potential need for action.

The guiding research questions (RQs) for our contribution were as follows. RQ 1: What strategic responses of international sport organisations are most relevant in increasing international sport organisations' contribution to sustainable development in the near future? RQ 2: How do the strategic responses align with the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development? Instead of formulating specific hypotheses, the present research is exploratory in nature, in the sense that it aims to uncover near-future relevant sustainable development manoveurs (of different priorities), as perceived by managers of international sport organisations.

In what follows, we first outline the conceptual framework by defining sustainable development inside and outside sport. After drawing on the literature on organisational strategic sustainability and corporate sustainability management, we reflect on the available literature in the realm of sustainable development and international sport organisations. Next, we describe the methods and present the findings by placing them in the proposed contextual background. We discuss the findings as well as the limitations of the present study and conclude by suggesting future research directions.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development Goals

Sustainable development was offered to solve many pressing social, economic and environmental challenges, such as preserving biodiversity, mitigating climate change and improving the situation in terms of poverty and inequality, human rights violations, illiterate and ill populations [7–10]. Amid the plethora of accounts of sustainable development, the most prominent definition is the one coined by the World Commission on Environment and Development in the so-called Brundtland Report, which outlined sustainable development as the development that enables the present generation to fulfil their needs without jeopardising the ability of the future generations to do the same [11]. Sustainable development is envisioned as a process, a way towards sustainability, which represents the goal of sustainable development [7,12]. In this article, the terms sustainable development and sustainability will be treated synonymously.

The Brundtland definition provided an ethical view of sustainable development through simultaneous attention given to three pillars: the economic, social and environmental [12,13]. Described as a necessary step at a normative level, the definition has been criticised for not enabling the clear operationalisation element needed for guiding the implementation [6,14]. In response to that shortcoming, the United Nations (UN) issued a global plan that aims to guide actions until 2030 using the SDGs [15]. The SDG Agenda offered organisations a frame of reference for their actions directed towards sustainability with "political tail wind" [16] (p. 21) and the alignment of private, public and civil sectors [16].

Sustainable development came into prominence in the international sport arena in 2015, when sport stakeholders were urged to share the responsibility for the planet's health, people and prosperity in the Agenda 2030 through SDGs [15]. The Agenda 2030 highlighted sport's potential as an enabler of development and peace [15] and has been highly influential in guiding international sport policies and actions [17]. The UN emphasised that achieving SDGs implies a transformation of policies and practices [18], where organisational efforts play a pivotal role. However, the main challenge remains to guide organisational changes towards an effective commitment to SD [19,20]. This challenge applies to international sport organisations.

Sport-related scholarship addressed the social and environmental role of various sport organisations through the prism of corporate social responsibility (CSR) [21–23]. Although CSR and sustainable development have interconnections and the concepts are often blurred [24], they address distinctive aspects of the same issue [25]. CSR emphasises the organisational ethical obligation towards its stakeholders, whereas sustainable

development takes a systems perspective by placing the organisation in the wider social and environmental contexts and examining their interdependencies [24–26]. Sport organisations and other organisations using sport for development have made use of the SDG Agenda [1,27,28]. However, the engagement with the SDGs in managerial practice remains limited, as demonstrated in a recent survey of 41 professional sport organisations where only 24% of the surveyed organisations addressed the SDGs in their activities [29].

2.2. Strategic Sustainable Development from the Perspective of the FSSD

Even though the SDGs provide a point of reference for organisational engagement with sustainable development, organisations need to develop their ways of implementation. To date, the most prominent scholarly model outlining how to do this is the FSSD [6,30]. The FFSD has been developed as a guiding framework for strategic sustainable development and comprises four main features: (1) a funnel metaphor that aims to facilitate an understanding of sustainability; (2) a five-level model for differentiating and defining various levels of entities that have a role in sustainability; (3) a sustainability definition expressed via principles; and (4) a procedure aimed at guiding sustainability transitions [6].

The FSSD uses a set of guiding principles more specific than the Brundtland definition but still allows for individual, context-dependent organisational differences. According to the sustainability principles, in a sustainable society, organisations do not subject the nature to increasing (1) the concentrations of substances extracted from the earth's crust; (2) the concentrations of substances produced by society; (3) the degradation of physical means (...), and people are not subject to structural obstacles to (4) health; (5) influence (people are not hindered from participating and shaping social systems); (6) competence (people are not hindered from learning and developing competencies); (7) impartiality (people are not exposed to partial treatment, e.g., discrimination); and (8) meaning making (people are not hindered from creating individual or co-creating common meaning) [6].

The FSSD model delineates five levels, starting with the systems level that considers broader fundamental environmental and social contexts and interconnections with actors on various levels, from local to global relevance for the organisation. The success level implies a vision, core values and core purpose aligned with the basic sustainability principles. There are numerous ways organisations can approach sustainability by defining their vision and mission; the FSSD allows for the organisation-specific approach and only requires the alignment with sustainability principles. The strategic guidelines level includes a strategic approach to the vision and mission, whereas the action level comprises the concrete actions needed to carry out the strategies. Lastly, the tools level includes tools needed for making decisions, such as indicators, monitoring and reporting tools.

Drawing on the FSSD, Baumgartner [31] proposed a conceptual framework encompassing three levels of strategic sustainability management: normative, tasked to provide legitimacy to stakeholders and society; strategic, tasked with determining the goals and providing efficiency; and operational, tasked with the successful implementation. The normative sustainability management includes vision and mission statements, policies emerging from the organisations' position towards sustainable development and the organisational culture that aligns with vision and mission [31]. All sustainability activities are based on the normative management level that can take the form of introverted strategy, primarily based on the risk mitigation and imposed legislation; extroverted strategy, seeking to gain approval of external stakeholders; conservative strategy, focused on the clean production and eco-efficiency; and visionary strategy, focusing on sustainability within all organisational aspects [32]. These generic types of strategy express the extent of an organisation's involvement with sustainable development. Only the introverted strategy has no ambition towards contributing to sustainability; all others pursue sustainability in an active rather than reactive manner [31]. Sustainability management also includes determining the contextual factors unique to every organisation before setting the long-term sustainability objectives and planning activities using forecasting and backcasting [6,31]. Further down

the process, the long-term goals are detailed as well as linked to measurements and concrete action points. It is then down to the operational level directly to execute the strategy.

2.3. International Sport Organisations and Strategic Sustainable Development

In sport, international sport governing bodies provide "a framework for developing sustainability policies for elite sports" [33] (p. 7). Gammelsæter and Loland [33] contended that there is a need for policy change that emphasises constraints of the activities, particularly regarding long-distance travel, misuse of facilities and the use of fast fashion and sporting equipment. Moon et al. [2] analysed how the international sport governing bodies strategically approach sustainable development. They outlined five approaches: implementing sustainability pilot events, partnering with non-governmental organisations and consultancies, creating a sustainability committee and launching a comprehensive sustainability strategy with at least one full-time sustainability manager.

Further research has focused on the environmental aspect of sustainable development. Vrondou et al. [4] analysed the environmental aspect of sustainability policies of international sport federations that govern sports directly dependent on the environmental conditions (e.g., sailing, rowing). The authors concluded that the federations kept limited environmental focus, and although the International Olympic Committee emphasised sustainability in its policies, this did not translate to the policy making of the federations. Moreover, the environmental regulation of the events under their jurisdiction hinged mostly on local legislation, implying the reactive rather than proactive sustainability strategy [31]. Similarly, Santini and Henderson [3] examined scholarly literature and online and social media accounts across 32 Summer Olympic sports federations concerning their environmental sustainability. They found that research on environmental sustainability was available for only 5 out of 32 federations, and only 4 had an environmental sustainability strategy. The authors determined the drivers of environmental sustainability to be a strategic choice, partnerships and governance, and strained resources were found to be a barrier. Moreover, most federations did not engage with environmental sustainability on their websites, with nine federations addressing environmental sustainability but, again, without a clear strategy in place, indicating ad hoc and incidental engagement. The non-strategic and piecemeal approach was also found in an exploration of the Commonwealth Games Association's sustainable development efforts [1] with a conundrum: most of the surveyed organisations regarded themselves as important players in achieving the SDGs. Morgan et al. [1] explored sustainability in all aspects and found that the organisations perceived to contribute to the SDG Agenda primarily through gender equality, health and education.

The scholarly literature on sport and sustainable development not directly related to the international sport organisations has addressed policy options through which sport can contribute to prioritised SDGs [28] as well as governance aspects in general and policy coherence in particular (e.g., Refs [34–36]). The sustainability of mega-sport events received attention (e.g., Refs [37–40]), indicating their relevance to sustainability in sport. In their recent work, Müller et al. [41] developed sustainability indicators to analyse 16 editions of the Olympic Games. The results reveal that none of the Olympic Games scored in the highest category of sustainability. Although much attention has been given to the mega-sport events, other small sport events should also be considered to be relevant [42].

Considering the global urgency towards reaching the SDGs and the potential of international sport organisations to contribute to the SDG Agenda and the void in research assessing future-directed strategic priority setting in these organisations, exploring strategic organisational priorities that would contribute to sustainable development in international sport seems timely and necessary. To partly fill this research gap, the present study aims to uncover the consensus-level strategic priorities for sustainable development from the perspective of decision makers in organisations responsible for governing international sport and explore how they cluster within the FSSD model.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Research Design and Procedure

To answer the research questions, we employed the Delphi method, a structured "group communication process (...) allowing a group of individuals, as a whole, to deal with a complex problem" [43] (p. 3). We deemed the Delphi method appropriate, as we wanted to explore, identify and prioritise the information that may generate a consensus [44] in the management of sport organisations pertaining to sustainable development. Further, the Delphi approach seemed suitable, as it is often used in strategic management as a tool to outline possible future directions [5]. In contrast to surveys that provide information about what is, Delphi focuses on forecasting and includes information on what could or should be [45]. In addition, unlike other decision-making techniques, such as nominal group technique or interacting group method, the experts participating in the Delphi study do not have to physically be at the same place at the same time and do not have to deal with group pressure and communication issues [5].

The Delphi process is characterised by iterative questionnaires based on the provided input from earlier responses [46] generated through systematised communication with panellists presumed to possess the appropriate expertise in the field of study [47]. The method provides the statistical group response and guarantees the respondents' anonymity, as the experts do not communicate directly [48]. For the current study, the procedure was as follows: we first outlined the criteria for the panel recruitment, contacted the selected experts and established the panel. Simultaneously, we developed the interview schedule to be used in the first round of the Delphi study. The first round included semi-structured expert interviews, embedded in a larger data collection project [49]. We analysed the interview data and constructed a questionnaire based on the analysis.

Next, we piloted the second-round questionnaire with two experts from the group and amended it according to the feedback received. In the second round, we sent the questionnaire to all experts. After analysing the results, we developed a third questionnaire, which was sent to all experts to obtain the data for the third round.

3.2. Characteristics of the Panel and Recruitment

Panel selection is a crucial consideration in the Delphi method, as the quality of results rests on the opinions of the group of "informed individuals" [50] (p. 1221). We used the purposive sampling technique to identify panellists with "appropriate domain knowledge" [47] (p. 127). We considered the experts' established "social representativity" [51] (p. 50) as the initial inclusion criteria, which assumed their involvement in international organisations dealing with sport. Further inclusion criteria specified that the experts occupied higher management paid or voluntary decision-making positions within their respective organisations and were familiar with sustainable development, in the sense that they deal with it in their daily work for their organisation. With these minimum requirements, experts provided technical knowledge regarding the management of their respective organisations and the process knowledge on the decision making regarding various facets of sustainable development within their organisations [51].

Due to the multifaceted and broad scope of sustainable development, we paid particular attention to the organisational and geographical heterogeneity of the panel. Heterogeneity is suggested to provide increased reliability and accuracy of judgements because it is presumed that a heterogeneous panel may reduce the risk of error or bias inherent in individual judgements [47]. To address the full scope of the complexity of sustainable development in the management of sport organisations, we recruited experts dealing with sport in either international non-governmental sport organisations (i.e., sport governing bodies, sport event governing bodies, special task bodies or representative bodies; the categorisation was based on Geeraert et al. [52]) or other international intergovernmental or non-governmental organisations with a mandate for sport. Details of the expert panel can be found in Table 1.

Characteristic	Number of Experts
Type of Organisation	
INGSO Sport Governing Bodies	7
INGSO Sport Event Governing Bodies	5
INGSO Special Task Bodies	10
INGSO Representative bodies	3
Intergovernmental organisations	3
National NGO with an international mandate	1
Scope	
Global	22
Continental/regional	6
National level with an international mandate	1
Gender	
Male	20
Female	9
Engagement	
Voluntary	6
Paid	23

Table 1. Background information on the experts.

Notes. INGSO = International non-governmental sport organisation; NGO = Non-governmental organisation.

We started the recruitment process by listing the international sport organisations of interest, followed by the extensive internet search of persons within the organisations relevant to the study. As one of the main difficulties inherent to the studies with experts is their interest and availability, we overcame this barrier by personalised initial contact in which we explained the purpose of the study, why we think the research question is worth answering and why they, in particular, were chosen to participate [53]. In some cases, we also requested to pass on the message to a colleague if they perceived them to be a better fit for the study. Where possible, we requested the endorsement from our professional networks, which facilitated the commitment from some experts.

There is no universally accepted guidance regarding the panel size [54]. Rowe and Wright [47] suggested using between 5 and 20 panellists to strike a balance between the quality and representativeness of data on the one hand, and information overload and data handling issues on the other hand. Considering the latter points and the potential bias resulting from the usual drop-out rate at consecutive rounds [54], we aimed to recruit 30 panellists for the initial round, assuming an attrition rate of 33% during the three rounds of data collection. The recruitment process resulted in a commitment from 29 experts in the first round. Indicative job titles included Secretary-General, Head of Sustainability, President, Vice-Chair, Chair of Education Board, Chief Marketing and Communications Officer and Vice President for Strategy and External Affairs.

3.3. Data Collection

While there is no shared consensus about the optimal number of iterations of rounds, the prevalent opinion is that three rounds are usually enough [47,54]. Accordingly, we organised the data collection in three rounds. Conforming to good practice guidance [55,56], we determined the number of rounds and defined consensus at the onset of the study.

3.4. First Round

To collect the data in the first round, we conducted 29 systematising semi-structured expert interviews. We opted to use semi-structured interviews to gather as much information from the experts as possible and mitigate the attrition risk in consecutive rounds by establishing a rapport with experts. The interviews were undertaken between May and December 2020 using an online video communication platform. All the interviews were recorded with previous explicit approval from the experts and transcribed verbatim. In one case, due to the repeatedly weak internet connection, the expert delivered his answers in writing. The interview schedule included a set of questions on the experts' background

information, the perception of familiarity with sustainable development and the SDG Agenda and an outline of their organisations' efforts towards achieving sustainability. We also inquired about the experts' recommendations regarding what actions are needed to increase sport's contribution to sustainable development.

3.5. Second Round

All statements collected in the first round were presented to experts in a second round of the Delphi study via a web-based survey. The second round took place throughout February and March 2021. All experts from the initial pool were invited to participate in the second round, except two who asked to be excluded from further iterations. Twenty-one experts (72.4%) participated in the second round. Due to the high number of statements, we organised them into eight thematic categories to ease the presentation online: strategy, environment, sponsorship, organisational efforts, targeting, partnering, promotion and awareness. The experts were asked to rate the items according to the perceived importance of sport's potential to maximise positive and/or minimise negative contribution to sustainable development on a five-point rating scale (see Supplementary Material; anchors: 1 = not at all important, 5 = extremely important). The experts were also given an opportunity to provide feedback on the statements. In one case, an expert stated that he did not understand the context of some statements, so we excluded his answers to those statements.

The level of consensus for the second-round data analysis was pre-defined as more than 80% agreement on the five-point rating scale in the top two categories (i.e. 4, very important, and 5, extremely important). Forty-one items reached the defined level of consensus. Against the background of the experienced decrease in participation of experts from round one to two due to time constraints and the tendency of decrease in the quality of the answers towards the end of relatively long questionnaires in Delphi studies [57], we reduced the number of items in the third round further and focused on the 20 items that were rated most important.

3.6. Third Round

We presented the experts with a list of 20 statements with the highest mean in the second round. In particular, we asked them to rank the statements according to how important they perceived them to maximise their positive and/or minimise their negative contribution of sport organisations to sustainable development. Twenty experts (response rate of 95.2% compared to round two; 68.9% compared to round one) participated in the final round in May and June 2021.

3.7. Data Analysis

For the qualitative data analysis of the first round, we used the software MAXQDA to apply Creswell's data analysis spiral [58] as guidance; we repeatedly read the data, memoed and then inductively coded the data. Similar statements were brought together while keeping the meaning where the semantic clarity allowed. Where possible, we used in vivo coding to keep the original wording of the experts. This process resulted in 72 statements.

For the second- and third-round data analyses, we used the Qualtrics software with its built-in descriptive statistics options. With regard to the analysis of the second-round data, we calculated the level of agreement across all the experts by summing up the item-level percentages of ratings of four (very important) and five (extremely important) on a fivepoint rating scale (see Supplementary Material). The sum of these percentages describes the proportion of experts who believed that the particular item was very or extremely important. Furthermore, we calculated the means and standard deviations for each item. In the third round, we calculated the mean ranks and standard deviations for each of the remaining 20 items.

8 of 18

4. Results

The items generated in the first round and the level of consensus reached in the second round can be seen in the Supplementary Material (Tables S1 and S2).

All of the items that were subjected to the final-round survey were above the consensus level of 80% agreement on the five-point rating scale, indicating a high level of expert agreement in the second round. The results of the final Delphi round are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Ranking of items in the third round of the Delphi study.

Item	Μ	SD
1. Strategically prioritise sustainability	2.70	3.30
2. Make lasting and planned rather than one-off and ad hoc effort	3.30	1.45
3. Embed sustainability requirements in the bidding processes for	4 85	3 97
the sport events	4.00	5.77
4. Take actions to implement sustainable policies	5.00	3.22
Initiate more sustainability specific and focused actions	5.75	2.23
Initiate and support organisational behaviour change	7.15	2.37
7. Take into consideration the legacy and sustainability of sport facilities	7.20	2.06
8. Base sustainability policies on operationalisable and	8.30	3.69
measurable objectives	0.00	0.07
9. Change business operations to more environmentally sustainable	8.75	3.18
10. Follow the principle: "Do what you preach"	9.15	3.64
11. Implement projects in support of gender equality	9.20	2.38
12. Establish a comprehensive, coherent and concerted commitment	11.60	3.20
from all stakeholders	11.00	0.20
13. Introduce safeguarding policies	13.05	3.25
14. Support sport event organisers in sustainable efforts	13.95	2.13
15. Appreciate that sport can influence sustainable development	15.05	2.31
directly and indirectly	10.00	
16. Emphasise sustainability across policies	15.20	2.91
17. Embed sport events in a wider scheme of sustainable development	16.75	3.05
of the host city		
18. Use competitive sport to advocate for being physically active	17.40	3.20
19. Raise awareness about the potential and achievements of sport in		2.01
sustainable development in the general population	10.00	4 00
20. Use sport events to raise awareness about sustainable development	18.00	4.28

Notes. SD = Standard deviation; M = Mean rank; see Figure 1 for the assignment to the structure of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development.

Next, we clustered the top rated 20 items following the FSSD structure, namely system, success, strategic guidelines, actions and tools [6]. Figure 1 provides an overview of the results.

Two out of the twenty items can be clustered within the system level of the FSSD (see Figure 1; items in blue). The items were the following: (12) *Establish a comprehensive, coherent and concerted commitment from all stakeholders* (mean rank [M] = 11.60, SD = 3.2) and (15) *Appreciate that sport can influence sustainable development directly and indirectly* (M = 15.95, SD = 2.31).

The highest ranked item (1), *Strategically prioritise sustainability* (M = 2.70, SD = 3.30) and item (16), *Emphasise sustainability across policies* (M = 15.20, SD = 2.91) can be clustered under the success level of FSSD. Figure 1 displays these items in the colour green.

The items that we clustered in the strategic guidelines level include (2) *Make lasting* and planned rather than one-off and ad hoc efforts (M = 3.30, SD = 1.45), (4) *Take actions to implement sustainability policies* (M = 5.00, SD = 3.22), (5) Initiate more sustainability specific and focused actions (M = 5.75, SD = 2.23), (6) *Initiate and support organisational behaviour change* (M = 7.15, SD = 2.37), (8) *Base sustainability policies on operationalisable and measurable objectives* (M = 8.30; SD = 3.69) and (10) *Follow the principle: "Do what you preach"* (M = 9.15, SD = 3.64). Figure 1 displays these items in the colour red.



Figure 1. Assignment of the third-round Delphi study items to the structure of the Framework for Strategic Sustainable Development. See Table 2 for the specifications of the items; 1 indicates highest priority (rank), 20 indicates lowest priority (rank) among the 20 items of the final Delphi study round. Mean ranks are based on evaluations of 20 experts from international sport organisations.

The actions level items include items (3) *Embed sustainability requirements in the bidding* processes for the sport events (M = 4.85, SD = 3.97), (7) *Take into consideration legacy and* sustainability of sport facilities (M = 7.20, SD = 2.06), (9) *Change business operations to more* environmentally sustainable (M = 8.75, SD = 3.18), (11) *Implement projects in support of gender* equality (M = 9.20, SD = 2.38), (13) *Introduce safeguarding policies* (M = 13.05, SD = 3.25), (14) *Support sport event organisers in sustainable efforts* (M = 13.95, SD = 2.13), (17) *Embed sport* events in a wider scheme of sustainable development of the host city (M = 16.75, SD = 3.05), (18) *Use competitive sport to advocate for being physically active* (M = 17.40, SD = 3.20), (19) *Raise* awareness about the potential and achievements of sport in sustainable development in general population (M = 17.65, SD = 2.01) and (20) *Use sport events to raise awareness about sustainable* development (M = 18.00, SD = 4.28). Figure 1 displays these items in the colour purple. Notably, the experts did not propose any items that can be clustered under the tools level of FSSD.

5. Discussion

The purpose of the study was to explore the strategic responses of international sport organisations in order to increase the contribution to sustainable development from the perspective of managers (i.e., experts within the organisations). We aligned the proposed responses with the FSSD levels, indicating different elements of consideration when planning and acting towards sustainable development. The study expands the empirical literature that focused on the status quo in sport organisations regarding their sustainability efforts [1–4] by adding a forecasting element and a holistic perspective. The findings reveal what items managers perceive to be top priority (versus lower priority) to contribute to sustainable development in the near future. In what follows, we discuss the findings according to the structure of the FSSD levels.

5.1. System

The emphasis is on the systems perspective and sport's position with the broader societal and environmental contexts. Item 12 (*Establish a comprehensive, coherent and concerted commitment from all stakeholders*) considers every organisation's specific internal and external stakeholder network management. International sport organisations operate in a multiand cross-sectoral environment where, because of the diversity of stakeholders and their interests, it can be challenging to establish coherent and concerted efforts towards sustainable development. To avoid a silo approach, Broman and Robert [6] proposed to ground sustainability strategies in the principled definition of sustainability to facilitate shared understanding among stakeholders and enable them to redefine and align the success level considerations. Furthermore, stakeholder management hinges on the transparency and participatory approach to decision making. That approach is needed for increased quality of stakeholder relationships essential for their acceptance of sustainability strategies [14,32].

Through item 15 (Appreciate that sport can influence sustainable development directly and indirectly), experts acknowledged the need for complete spectrum analysis of the organisational influence when shaping their sustainability responses. If the aim is to develop a holistic and visionary sustainability approach, it is necessary to integrate sustainable development considerations into all organisational spheres of influence [32], including the less obvious, indirect and unintended effects of organisational actions. Van Zanten and van Tulder [59] highlighted, albeit in a corporate setting, that the organisational direct influence on the SDGs results from organisations' processes and offered goods or services. Those direct interactions can cause indirect and unintended interactions because of the interconnections between the SDGs, and hence, sustainability pillars in general. For example, if a sport organisation's main objective would be to organise an international youth camp with the aim to increase the intercultural understanding through sport, the setting they provide would have to be international. This means that all participants would probably have to travel, causing increased travel-related carbon footprint. Intercultural understanding would be a direct outcome, but that outcome negatively correlates with the indirect environmental impact. For facilitating the systems approach that would consider the full complexity of influence on sustainability in a given organisational context, the usage of systems thinking in research and practice is warranted [60].

5.2. Success

The success level implies the definition of success through vision and mission statements aligned with the sustainability principles. Items (1) *Strategically prioritise sustainability* and (16) *Emphasise sustainability across policies* reflect experts' view of the need for adopting visionary, high-relevance levels of sustainable development [31] in international sport organisations. According to Baumgartner [31], normative management of the visionary sustainability strategy entails the full integration of sustainability in all activities, including the vision, mission and organisational policies, instead of ignoring it or having it as an add-on to existing policies. High placement of Item 1 can mean that the experts perceived an increased need for a normative change towards a visionary sustainability strategy with sustainability included in the vision statement and across all organisational policies. For sport organisations this would imply a normative shift away from the underlying anthropocentric beliefs [61] where "human interests and happiness are primary values that usually trump contentious environmental and sustainable needs" [62] (p. 62). The success level considerations are particularly decisive for organisational sustainability efforts, as they dictate the appropriate actions and tools that would support the implementation [6,30]. A similar finding emerged from an analysis of environmental policies across international sport federations [3] where the strategic choice was found to be a driver of the environmental sustainability progress.

5.3. Strategic Guidelines

The strategic guidelines level considers how to address the vision strategically [6]. The available literature on the responses of the international sport organisations to SD highlighted that even if the organisations are considering SD, their actions are often unplanned, piecemeal and ad hoc [1,35]. The issue of random actions has already arisen in the sustainability literature that highlighted that sustainable development should have no end; it is a long-term, never-ending process with constant adaptations to emerging challenges [20] that is impossible to achieve through isolated actions [63]. Along those lines, sustaining efforts is of paramount consideration for future sustainability endeavours, as the experts in this study called for lasting and planned engagement, contrasted with current one-off and ad hoc practices. Additionally, through Item 5 (*Initiate more sustainability specific and focused actions*), the experts called for introducing focused and specific actions that should be based on the long-term strategy and shaped as clear, short-term, departmental goals at an operational level [25].

By placing Item 4 (*Take actions to implement sustainability policies*) high on the findings list, experts in this study seem to have recognised the policy implementation gap as a current problem to be addressed. The discrepancy between the commitment and the delivery has already been highlighted in screenings of good governance policies across the international sport organisations [52]. A number of international organisations struggled to implement their policies or, at first glance, seemed to be implementing them, but below the surface, they did not adhere to sufficiently high standards. This is closely aligned with Item 10, that is, a call to "walk the talk" or follow the "do what you preach" principle. Our findings indicate a shared concern about sport organisations' credibility in the light of, for instance, greenwashing [37] or, more specifically, sponsorships arrangements with companies known for disregarding sustainability [64], to name just a few. Moreover, Swatuk [65] warned about discrepancies between what sport organisations claim regarding sustainability and the actions that they take to be sustainable. However, to address the policy implementation gap in the context of sustainable development, the international sport organisations must first issue sustainability policies, which at this point, only a few did [3]. Consequently, this concern seems relevant for the future but perhaps somewhat premature at present.

Item 6 regarded the need for organisational behaviour change in the light of sustainability. The nexus of organisational behaviour change and sustainability has been primarily addressed at the macro level [66], including the present study. However, as Cooper et al. [66] underscored, sustainability management calls for explorations at the behavioural micro level due to its potential to drive sustainable decision making and actions. By including the micro perspectives in scholarly discussions on sport organisations and sustainability, academics can gain insights into antecedents of sustainability actions in international sport organisations. This is particularly relevant because the change is not necessarily initiated at the very top management structures but can also come from lower-level leadership [14]. In an applied setting, our findings show that individuals active within the international sport organisations may have a relevant role in driving the change towards more sustainable international sport. Through Item 8, the experts in the current study raised the issue of operationalisation, that is, allocating meaning to sustainable development by translating it to a set of objectives in a given context [67]. The SDG Agenda is one example of an operationalised view of sustainable development; however, as it is intended for the national level, it can be used as a reference but still needs to be translated to an organisational level. As international sport organisations make up a group of heterogeneous organisations with their unique contexts, they should operationalise sustainable development within their organisational setting and make it testable [14]. The experts in our study underlined that the assessment is a relevant consideration for the decision-making strategy, that is, setting the objectives. The argument is in line with the literature that regards assessment as a critical consideration for generating information needed to direct the decision making; it is a mechanism for

5.4. Actions

The actions level consists of concrete prioritised actions in line with all previous levels. The items in this level include more specific actions perceived by the experts as needed to advance sustainable development in international sport organisations.

operationalisation, learning and structuring the complexity inherent in SD [67].

The first group of recommendations (Items 3, 14 and 17) refers to actions that deal with how international sport organisations manage the sport events. According to the experts in this study, the primary consideration should be the inclusion of sustainability requirements in the bidding process. This very same measure was proposed in the Agenda 2020 as means to improve the Olympic Games' environmental sustainability and presents one of the critical determinants of what Samuel and Stubbs [68] label green legacies. However, research has shown that requirements for the bid do not suffice to ameliorate the environmental sustainability of the sport events [39]. The reason for this lies in the event owners' lack of control over event organisers to prevent shirking [39,69].

The experts in this study proposed that both the legacy of the sport facilities and the sustainability should be considered when discussing the sustainability of sport events. Although the terms legacy and sustainability overlap and tend to be confused, as per the experts in this study, sport event organisers should consider both. To distinguish them, Preuss [70] argued that legacy is expected to give impetus to new opportunities from the initial activity, whereas sustainability does not imply this. Further, legacy can create negative value and include individual-level impact, while sustainability is discussed positively and in local and global remits. Sustainability suggests the balance between three pillars, whereas this is not a requirement for legacy [70]. The recommendation from the Delphi panel to broaden the scope of considerations is consequently connected to a plethora of challenges, such as issuing strategies and tools to reduce the consumption of resources, capacity building, sourcing sustainable products and services, as well as measurement and evaluation [71] while making sure positive value is produced in the long term after the event [72,73].

The relevance of Item 17 (*Embed sport events in a wider scheme of sustainable development of the host city*) can be explained by highlighting that the "pursuit of sustainability hinges on integration" [20] (p. 14). The integration here refers not only to the three pillars of sustainable development but also to scales, from global to local, and time, from intermediate to long-term integration [20]. Hence, the recommendation to integrate sport events into the sustainable development of the host is grounded in the sustainability debates. In particular, organising events that do not consider the long-term strategy of the local environment in which they take place is a "risky endeavour" [74] (p. 16) for the sustainability and legacy of the event in question.

Item 9 refers to the operational management considerations, including but not limited to logistics, production, maintenance and marketing [31]. Whatever the organisational remit is, operational management is developed to support the strategic goals and should be developed in terms of its efficiency but also in terms of capacity to support innovation as a standard practice for sustainability [14]. An integrated approach to sustainability

considers sustainability in every aspect of an organisation's activities, processes and routines [14]. Additionally, as Baumgartner and Rauter [14] pointed out, the operational level must include the non-economic issues of sustainability, usually not considered standard business administration issues. This includes enhancing employees' capabilities in sustainable development and experience exchange between the operational, strategic and normative levels.

Implementing the projects directed at gender equality (11) highlights two issues. First, gender inequality, including sport participation, coaching, leadership, media coverage and gender-based violence, is still a concern in sport [75]. This indicates that the principles of the FSSD, namely influence and impartiality, are not entirely included as the norm at the success level of international sport organisations. This is despite gender inequality having its own SDG 5, reflecting discussions about diversity as a "source of learning and a resource base for adaptation and reorganisation" [20] (p. 15) needed for sustainable development. Secondly, the emphasis on the implementation is indicative of the policy implementation gap [75,76]. Experts did not provide further information on how this should be achieved; yet, the findings indicate that achieving gender equality requires action, rather than more policies.

Item 13 is grounded in the sustainability principle of health; namely, sustainable development requires people not to be subjected to structural obstacles to health [6]. Hence, through safeguarding measures, international sport organisations can support sustainable development by preventing harm to all participants, especially children (one of the most vulnerable groups). Global initiatives in that direction have preliminarily shown effectiveness [77]. Still, our findings suggest the need for further issue and implementation of the safeguarding policies to account for one of the basic sustainability principles.

Finally, the last three items refer to sport's potential to reach many people, making it reasonable to claim that sport is a relevant player in sustainability [62]. The idea behind Items 18 and 20 is to use the allure and unique position athletes and teams have with their fans [78] to act as social activists to change the norms and behaviours of people [79]. The research on the effects of sport events (and players competing at these events) on physical activity and sport participation, however, paints a more complex picture of the potential of sport for the trickle-down effect. Namely, the mere exposure to competitive sport may not produce the desired effects, so an additional strategic nuance is needed to leverage this potential (e.g., Refs [80–82]). The same holds for the awareness-raising potential of sport events and consequent behaviour change for sustainable development [83,84].

With Item 19, the experts in the panel expressed the necessity for the general population acknowledging sport's contribution to sustainable development. Implicitly, this may be a result of experts' concern that, so far, sport stakeholders have not always proven to lead the way as role models for sustainability (e.g., Refs [64,69,85–88]). In the context of Items 18 and 20, it seems that there is a worry about sport's perceived legitimacy when the aim is to raise awareness about sustainable development; a similar concern was already expressed through Item 10.

5.5. Tools

Interestingly, the experts' recommendations did not include any tools level considerations. This is in contrast to what Moon et al. [2] discovered; the international sport federations in their study reported that they used standardised management tools. However, their research design included explicit questions about the standardised management tools and purposeful sampling of federations with sustainability initiatives in place. Our findings can perhaps be attributed to the larger organisational heterogeneity of our sample, where the organisations that are at the initial state of organisational sustainable development are included, focusing on the other levels of the FSSD, as well as to potential differences in priority setting between the organisations. Tools, such as indicators, International Organization for Standardization (ISO) certifications or reporting standards (e.g., Global Reporting Initiative), are usually used for mapping and reporting [89] despite their potential to be used for the strategy formulation and implementation, as well as external communication [90,91]. Future research could explore to what extent various international sport organisations use these tools and what role they hold for internal and external sustainability management elements, especially for perceived legitimacy of sustainability actions.

5.6. Limitations and Outlook

This study used the FSSD framework to cluster items that represent strategic responses to contribute to sustainable development. Owing to the exploratory nature of our research, an inductive approach generated the items, which were then clustered with the help of the FSSD. One alternative approach would have been to use the FSSD as a theoretical background and develop questionnaires based on the content of the FSSD. This procedure, however, has one important disadvantage: it would have been likely to result in socially desired responses because the researcher (not the informant) introduces a particular topic. This is why we did not follow such deductive approach. Still, based on our findings, the FSSD showed promise for future studies that could consider the FSSD in its entirety to study the strategic sustainability management of sport organisations.

Second, we considered international sport organisations as one homogenous entity, although they are heterogeneous with different purposes [92], governmental versus non-governmental characters, and cultural and normative contexts. This is particularly relevant, as the sustainability considerations are context dependent, and there is no one-fits-all solution [20]. A more nuanced sampling could be beneficial for guiding sustainability strategies in line with individual organisational purposes.

Finally, one methodological limitation is the drop-out of experts, which is typical when multiple feedback requests are made [53]. Although the attrition rate calculated for the present study exceeded the recommended 70% [93] and can thus be evaluated favourably, one cannot know whether the results would have been replicated if all initially participating experts had taken part in the final round.

5.7. Managerial Implications

The implications for managers of international sport organisations are manifold. To steer their organisation towards sustainable development, managers, regardless of their level, can act as agents of change. The organisations should prioritise sustainability in their vision, mission and values. Likewise, the introduced changes should be planned in the long run and not just as an add-on incidental activity. Sport events should include requirements for sustainability from the earliest stages. Support should be provided to event organisers when it comes to expertise in sustainability. In particular, critical considerations when organising sport events are the sustainability and legacy of sporting facilities.

The implementation issue came across as a very relevant finding with a decisive managerial implication. Our experts viewed taking action based on the policies as crucial; hence, managers should act on the policies and, in that way, actually "do good" and show the legitimacy of their promises to external stakeholders. Furthermore, with the measurement and evaluation mechanisms in place, they can substantiate their claims and establish the trust needed to clarify the commitment from all organisational stakeholders. Moreover, when making decisions, systems thinking is necessary as a base for all actions in which the environmental, social and economic interaction is analysed and taken into account.

It is difficult to recommend what should be the highest priority strategic consideration items within system, success, strategic guidelines, actions and tools as optimal for contributing to relevant sustainable development goals. Rather, our work suggests that a mix of items of all five categories serves the purpose best and thus meets the sustainable development agenda. Addressing all categories indicates that organisations holistically embrace sustainability with high priority and consider promoting sustainable development as an essential managerial task, with consequences at all levels. Based on the results of our study, there is also clearly room for improvement on the tools, system and success levels.

6. Conclusions

This study provided an empirical examination of the relevance of strategic directions for international sport organisations' transformation towards being more sustainable. The findings revealed what the high-priority items are, and that the proposed items can be, allocated to four levels of the FSSD, namely system, success, strategic guidelines and actions. This indicates that the transformation towards sustainability from the perspective of our respondents should be addressed at the normative, strategic and operational levels. The most urgent seems to be a normative change in which sustainability is prioritised throughout all organisational strategies and actions. While the present study extends the current knowledge on strategic sustainable management in international sport organisations, the study of actual implementation and performance of these actions in the near future is warranted to explore how international sport organisations contribute to achieving the SDGs.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/su14169874/s1, Table S1: Statements rated in the second round above the consensus level of 80%; Table S2: Statements rated in the second round below the consensus level of 80%.

Author Contributions: Conceptualisation, I.G. and J.K.; Methodology, I.G., J.K. and L.M.; Formal Analysis, I.G.; Investigation, I.G.; Writing—Original Draft Preparation, I.G.; Writing—Review and Editing, J.K. and L.M.; Supervision, J.K. and L.M.; Project Administration, I.G. and J.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Internal approval was given by means of presentation to the Faculty Board of the Department of Sport and Health Sciences of the Technical University of Munich. The Faculty Board offers the possibility to principal investigators to have internal approval of empirical studies with healthy persons, in which adherence to the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments, as well as social-science-based good practices, were guaranteed by the author team.

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all participants involved in the study.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank the scholars attending the 2021 EASM Festival of Sport Management Research and Practice and 2022 NASSM Conference for their valuable feedback.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Morgan, H.; Bush, A.; McGee, D. The Contribution of Sport to the Sustainable Development Goals: Insights from Commonwealth Games Associations. J. Sport Dev. 2021, 9, 14–21.
- Moon, P.; Bayle, E.; François, A. Assessing international sport federations' sustainability practices: Toward integrating sustainability in their main sports events. *Front. Sports Act. Living* 2022, *3*, 752085. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Santini, D.; Henderson, H. The winners and losers in the race to environmental sustainability: A ranking of Summer Olympic International Federation progress [version 1; peer review: 1 approved with reservations]. *Emerald Open Res.* 2021, *3*, 12. [CrossRef]
- Vrondou, O.; Dimitropoulos, P.; Gaitanakis, L. International sports bodies application of ecological sustainability mechanisms affecting sport tourism related natural environment. In *Smart Tourism as a Driver for Culture and Sustainability, Springer Proceedings in Business and Economics*; Katsoni, V., Segarra-Oña, M., Eds.; Springer Nature: Cham, Switzerland, 2019; ISBN 978-3-030-03909-7.
- 5. Loo, R. The Delphi method: A powerful tool for strategic management. *Policing* **2022**, *25*, 762–769. [CrossRef]
- 6. Broman, G.I.; Robèrt, K.H. A framework for strategic sustainable development. J. Clean. Prod. 2017, 140, 17–31. [CrossRef]
- Diesendorf, M. Sustainability and sustainable development. In *Sustainability: The Corporate Challenge of the 21st Century;* Dunphy, D., Benveniste, J., Griffiths, A., Sutton, P., Eds.; Allen & Unwin: Crows Nest, Australia, 2000; pp. 19–37. ISBN 9781865082288.
- Kates, R.W.; Parris, T.M.; Leiserowitz, A.A. What is sustainable development? Goals, indicators, values, and practice. *Environ. Sci. Policy Sustain. Dev.* 2005, 47, 8–21. [CrossRef]
- 9. Sachs, J.D. The Age of Sustainable Development; Columbia University Press: New York, NY, USA, 2015.
- 10. Steffen, W.; Broadgate, W.; Deutsch, L.; Gaffney, O.; Ludwig, C. The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The great acceleration. *Anthr. Rev.* **2015**, *2*, 81–98. [CrossRef]

- 11. World Commission on Environment and Development. Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future. 1987. Available online: http://www.ask-force.org/web/Sustainability/Brundtland-Our-Common-Future-1987-2008.pdf (accessed on 13 January 2022).
- 12. Washington, H. Is 'sustainability' the same as 'sustainable development'? In *Sustainability: Key Issues*; Kopnina, H., Shoreman-Ouimet, E., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK, 2015; ISBN 978-0-415-52985-3.
- Mebratu, D. Sustainability and sustainable development: Historical and conceptual review. *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev.* 1998, 18, 493–520. [CrossRef]
- 14. Baumgartner, R.J.; Rauter, R. Strategic perspectives of corporate sustainability management to develop a sustainable organisation. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2017**, 140, 81–92. [CrossRef]
- United Nations. Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. A/RES/70/1. 2015. Available online: https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/publications/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20Development% 20web.pdf (accessed on 25 July 2022).
- 16. Pedersen, C.S. The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are a Great Gift to Business! *Procedia CIRP* 2018, 69, 21–24. [CrossRef]
- Masdeu Yelamos, G.; Carty, C.; Clardy, A. Sport: A driver of sustainable development, promoter of human rights, and vehicle for health and wellbeing for all. *Sport Bus. Manag.* 2019, *9*, 315–327. [CrossRef]
- United Nations. The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2021. 2021. Available online: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/ 2021/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2021.pdf (accessed on 25 July 2022).
- 19. Appelbaum, S.H.; Calcagno, R.; Magarelli, S.M.; Saliba, M. A relationship between corporate sustainability and organisational change (part two). *Ind. Commer. Train.* **2016**, *48*, 89–96. [CrossRef]
- Kemp, R.; Parto, S.; Gibson, R.B. Governance for sustainable development: Moving from theory to practice. *Int. J. Sustain. Dev.* 2005, *8*, 12–30. [CrossRef]
- 21. Breitbarth, T.; Walzel, S.; Anagnostopoulos, C.; van Eekeren, F. Corporate social responsibility and governance in sport: "Oh, the things you can find, if you don't stay behind!". *Corp. Gov.* **2015**, *15*, 254–273. [CrossRef]
- 22. Carlini, J.; Pavlidis, A.; Thomson, A.; Morrison, C. Delivering on social good-corporate social responsibility and professional sport: A systematic quantitative literature review. *J. Strateg. Mark.* **2021**, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 23. Walzel, S.; Robertson, J.; Anagnostopoulos, C. Corporate social responsibility in professional team sports organisations: An integrative review. *J. Sport Manag.* 2018, 32, 511–530. [CrossRef]
- 24. Montiel, I. Corporate social responsibility and corporate sustainability: Separate pasts, common futures. *Organ. Environ.* 2008, 21, 245–269. [CrossRef]
- 25. Kleine, A.; Von Hauff, M. Sustainability-driven implementation of corporate social responsibility: Application of the integrative sustainability triangle. *J. Bus. Ethics* **2009**, *85*, 517–533. [CrossRef]
- Bansal, P.; Song, H.C. Similar but not the same: Differentiating corporate sustainability from corporate responsibility. *Acad. Manag. Ann.* 2017, 11, 105–149. [CrossRef]
- 27. Dai, J.; Menhas, R. Sustainable development goals, sports and physical activity: The localisation of health-related sustainable development goals through sports in China: A narrative review. *Risk Manag. Healthc. Policy* **2020**, *13*, 1419. [CrossRef]
- 28. The Commonwealth Secretariat. *Enhancing the Contribution of Sport to the Sustainable Development Goals;* The Commonwealth Secretariat: London, UK, 2017; ISBN 978-1-84859-959-8.
- 29. GSBS. Global Sustainability Benchmark in Sports 2021. 2021. Available online: www.thegsbs.org (accessed on 25 May 2022).
- 30. Robèrt, K.H. Tools and concepts for sustainable development, how do they relate to a general framework for sustainable development, and to each other? *J. Clean. Prod.* **2000**, *8*, 243–254. [CrossRef]
- 31. Baumgartner, R.J. Managing corporate sustainability and CSR: A conceptual framework combining values, strategies and instruments contributing to sustainable development. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* **2014**, *21*, 258–271. [CrossRef]
- Baumgartner, R.J.; Ebner, D. Corporate sustainability strategies: Sustainability profiles and maturity levels. Sustain. Dev. 2010, 18, 76–89. [CrossRef]
- 33. Gammelsæter, H.; Loland, S. Code Red for Elite Sport. A critique of sustainability in elite sport and a tentative reform programme. *Eur. Sport Manag. Q.* 2022, 1–21. [CrossRef]
- 34. Lindsey, I.; Darby, P. Sport and the Sustainable Development Goals: Where is the policy coherence? *Int. Rev. Sport Sociol.* 2019, 54, 793–812. [CrossRef]
- 35. Campillo-Sánchez, J.; Segarra-Vicens, E.; Morales-Baños, V.; Díaz-Suárez, A. Sport and Sustainable Development Goals in Spain. *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 3505. [CrossRef]
- Moustakas, L.; Işık, A.A. Sport and sustainable development in Botswana: Towards policy coherence. *Discov. Sustain.* 2020, 1, 5. [CrossRef]
- 37. Boykoff, J.; Mascarenhas, G. The Olympics, sustainability, and greenwashing: The Rio 2016 summer games. *Capital. Nat. Soc.* **2016**, 27, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- Gaffney, C. Between discourse and reality: The un-sustainability of mega-event planning. Sustainability 2013, 5, 3926–3940. [CrossRef]
- Geeraert, A.; Gauthier, R. Out-of-control Olympics: Why the IOC is unable to ensure an environmentally sustainable Olympic Games. J. Environ. Policy Plan. 2018, 20, 16–30. [CrossRef]

- Meza Talavera, A.; Al-Ghamdi, S.G.; Koç, M. Sustainability in mega-events: Beyond Qatar 2022. Sustainability 2019, 11, 6407. [CrossRef]
- Müller, M.; Wolfe, S.D.; Gaffney, C.; Gogishvili, D.; Hug, M.; Leick, A. An evaluation of the sustainability of the Olympic Games. *Nat. Sustain.* 2021, 4, 340–348. [CrossRef]
- 42. Taks, M. Social sustainability of non-mega sport events in a global world. Eur. J. Sport Soc. 2013, 10, 121–141. [CrossRef]
- Linstone, H.A.; Turoff, M. Introduction. In *The Delphi Method-Techniques and Applications*; Turoff, M., Linstone, H.A., Eds.; Addison-Wesley Educational Publishers: Boston, MA, USA, 1975. Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 237035943_The_Delphi_Method_Techniques_and_Applications (accessed on 21 January 2022).
- Okoli, C.; Pawlowski, S.D. The Delphi method as a research tool: An example, design considerations and applications. *Inf. Manag.* 2004, 42, 15–29. [CrossRef]
- 45. Miller, L.E. Determining what could/should be: The Delphi technique and its application. In Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Mid-Western Educational Research Association, Columbus, OH, USA, 11–14 October 2006.
- 46. Turoff, M. The design of a policy Delphi. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 1970, 2, 149–171. [CrossRef]
- Rowe, G.; Wright, G. Expert Opinions in Forecasting: The Role of the Delphi Technique. In *Principles of Forecasting. International* Series in Operations Research & Management Science; Armstrong, J.S., Ed.; Kluwer Academic Publishers: Boston, MA, USA, 2001; ISBN 0-7923-7930-6.
- 48. Day, J.; Bobeva, M. A generic toolkit for the successful management of Delphi studies. *Electron. J. Bus. Res. Methods* **2005**, *3*, 103–116.
- 49. Glibo, I.; Koenigstorfer, J. Understanding the Nexus of Sustainable Development and Sport: The Systems Thinking Perspective. Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany. 2022, *manuscript in preparation*.
- 50. McKenna, H.P. The Delphi technique: A worthwhile research approach for nursing? J. Adv. Nurs. 1994, 19, 1221–1225. [CrossRef]
- Bogner, A.; Menz, W. The theory-generating expert interview: Epistemological interest, forms of knowledge, interaction. In Interviewing Experts; Bogner, A., Littig, B., Menz, W., Eds.; Palgrave Macmillan: London, UK, 2009; pp. 43–80, ISBN 978-0-230-22019-5.
- Geeraert, A.; Alm, J.; Groll, M. Good governance in international sport organisations: An analysis of the 35 Olympic sport governing bodies. *Int. J. Sport Policy Politics* 2014, 6, 281–306. [CrossRef]
- 53. Hsu, C.C.; Sandford, B.A. Minimising non-response in the Delphi process: How to respond to non-response. *Pract. Assess. Res. Eval.* **2007**, *12*, 17. [CrossRef]
- 54. Mullen, P.M. Delphi: Myths and reality. J. Health Organ. Manag. 2003, 17, 37–52. [CrossRef]
- Diamond, I.R.; Grant, R.C.; Feldman, B.M.; Pencharz, P.B.; Ling, S.C.; Moore, A.M.; Wales, P.W. Defining consensus: A systematic review recommends methodologic criteria for reporting of Delphi studies. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 2014, 67, 401–409. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Von der Gracht, H.A. Consensus measurement in Delphi studies: Review and implications for future quality assurance. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* 2012, 79, 1525–1536. [CrossRef]
- 57. Judd, R.C. Use of Delphi methods in higher education. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang. 1972, 4, 173–186. [CrossRef]
- Creswell, J. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches, 2nd ed.; Sage Publications Ltd.: Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 2007; ISBN 13 978-1412916073.
- 59. Van Zanten, J.A.; van Tulder, R. Improving companies' impacts on sustainable development: A nexus approach to the SDGs. *Bus. Strategy Environ.* **2021**, *30*, 3703–3720. [CrossRef]
- 60. Williams, A.; Kennedy, S.; Philipp, F.; Whiteman, G. Systems thinking: A review of sustainability management research. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2017, 148, 866–881. [CrossRef]
- 61. Sartore-Baldwin, M.L.; McCullough, B.P. Equity-based sustainability and ecocentric management: Creating more ecologically just sport organisation practices. *Sport Manag. Rev.* 2018, 21, 391–402. [CrossRef]
- 62. Rosenberg, D. Ethical foundations for sustainability in sport. In *Routledge Handbook of Sport and the Environment;* McCullough, B.P., Kellison, T.B., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK, 2017; ISBN 9781138666153.
- 63. Mensah, J. Sustainable development: Meaning, history, principles, pillars, and implications for human action: Literature review. *Cogent Soc. Sci.* **2019**, *5*, 1653531. [CrossRef]
- 64. Miller, T. Greenwashing Sport; Routledge: London, UK, 2018; ISBN 978-1-138-96274-3.
- 65. Swatuk, L. Add sport and stir? The SDGs and sport-environment-development. In *Sport, Development and Environmental Sustainability*; Millington, R., Darnell, S.C., Eds.; Routledge: London, UK, 2019; pp. 19–34, ISBN 9780367777487.
- Cooper, S.C.L.; Stokes, P.; Liu, Y.; Tarba, S.Y. Sustainability and organisational behavior: A micro-foundational perspective. J. Organ. Behav. 2017, 38, 1297–1301. [CrossRef]
- 67. Waas, T.; Hugé, J.; Block, T.; Wright, T.; Benitez-Capistros, F.; Verbruggen, A. Sustainability assessment and indicators: Tools in a decision-making strategy for sustainable development. *Sustainability* **2014**, *6*, 5512–5534. [CrossRef]
- 68. Samuel, S.; Stubbs, W. Green Olympics, green legacies? An exploration of the environmental legacies of the Olympic Games. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* **2013**, *48*, 485–504. [CrossRef]
- 69. Müller, M. (Im-)Mobile policies: Why sustainability went wrong in the 2014 Olympics in Sochi. *Eur. Urban Reg. Stud.* 2015, 22, 191–209. [CrossRef]
- 70. Preuss, H. A framework for identifying the legacies of a mega sport event. Leis. Stud. 2015, 34, 643–664. [CrossRef]

- 71. Mallen, C.; Adams, L.; Stevens, J.; Thompson, L. Environmental sustainability in sport facility management: A Delphi study. *Eur. Sport Manag. Q.* **2010**, *10*, 367–389. [CrossRef]
- 72. Azzali, S. Challenges and key factors in planning legacies of mega sporting events: Lessons learned from London, Sochi, and Rio de Janeiro. *Archnet-IJAR* 2019, 14, 203–218. [CrossRef]
- Koenigstorfer, J.; Bocarro, J.N.; Byers, T.; Edwards, M.B.; Jones, G.J.; Preuss, H. Mapping research on legacy of mega sporting events: Structural changes, consequences, and stakeholder evaluations in empirical studies. *Leis. Stud.* 2019, *38*, 729–745. [CrossRef]
- 74. Schnitzer, M.; Haizinger, L. Does the Olympic Agenda 2020 have the power to create a new Olympic heritage? An analysis for the 2026 Winter Olympic Games bid. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 442. [CrossRef]
- European Commission. Towards More Gender Equality in Sport. Recommendations and Action Plan from the High Level Group on Gender Equality in Sport. 2022. Available online: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/684ab3af-9f57-11ec-83e1-01aa75ed71a1 (accessed on 10 March 2022).
- Evans, A.B.; Pfister, G.U. Women in sports leadership: A systematic narrative review. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* 2021, 56, 317–342.
 [CrossRef]
- 77. Rhind, D.J.; Owusu-Sekyere, F. Evaluating the impacts of working towards the International Safeguards for Children in Sport. *Sport Manag. Rev.* **2000**, *23*, 104–116. [CrossRef]
- 78. Smith, A.C.T.; Stewart, B. The special features of sport: A critical revisit. Sport Manag. Rev. 2010, 13, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- Sachs, J.D.; Schmidt-Traub, G.; Mazzucato, M.; Messner, D.; Nakicenovic, N.; Rockström, J. Six transformations to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. *Nat. Sustain.* 2019, 2, 805–814. [CrossRef]
- 80. Ishigami, H. Estimating the impact of the 2011 FIFA Women's World Cup on Japanese adolescent girls: A causal analysis of sports role models. *Int. J. Sport Policy Politics* 2019, *11*, 503–519. [CrossRef]
- 81. Misener, L.; Taks, M.; Chalip, L.; Green, B.C. The elusive "trickle-down effect" of sport events: Assumptions and missed opportunities. *Manag. Sport Leis.* 2015, 20, 135–156. [CrossRef]
- 82. Nordhagen, S.E. Leveraging sporting events to create sport participation: A case study of the 2016 Youth Olympic Games. *Int. J. Sport Policy Politics* **2021**, *13*, 409–424. [CrossRef]
- Casper, J.M.; McCullough, B.P.; Pfahl, M.E. Examining environmental fan engagement initiatives through values and norms with intercollegiate sport fans. *Sport Manag. Rev.* 2020, 23, 348–360. [CrossRef]
- 84. Trail, G.T.; McCullough, B.P. A longitudinal study of sustainability attitudes, intentions, and behaviors. *Sustain. Sci.* 2021, *16*, 1503–1518. [CrossRef]
- 85. Hayes, G.; Horne, J. Sustainable development, shock and awe? London 2012 and civil society. *Sociology* **2011**, 45, 749–764. [CrossRef]
- Mason, D.S.; Thibault, L.; Misener, L. An agency theory perspective on corruption in sport: The case of the International Olympic Committee. J. Sport Manag. 2006, 20, 52–73. [CrossRef]
- 87. Thibault, L. Globalisation of sport: An inconvenient truth. J. Sport Manag. 2009, 23, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- 88. Millington, R.; Giles, A.R.; van Luijk, N.; Hayhurst, L.M.C. Sport for sustainability? The extractives industry, sport, and sustainable development. *J. Sport Soc. Issues* **2021**, *46*, 293–317. [CrossRef]
- 89. Grainger-Brown, J.; Malekpour, S. Implementing the sustainable development goals: A review of strategic tools and frameworks available to organisations. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 1381. [CrossRef]
- Pérez-López, D.; Moreno-Romero, A.; Barkemeyer, R. Exploring the relationship between sustainability reporting and sustainability management practices. *Bus. Strategy Environ.* 2015, 24, 720–734. [CrossRef]
- 91. Searcy, C. Corporate sustainability performance measurement systems: A review and research agenda. *J. Bus. Ethics* **2012**, 107, 239–253. [CrossRef]
- 92. Giulianotti, R. The sport, development and peace sector: A model of four social policy domains. J. Soc. Policy 2011, 40, 757–776. [CrossRef]
- 93. Walker, A.M.; Selfe, J. The Delphi method: A useful tool for the allied health researcher. *Br. J. Ther. Rehabil.* **1996**, *3*, 677–681. [CrossRef]